
1



2



3



4



5



6



7



8



9



10



11



12



13



14



15



16



17



18



19



20



21



22



23



24



25



26



27



28



29



30



31



32



33



34



35



36



37



38



39



40



41



42



43



44



45



46



47



48



49



50



51



52



53



54



Table of Contents
EXECUTIVE SUMMARY ............................................................................................................................................1

Overview ................................................................................................................................................ 1
Key Components of the Plan ................................................................................................................. 2

ECONOMIC DEVELOPMENT STRATEGIC PLAN...........................................................................................................3
Introduction ........................................................................................................................................... 3
Process ................................................................................................................................................... 4
Vision ..................................................................................................................................................... 4
Focus Areas ............................................................................................................................................ 5
Key Learnings From Our Community ..................................................................................................... 8
Target Industries.................................................................................................................................... 9
Best Practices to Mitigate Displacement............................................................................................... 9
Implementation Plan ...........................................................................................................................13

APPENDIX............................................................................................................................................................. 15
Environmental Assessment ................................................................................................................. 15

Environmental Assessment Overview ............................................................................................................... 15
Part 1: Synthesis of Existing Plans ..................................................................................................................... 16
Part 2: Economic Development Best Practices .................................................................................................. 21
Part 3: Best Practices to Mitigate Displacement ............................................................................................... 38
Part 4: Growth and Development Data for the Eastern Triangle ...................................................................... 48

Commercial and Industrial Assessment............................................................................................... 61
Introduction ...................................................................................................................................................... 61
Town of Zebulon’s Commercial and Industrial Landscape ................................................................................ 62
Wake County Commercial and Industrial Real Estate Trends ........................................................................... 67
Targeted Industries ........................................................................................................................................... 76
Best and Highest Use of Inventory .................................................................................................................... 76
Redevelopment Project Examples in Wake County ........................................................................................... 78
Conclusion and Implications for Zebulon .......................................................................................................... 90

Vision Development............................................................................................................................. 91
Public Engagement Overview..............................................................................................................92

Community Cafés Summary .............................................................................................................................. 95
Community Survey Summary ..........................................................................................................................157
Staff Design Thinking Retreat Summary .........................................................................................................177
Community Workgroup Meeting Summaries ................................................................................................. 185

 

55



Town of Zebulon | Economic Development Strategic Plan | April 2024        1 

Executive Summary 
Overview
The Town of Zebulon’s (“the Town” or “Zebulon”) has completed its first comprehensive economic 
development strategy, set forth in this plan. The contents of this plan represent the culmination of 
nearly a year’s worth of extensive research and stakeholder involvement. The purpose of the 
Economic Development Strategic Plan is to articulate a clear vision for Zebulon’s economy that 
includes overarching economic goals, objectives, actions, and measurables to assess progress and 
determine success. 
 
In recent years, Zebulon has experienced significant population growth; this trend is only expected 
to continue. With this growth comes the opportunity for strategic investment in our community’s 
assets: our Downtown, our existing businesses, and the recruitment and attraction of new 
businesses. This strategy comes directly from what we heard from our community and has been 
tailored to address the Town’s unique strengths and challenges. It includes actionable 
recommendations for fostering a more resilient and inclusive economy that mitigates risks of 
displacement of the historically underserved and vulnerable communities of Zebulon.  
 
Throughout the process, Town leaders remained committed to the idea that the strategy be 
developed in partnership with community members. A robust community engagement process—
including community cafés, surveys, and workshops—contributed significantly to this final 
document. The plan pays special attention to how our success and economic growth may impact 
vulnerable communities of Zebulon and offers best practices to mitigate negative consequences.  
 
Through a comprehensive understanding of community desires and targeted investments on 
specific industries, the Economic Development Strategic Plan will serve as a blueprint for how 
Zebulon can unlock economic opportunities that benefit our entire community.  
 

  

56



Town of Zebulon | Economic Development Strategic Plan | April 2024        2 

Key Components of the Plan
Our vision sets the foundation for the plan:  

Zebulon will foster an inclusive, vibrant, diverse, and sustainable economy. 
 Zebulon will be a regional player that prioritizes intentional and responsible growth  

while retaining the Town's unique charm and character. 
 
In pursuit of our vision, the Town of Zebulon has developed the following five focus areas as the 
core of its economic development strategy: 

Zebulon has identified these five focus areas to guide its economic development work over the next 
five years. Town staff will work to develop an implementation plan which includes specific actions 
and measures. More information about each of these focus areas is available in the next section of 
the document. 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

57



Town of Zebulon | Economic Development Strategic Plan | April 2024        3 

Economic development 
strategic plan 

Introduction
The Town of Zebulon is a vibrant, growing community in eastern Wake County, North Carolina. The 
Town boasts well over a century of rich, diverse history and is known as “The Town of Friendly 
People.” Chartered in 1907, Zebulon was born from the advancement of the railroad. Investors in 
the Raleigh and Pamlico Sound Railroad wanted to establish a path through the eastern portion of 
North Carolina starting in Raleigh and connecting to Wilson, and the Town of Zebulon was born.  

Now, in 2024, Zebulon has completed its first comprehensive economic development strategy, set 
forth in this plan. The contents of this plan represent the culmination of nearly a year’s worth of 
extensive research and stakeholder involvement. The purpose of the Economic Development 
Strategic Plan is to articulate a clear vision for Zebulon’s economy that includes overarching 
economic goals, objectives, actions, and measurables to assess progress and determine success. 
 
In recent years, Zebulon has experienced significant population growth; this trend is only expected 
to continue. With residential growth comes the opportunity for strategic investment in our 
community’s assets: our Downtown, our businesses, and the recruitment and attraction of new 
businesses. The strategy comes directly from what he heard from our community and has been 
tailored to address the Town’s unique strengths and challenges. It includes actionable 
recommendations for fostering a more resilient and inclusive economy that mitigates risks of 
displacement of the historically underserved and vulnerable communities of Zebulon.  
 
Throughout the process, Town leaders remained committed that the strategy be developed in 
partnership with community members. A robust community engagement process—including 
resident cafes, surveys, and workshops—contributed significantly to this final document and guided 
the creation of the plan’s vision, focus areas, and priorities. The plan is mindful of how our success 
and economic growth may impact vulnerable communities of Zebulon and offers best practices to 
mitigate negative consequences.  

Through a comprehensive understanding of community desires and targeted investments in specific 
industries, the Economic Development Strategic Plan will serve as a blueprint for how Zebulon can 
unlock economic opportunities that benefit our entire community.  

 
58



Town of Zebulon | Economic Development Strategic Plan | April 2024        4 

Process 
The Town worked closely with a team of consultants specifically selected for their economic 
development, public engagement, and strategic planning expertise. In collaboration with the Town, this 
team conducted a robust environmental assessment that included a thorough review and synthesis of 
existing plans, research on economic development best practices (with specific focus on strategies to 
mitigate the risks of displacement and gentrification), and a review of data on current and projected 
growth and development in Wake County and the Eastern part of the Research Triangle Region. The 
environmental assessment established the economic baseline and market context that serve as the 
foundation of this plan.  

Community input was a critical component of the plan development process. An online survey was 
conducted, available in both English and Spanish, and received 151 responses. The Town also held three 
in-person community café events at locations around Zebulon to provide more forums for community 
members to express their opinions, concerns, and preferences on issues related to economic 
development.  
 
Following the community cafés, Town staff held a retreat to review the stakeholder engagement findings. 
They employed human-centered design concepts to inform their analysis of the findings. The Town then 
convened a community workgroup, comprised of five community leaders, that met virtually to further 
shape the community input. The community workgroup also developed the vision for the ideal Zebulon 
economy and established the focus areas for this strategic plan. A staff retreat was then held to refine 
and finalize the plan. Once the plan is adopted, Town staff will continue developing the implementation 
plan. 
 

Vision
The vision statement articulates our long-term view of the ideal future of Zebulon’s economy. For 
more information on different components of the vision, see the Appendix. 

Zebulon will foster an inclusive, vibrant, diverse, and sustainable economy. 
 Zebulon will be a regional player that prioritizes intentional and responsible growth  

while retaining the Town's unique charm and character. 
 

  

59



Town of Zebulon | Economic Development Strategic Plan | April 2024       5

Focus Areas
The five focus areas below will guide the Town’s economic development work over the next five 
years. Town staff will work to develop an implementation plan which includes specific actions and 
measures. These focus areas were developed by the workgroup of community leaders, informed by 
research, and driven by the community’s feedback and direction. The Workgroup members 
identified top priorities to move each focus area forward. This plan also includes additional priorities 
that, while not as critical as the top priorities, are nonetheless important objectives. The top 
priorities provide direction to the Town’s economic development staff and offer guidance for where 
the Town should invest the most time, energy, and resources. 

Leverage Regional Assets 
Zebulon is committed to leveraging regional assets that exist in Zebulon’s economy, fostering 
regional collaboration, and assessing what is available in the area. The priorities in the Leverage 
Regional Assets focus area aim to harness the Town’s strong, diverse workforce and large consumer 
base to ensure a thriving business ecosystem and help drive innovation. The Leverage Regional 
Assets focus area also acknowledges that ensuring smart and sustainable growth means the Town 
cannot be all things to all people, especially when some amenities already exist in neighboring 
communities.

Top Priorities
Maintain and strengthen partnerships with Wake Technical Community College (Wake Tech) 
and its future Eastern Wake 4.0 Campus for business recruitment, existing industry, and 
strategies around upskilling the existing labor force in Zebulon.
Collaborate with Wake County and neighboring communities to attract amenities, ensure 
regional access, and participate in regional economic and workforce development initiatives.

Additional Priority 
Utilize State economic development support, such as those items detailed in First in Talent, 
North Carolina’s 2021 Strategic Economic Development Plan. 

Inclusive economy 
The Town will cultivate an inclusive economy that provides access to high-quality jobs and amenities 

investment in historically underserved communities. The Inclusive Economy focus area will 

diverse community while also providing an attractive amenities package with plentiful housing 
options for the Town’s wide spectrum of residents.

60



Town of Zebulon | Economic Development Strategic Plan | April 2024       6

Top Priorities

that longtime residents are not displaced, priced out, or pushed away from Zebulon. Ensure 
changes that occur as a result of it.

Ensure a balanced mix of residential development across all price points and housing types 
and ensure 

Zebulon remains an attractive (but not cheap) place to live.

Additional Priorities
Support workforce development in and around Zebulon by ensuring access to well-paying 
jobs with expanded career opportunities in and around Zebulon.
Provide access to high-quality amenities such as shopping and entertainment options.
Recognize that Zebulon cannot be all things to all people and that some community assets 
may not need to be located within the Town itself.

Key economic growth areas
Zebulon r s the economic importance of Downtown Zebulon and the Five County
development area. Both of these areas are ripe for
additional economic investment.

Top Priorities
Five County development area to be a catalyst for 

the areas in near proximity by leveraging its location as a central convergence point that 
serves Eastern North Carolina and connects directly to the Triangle region.
Enhance walkability, connectivity, and infrastructure, particularly in Downtown Zebulon, 
to increase accessibility and maintain Zebulon’s unique character.

food manufacturing, and advanced manufacturing).  

Additional Priority
Encourage a robust of types of businesses and preserve and enhance the quality of life 
and reasons to be in Zebulon’s downtown as outlined in Zebulon’s Vision 2030 Strategic 
Plan. 
Address and grow the Town’s industrial areas by targeting additional industries that 
require a larger footprint and a more focused marketing strategy such as smart grid and 
clean technology.
Improve the marketing and recruitment strategy for new industries to locate in the 
Industrial Drive area. 

61



Town of Zebulon | Economic Development Strategic Plan | April 2024       7

Support for businesses 
Zebulon is committed to supporting businesses of all types and sizes—new and existing businesses, 
large industries and small businesses—through fostering entrepreneurship, streamlining processes, 

Top Priorities
Partner with Wake Tech and establish a Zebulon Launch Program to support local 
entrepreneurs. Launch programs provide business training, micro-loans, mentorship, 
and networking opportunities to help early-stage entrepreneurs develop and grow their 
businesses. 
Expand and diversify the Town’s tax base beyond the primary tax contributors.

-friendly 
environment.

Additional Priorities
Support entrepreneurial initiatives through partnerships with community stakeholders 
such as the Innovation and Entrepreneurship Program at North Carolina State 
University. 
Adopt a regional approach to business recruitment and retention by tapping into the 
strengths of existing organizations.
Bring community leaders together to develop a purposeful and intentional strategy for 
locating businesses.

Economic readiness 
The Town’s infrastructure will be well-suited to accommodate the anticipated growth that is 
expected to occur in and around Zebulon. This growth will be smart, focused on prudent land use, 
and will avoid overdevelopment. Economic readiness is critical to ensure that Zebulon’s economic 
efforts are sustainable for long-term growth and allow the Town to remain adaptable to emerging 
trends and changes in the region’s economy.

Top Priorities

Zebulon Comprehensive Transportation Plan.
Maintain, upgrade, and extend all utilities and infrastructure (including water, sewer, and 
Internet) to ensure sites are ready to receive new businesses while continuing to support 
existing businesses and residences.

Additional Priorities
Advocate for transportation improvements such as highway bypasses, rapid bus transit,
and mass transit options like passenger rail service.
Develop the Town’s land in a prudent manner that acknowledges land as a limited 

Avoid overdevelopment and the temptation for Zebulon to be all things to all people. 

62



Town of Zebulon | Economic Development Strategic Plan | April 2024        8 

Key Learnings From Our Community
Planning that does not involve community members in the early stages often fails to gain support 
from residents when implementation begins. By incorporating community desires into Zebulon’s 
economic development strategy, community members are more inclined to support initiatives. 
Below is a summary of what we have learned through extensive community engagement efforts. For 
more detailed information, see Appendix. 

People choose to live in Zebulon because of housing affordability, family ties, quality of life, the local 
character/charm, and the ability to commute to jobs outside of Zebulon. Residents want more, and 
better amenities. Top requests were full-service restaurants, grocery stores, and 
entertainment/recreation options. Additionally, community members noted they want easier 
access to healthcare services. Many also wish for increased access to educational and training 
opportunities in Zebulon—including workforce development and entrepreneurship programs. 
 
During our community cafés, residents discussed the need for improved infrastructure which can 
support a thriving community. Examples include public transportation, connectivity via sidewalks 
and bike paths, and robust utility infrastructure including water, sewer, and Internet.  
 
Community members also emphasized the need for affordable housing. They emphasized that 
housing in Zebulon should not only be affordable but also accessible and of high quality. Residents 
expressed a desire for greater variety of housing types (55 and older, temporary, accessory dwelling 
units, etc.) and for policies to be established to prevent relocation due to gentrification. For more 
information on best practices to mitigate displacement, see the next section as well as the 
Environmental Assessment.  

Priorities for job creation include fostering growth in technology/information technology, the service 
industry, healthcare, and ensuring jobs offer higher pay and a living wage. These actions contribute 
to the overall economic prosperity and well-being of Zebulon's residents. Community members 
want a greater variety of jobs available to them and emphasized that jobs should have the 
opportunity for career advancement. 
 
When thinking about the role the Town can play in addressing the community needs, residents 
expressed that the Town should try to limit overdevelopment, encourage affordable housing, and 
seek to limit gentrification. Additionally, the Town can support businesses by having a government 
liaison to act as a “one-stop-shop” resource. Streamlined government processes (such as with permit 
approval), grants, loans, and tax incentives for start-ups, and offering easily accessible and well-
communicated resources can also serve to bolster businesses’ ability to thrive in Zebulon. 
 
 
 
 
 

63



Town of Zebulon | Economic Development Strategic Plan | April 2024        9 

Target Industries 
As part of the plan development, the Town conducted a comprehensive commercial and industrial 
assessment. This assessment included an analysis of the Town’s current industrial assets, a review 
of land use allocations, and identification of opportunities that can create sustainable opportunities 
for job creation and capital investment in Zebulon. 
 
Due to its strengths and existing assets, Zebulon should primarily focus on the Life Sciences, Food 
Manufacturing, and Advanced Manufacturing industries. Secondary target industries, which 
Wake County is focused on, include 
Economic Development is recruiting more headquarters to the county, so Zebulon may see the 
effects of these efforts in the future. Some municipalities within the county are creating clauses 
within th

/Clean Technology typically requires a 
larger footprint and would require a more focused marketing strategy. 
 
The Town should agree to a list of targeted industries and subsequently build out a marketing 
strategy that tells the story of why Zebulon is an ideal location for businesses. Additionally, if future 
buildings become available due to the departure of an employer, the Town should conduct strong 
marketing and recruitment efforts to fill that space with the targeted industries. 
 
Summary of target industry recommendations:

 Increase proactive marketing efforts focusing on Life Sciences, Food Manufacturing, and 
Advanced Manufacturing 

 
 

 If buildings become available due to the departure of an employer, conduct strong 
marketing and recruitment efforts to fill that space with the targeted industries 

 Agree to targeted industry list and subsequently build out a marketing strategy that tells the 
story of why Zebulon is an ideal location for businesses 
 

Best Practices to Mitigate Displacement
Research has identified the following best practices to mitigate the impacts of displacement and 
gentrification. For more information on these practices, see the Environmental Assessment. 

To limit general displacement:  
 Best Practice 1: Community Wealth Building 

 “Pursue economic 
development opportunities with our community partners.” 
 
Community wealth building (CWB) is an economic development practice that is focused on 
the residents of a community retaining power and control of assets. CWB heavily relies on 
regulatory support from public institutions and on capital from private “anchor” institutions. 
This public-private partnership funds locally owned cooperatives that are staffed by 

64



Town of Zebulon | Economic Development Strategic Plan | April 2024        10 

community members and invests in local real estate to specifically prevent displacement. 
Anchor institutions are key to this model because of their leverage in the private market. 
Wake County is home to several potential anchor institutions because it is home to 
prominent tech companies, universities, and healthcare systems. Examples include IBM and 

University, and the Research Triangle Institute (RTI). 
 

 Best Practice 2: Community Land Trusts 
 “Plan for appropriate 

land use to meet transportation and housing needs.” 
 
Community land trusts are another effective form of CWB. In their simplest form, 
community land trusts buy properties and keep them affordable.  Community land trusts 
are nonprofit, community-based organizations whose mission is to provide affordable 
housing in perpetuity by owning land and leasing it to those who live in houses built on that 
land.  Once the community land trust owns the property, they are able to determine how the 
land is used and ensures its alignment with community needs and goals. Often homes or 
other buildings can be built or placed on the owned land. These homes are then sold to 
individuals at below-market prices, making them more affordable. While many community 
land trusts focus on affordable housing, they can also serve other community goals. Land 
can be used for commercial spaces, community centers, urban agriculture, or preserving 
open spaces (among other uses). They prioritize community needs and goals over private 
profit, and they are a tool to fight against displacement caused by rising land prices and 
gentrification. 

 
 Best Practice 3: Preservation of Unsubsidized Affordable Housing  

“Plan for appropriate 
land use to meet transportation and housing needs.” 
 
The United States’ largest supply of affordable housing, or naturally occurring affordable 

often not well-maintained (intentionally or unintentionally) and are in areas susceptible to 

 are 
refurbished and restored, tenants are either evicted or offered “cash for keys” by the 
development company to replace them with more affluent tenants.  
 

preserve them through other means. For example, leveraging existing partnerships with 
the 

 The Town can 
also adopt a proactive approach to its building code and minimum housing standards to 
address homes that are not well-maintained. Retaining a clear picture of the current market 
ensures that the current supply of affordable homes are naturally maintained.  

 

65



Town of Zebulon | Economic Development Strategic Plan | April 2024        11 

Local governments can also partner with private developers to offer subsidies, and, in 
exchange, guarantee that they will keep prices affordable on properties. 
 

 Best Practice 4: Targeted Hiring Through Ordinance 
 “Pursue economic 

development opportunities with our community partners.”  
 
Targeted hiring is an economic development strategy that requires private businesses 
contracted by a government entity to hire a certain demographic within the local population.  
Local governments typically establish a minimum percentage that businesses must employ 
for publicly funded projects. By creating an ordinance, it gives control to the local 
municipality for the job inclusion of the projects. Moreover, it empowers the community and 
provides valuable jobs and training to those with unique needs. This practice ensures that 
jobs are held in the community, and that the local population has opportunities to build 
wealth.   

 

To minimize commercial gentrification:  
 Best Practice 1: Store Size Caps 

Store size caps limit the square footage and impose building height restrictions. They do not 
explicitly prohibit corporations from moving in, but size caps are effective at preventing big 
box stores from moving into areas where small businesses operate. Additionally, they can 
preserve the culture of a neighborhood by preventing an abnormal increase in scale 
compared to other businesses in the area. Conversely, large corporations can still adjust the 
size of their stores to compete with local small businesses. For example, large fast-casual 
chain restaurants, barber shops, and even big box stores can adjust the sizes of their stores 
to meet zoning requirements.   

 
 Best Practice 2: Entrepreneurship and Small Business Development  

The Entrepreneurship and Small Business Center is a free service made available through 
Wake Technical Community College and Wake County that is funded through local taxes. The 
LaunchWakeCounty wing of the Center provides entrepreneurs with networking, training, 
and assistance with acquiring capital in under-resourced communities in Wake County.  
 
Knightdale, Wendell, Morrisville, Apex, Cary, Fuquay-
and Rolesville have their own Launch program, but Zebulon does not have that as a resource 
for its residents (although it is identified as a top priority in this plan). Lastly, this practice 
supports Zebulon’s efforts, as outlined in the Comprehensive Land Use Plan, for 
“Coordinating with educational institutions such as Wake County Technical College, the Wake 
County Public School System and local private schools to develop entrepreneurial curricula 
and exposure to real world business situations and opportunities.”   

 

Additional Best Practice Notes: 
 Accessory Dwelling Units are a unique workaround to the housing supply. They allow 

tenants to build smaller dwellings on their property, and it is allowed by-right in Zebulon, as 
outlined in the Unified Development Ordinance. 

66



Town of Zebulon | Economic Development Strategic Plan | April 2024        12 

 Land Banking continues to spring up across the nation and is playing an increasingly 
important role in revitalization efforts in places such as Cuyahoga County, Ohio, and Fulton 

 Local governments in North Carolina can perform the basic functions of a 
land bank by cobbling together existing statutory authority. In this way, the local government 
itself serves as the land bank and performs the major activities of a land bank, which are 
acquiring and holding troubled properties, stabilizing properties and eliminating 
encumbrances, and conveying properties to a redeveloper.  

 Community Benefits Agreements (CBAs) can be a powerful tool for communities to promote 
equitable development practices that advance housing justice. CBAs are legally binding 
contracts between coalitions of community-based organizations and developers that shape 
how local development projects contribute to improving the quality of life of nearby 
residents. When implemented effectively, CBA processes shift power more evenly to ensure 
the residents most impacted by development projects have a say in the priorities for the 
new investments. 

 Equity in amenities planning can help mitigate commercial gentrification by identifying areas 
where residents and businesses may not have access to essential amenities, goods, and 
services. These amenities, goods, and services include childcare, parks, open space, trails, 
community facilities, fresh food, healthcare, pharmacies, financial services, and internet 
service. 

 Local economic incentives such as business investment grants can play an important role in 
supporting local businesses. In the City of Raleigh, for example, these grants are based on 
new job creation and new ad valorem taxable investments made by companies. 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

67



Town of Zebulon | Economic Development Strategic Plan | April 2024        13 

Implementation Plan
The Economic Development Specialist will hold ultimate responsibility for overseeing the 
implementation of the strategic plan, with coordination and support from the Town Manager. The 
strategic plan contains priorities within each focus area, and the Town will track progress on these 
priorities. Our work plan for implementing our strategy will be developed as follows: 

 

Annual Progress Report & Evaluation 
The Town Manager will share an annual report with the Board of Commissioners to monitor 
progress to ensure the desired outcomes and adjust as needed. The Economic Development 
Specialist will evaluate the results in each focus area annually and will identify new or shifting areas 
of focus as the Town’s circumstances change. Annual progress reports will be shared with the public.  

Measures of Success 
Indicators of success will be used to track progress and support shared accountability across the 
organization regarding progress on the various priorities. These indicators will reflect not only the 
success of the plan’s goals but also the community’s success as a whole. Below are suggested 
indicators: 

  
 Ratio of combined commercial and industrial taxable property to residential taxable 

property 
 Percent change in property values of identified properties 

68



Town of Zebulon | Economic Development Strategic Plan | April 2024       14

Property value per acre or square foot of identified properties 
Poverty rate

o Percent persons in poverty
o Median household income

Commercial vacancy rate percentage
Industrial vacancy rate percentage
Combined commercial and industrial vacancy rate percentage
Affordable housing

o Number of new affordable housing units constructed
o Number of housing units razed for construction
o Number of building permits issued 

Potential Priority Tracker
An example tool for evaluating the plan and its implementation is included below. Regular 
evaluation is encouraged and can form the basis for public progress updates.

an inclusive, vibrant, diverse, and sustainable economy. Zebulon will be a regional player that 
prioritizes intentional and responsible growth while retaining the Town's unique charm and

69



Town of Zebulon | Economic Development Strategic Plan | April 2024        15 

Appendix
Environmental Assessment
Environmental Assessment Overview
The Economic Development Strategic Plan was developed and finalized over the course of 
approximately eleven months (August 2023-July 2024). This Environmental Assessment was one of 
the first parts of this process and was completed in October of 2023. The Environmental Assessment 
served as a reference and guide throughout the creation of the Plan and encompasses the following 
objectives: 
 

 Understanding/incorporating the plans and visions that the Town currently has in place and 
how these relate to overall economic growth and development goals 

 Identifying strengths, gaps, and reoccurring themes for the Town to address as it relates to 
economic development 

 Identifying best practices that can be considered for incorporation within the completed 
economic development strategy 

 
The Environmental Assessment is divided into four sections: 
 

1.) A synthesis of existing plans previously approved by the Town, which encompasses 
crucial insights pertaining to economic growth and development, ensuring that the 
economic development strategy ultimately aligns with the Town’s vision and adopted 
policies

2.) Economic development best practices and strategies that are proven to support smart 
growth and economic prosperity 

3.) Best practices, strategies, and available resources to mitigate the risk of displacement of 
vulnerable and/or historically underserved residents that can occur with growth and 
development 

4.) Data on current and projected growth and development in Wake County and the Eastern 
part of the Research Triangle Region.1

 

 
1 For purposes of the Environmental Assessment, the “Research Triangle region” is referenced in accordance with 

 Research Triangle Regional Partnership (RTRP). Edgecombe County is also included 
because the City of Rocky Mount has territories in both Nash (RTRP County) & Edgecombe (not RTRP County).  

70



Town of Zebulon | Economic Development Strategic Plan | April 2024        16 

Part 1: Synthesis of Existing Plans 
This section includes a summary encompassing crucial information and insights pertaining to 
economic growth and development from the following Town plans and documents: Vision 2030 

Development Ordinance. 

Vision 2030 Strategic Plan
The Town of Zebulon has an overarching vision to maintain its small-town charm while continuing to 
grow. Specifically, Focus Area 1: Vibrant Downtown has several efforts already underway. The 
Downtown Zebulon Organization is a public-private partnership with the Town focused on spurring 
economic development opportunities for the Downtown area. Downtown has the potential for more 
retail and mixed-use development. Additionally, Focus Area 3: Growing Smart is tied directly to 
economic development strategies. 
 

Relevance to Economic Development Strategic Plan 
Focus Area 1: Vibrant Downtown has been a priority for Town staff for the past few years. The 
Zebulon Downtown Organization is charged with administering the Main Street Program and 
building public-private partnerships to spur economic development that achieves measurable 
results such as investment, business growth, and job creation. 
 
Focus Area 3: Growing Smart includes the following relevant priority goals: 
 
Plan for appropriate land use to meet transportation and housing needs 

The Comprehensive Land Use Plan and Unified Development Ordinance will inform the 
development of the Economic Development Strategic Plan.  

 
Pursue economic development opportunities with our community partners 

This priority is a focus of the Economic Development Strategic Plan. Potential partners may 
include Wake County, Zebulon Chamber of Commerce, the North Carolina Main Street 
Program, the Zebulon Downtown Organization, the Zebulon Mudcats, and NC State 
University – just to name a few. 

 

Grow Zebulon Comprehensive Transportation Plan 
Relevance to Economic Development Strategic Plan 
Implementation of the Comprehensive Transportation Plan (CTP) will help the Town support its 
projected growth. The plan identifies priority areas for safety improvements and general 
improvements around specific corridors and the Downtown area. Improved transportation 
infrastructure – including roads, transit options, pedestrian walkways, and parking – can attract 
more residents and visitors alike to visit Zebulon’s businesses and enjoy all that Zebulon has to 

71



Town of Zebulon | Economic Development Strategic Plan | April 2024        17 

offer. Favorable transportation infrastructure is also attractive to prospective employers and 
developers. Proximity to well-connected transportation nodes (such as transit stations or highways) 
increases property values and can attract businesses, retailers, and residents. Reliable and efficient 
transportation systems can enhance quality of life by reducing commute times and congestion. 

The CTP references CAMPO’s Title VI, Minority, Limited English Proficiency (LEP), and Low- Income 
Public Outreach Plan, noting areas with a high concentration of vulnerable residents. These tracts 
are mostly located in southern and western Zebulon. Specifically, research has identified block 
groups one and two within census tract 543.06 as vulnerable to gentrification and displacement 
because of the high rate of renters, low median household income, and diverse population. This 
area is also home to Zebulon’s only Section 8 housing development, Shannon Drive Apartments, 

potential “high interest” area in Zebulon’s Comprehensive Land Use Plan. The Economic 
Development Strategic Plan should pay special attention to impacts in southern and western 
Zebulon. 

Walkable, bikeable communities have both 
health and economic benefits. Continuing to 
focus on greenway development throughout 
the area can increase connectivity, increase the 
development of a unique sense of place, and 
attract new residents.  
 
The CTP makes five primary recommendations for implementation:  

1. Meet with potential developers and review the CTP map to determine the required right of-
way and cross-section requirements for a particular site early in the development process. 
o Partnering with developers is critical and may offer opportunities for developers to play a 

greater role in connecting the area.  
2. Require the construction of half of the roadway cross-section, including bicycle and 

pedestrian facilities, within the road frontage limits of the proposed development. 
o Including construction requirements in the UDO itself – potentially in the form of a UDO text 

amendment – may help the Town achieve its goal of shifting some of the transportation 
network improvement costs toward developers so that transportation infrastructure can grow 
in a sustainable manner. 

3. Require a traffic impact analysis (TIA) in accordance with the UDO to identify offsite 
improvement opportunities that may be caused by development. Attention should be given 
to the priority intersections identified on the CTP map. 
o The CTP identified several high-crash areas, such as 64 & 96, 96 & Wakelon, 96 & 97, and 96 & 

Green Pace Road. The Town should pay special attention to these intersections when 
improving transportation infrastructure, which can ensure greater mobility for residents and 
visitors alike. 

4. Leverage fee-in-lieu payments in accordance with the UDO, if necessary. 
o Sidewalks can increase walkability and desirability of a locale. Section 6.8 of the Grow 

Zebulon UDO requires sidewalk on both sides of a roadway within several zoning districts, 
such as residential and mixed-use, as well as along both sides of principal and minor arterial 
streets regardless of zoning. By leveraging fee-in-lieu payments, the Town may be able to build 

According to the National Association of 
Realtors 2023 survey, 79% of respondents 
rate walkability as “very” or “somewhat” 

important, and 78% say they’d pay more for 
a home in a walkable community. 

72



Town of Zebulon | Economic Development Strategic Plan | April 2024        18 

sidewalks to meet UDO requirements at a faster pace, therefore increasing connectivity within 
the Town. 

5. 
spots, to better position the Town for funding that may become available. 
o Pre-planning efforts can help move the Town further, and faster, along pipelines for funding, 

including the State Transportation Improvement Program (STIP). 
 

Play Zebulon Parks and Recreation Master Plan
Relevance to Economic Development Strategic Plan
The Play Zebulon Plan acknowledges the importance of providing excellent parks and recreation 
facilities for a diverse and growing population. This recognition is vital for attracting and retaining 
residents, including young families and professionals, who contribute to the town's economic 
vitality.  

Partnering with developers to incorporate parks, open spaces, and recreation facilities into new 
neighborhoods aligns with smart growth principles. These partnerships can make new 
developments more attractive to potential residents and contribute to the overall economic 
development of the town. Additionally, parks can also help to generate revenue for the Town and 
provide partnership opportunities for local businesses.  

The Town has adopted the use of impact fees for developers, which can provide funding for parks 
and recreational infrastructure. This measure reduces the financial burden on the town's budget 
and ensures that new developments contribute to the overall quality of life and attractiveness of 
Zebulon. 
 
One of Parks and Recreation’s most notable programs is hosting special events, often in partnership 
with local businesses. The Play Zebulon Plan emphasizes creating opportunities for residents and 
visitors of all ages. Zebulon is growing, with a large influx of younger citizens along with an 
increasing percentage of households with people over 60, indicating a large number of residents 
aging within the Town. When developing the Economic Development Strategic Plan, the Town 
should consider partnership opportunities between parks and local businesses that can 
appeal to different age groups.  
 
By following the Plan’s year-by-year recommendations to improve existing parks and facilities, 
Downtown Zebulon will be enhanced with a park and amphitheater, both of which can draw 
residents and visitors alike to the area and nearby local businesses. The Plan also includes a 
roadmap for park development around the Five County Stadium, a current major economic center 
for the Town. 
 
A ½ cent tax for walkability improvements is currently available and provides approximately $40,000 
- $60,000 of funding annually. These funds can be used by the Town for items such as signage – 
which can create a unique sense of place – and access improvements. 
 

73



Town of Zebulon | Economic Development Strategic Plan | April 2024        19 

The Economic Development Strategic Plan may consider some of the grant programs outlined in the 
Play Zebulon Plan, which can fund park improvements and lessen the financial burden on the Town 
for such improvements. 

Play Zebulon also outlines 15 three-year priority action items, bucketed into “capital,” “acquisitions,” 
“policy,” “initiatives,” and “programming.” These action areas work in parallel to provide a roadmap 
for sustainable park development. Specifically, Policy Item 1 involves integrating the Play Zebulon 
Master Plan recommendations into other Town plans. The Town should strongly consider 
ensuring all Play Zebulon recommendations are included in its Economic Development 
Strategic Plan. 
 

Grow Zebulon Comprehensive Land Use Plan
Relevance to Economic Development Strategic Plan
Ten strategic priorities were identified based on the Zebulon Today report findings, which provided 
a snapshot of Zebulon as it was in 2020. Several of these priorities directly relate to growth and 
economic development: 

 Center growth management on “APF” – Adequate Public Facilities 
 Fortify a resilient economic (and tax) base 
 Steer Downtown momentum 
  

 
There are five Focus Areas of the plan, two of which directly relate to growth and economic 
development: growth capacity and economic development. 
 
Guiding Principles 3, 4, and 6 of the Zebulon Tomorrow Vision are the most relevant goals for 
the Town to keep in mind as it creates its Economic Development Strategic Plan. They are as 
follows: 
 

 Guiding Principle #3: Zebulon will be balanced. 
Zebulon will seek to be a complete and balanced community as it grows. From an economic 
and tax base standpoint, this relates to having both great neighborhoods and living options 
while also being an attractive host community for major employers and a wide array of small 
businesses. Zebulon also must balance the needs of older, established neighborhoods and 
commercial areas with the necessary management and servicing of growth at its edges. 

 
 Guiding Principle #4: Zebulon will be prudent. 

The range and magnitude of future financial commitments facing Zebulon’s leaders and 
Town management will only increase as the community grows in both population and 
territory. Zebulon will continue to weigh the costs and benefits of all such decisions, pursue 
ways to leverage local resources through external funding and partnerships, and seek 
equitable methods for staying financially sound while ensuring that future generations help 
bear the cost of major investments from which they will benefit. 
 
Zebulon most also be prudent by safeguarding its past investments in community 
infrastructure and public facilities, to ensure they are sustained throughout their useful life 

74



Town of Zebulon | Economic Development Strategic Plan | April 2024        20 

cycle. Forward thinking and risk avoidance will prevent unnecessary costs from ever being 
borne, enabling Town resources to be directed as much as possible to pursuit of strategic 
priorities that eventually turn vision into reality. 

 
 Guiding Principle #6: Zebulon will be resilient. 

The foundation for a resilient community is a diverse local economy that will continue to 
attract investment and generate jobs over the long term while bolstering the Town’s tax 
base. Zebulon’s economic base must also be able to withstand times of recession and avoid 
over-reliance on one or a few major employers. 

 
While this and other Zebulon plans emphasize the importance of the Five County Stadium district, 
there is no clear vision for what this district ought to be. The Town should take advantage of the 
opportunity that this Economic Development Strategic Plan presents to refine its vision for 
the Five County Stadium district. 

Grow Zebulon Unified Development Ordinance 
Relevance to Economic Development Strategic Plan 
The Unified Development Ordinance (UDO) seeks to promote redevelopment of underutilized sites 
served by public infrastructure while at the same time protecting existing, established development 
and neighborhoods from incompatible infill and redevelopment (which is related to the Town’s 
overarching goal of mitigating displacement).  
 
In addition, the UDO aims to “establish a unique sense of place” in eastern Wake County by 
promoting revitalization of the downtown and surrounding areas, encouraging the establishment of 
new greenways, and establishing new requirements for open space set-asides. Another key UDO 
objective is to promote a strong and diverse economy that includes high-quality, aesthetically-
appealing development and site features as a means of attracting and retaining talent and 
promoting the Town’s economic competitiveness. Finally, the Town’s Utility Allocation Policy is 
relevant to economic development goals as well. In order to preserve and enhance property 
values, manage its limited water supply as a vital natural resource, promote economic development, 
and incentivize smart growth practices, the allocation of Zebulon’s potable water and sanitary 
capacity shall adhere to an approved Utility Allocation Policy for the following development 
processes: 

 Site Plan for development of non-residential site (new or redevelopment) 
 Site Plan for residential development consisting of three or more dwellings 
 Conditional Rezoning requests 
 Planned Development requests  
 Special Land Use Requests  
 Major Subdivision Requests 

 
Due to increasingly limited funding availability, the Town has made a conscious effort to require 
developers to complete transportation network improvements to ensure the network keeps pace 
with the Town's needs. Chapter 6 of the UDO outlines developer requirements to help pay for roads 
per guidance of the Comprehensive Transportation Plan. This strategy may help the Town achieve its 
goal of shifting some of the transportation network improvement costs to developers so that the 
Town and its transportation infrastructure can grow in a sustainable manner.  

75



Town of Zebulon | Economic Development Strategic Plan | April 2024        21 

Part 2: Economic Development Best Practices 
The following section gathers economic development best practices, strategies, key programs and 
initiatives from across the region and state that have been proven to support smart growth and 
economic prosperity within the following categories: 

 Small Business Support 
 Workforce Development 
 Business Recruitment, Retention, & Expansion 
 Marketing 
 Innovation/Entrepreneurship  

Small Business Support
It will be necessary for the Town of Zebulon to evaluate their small business ecosystem to 
understand specific needs as it relates to immediate and long-term sustainable growth for this 
particular community. There are, however, some consistent challenges faced by the small business 
community across the US and subsequently in Wake County and the region, including the following: 

  
 Affordable & Flexible Workspaces 

Outlined below are some recent responses and best practices to offset these challenges and provide 
environments that support community & collaboration among small businesses operating within 
their Town & region.  
 

 
Small businesses, especially within the hospitality industry in Wake County and North Carolina, have 
faced increased hiring challenges due to the pandemic, labor shortages, and changing 
demographics.  
 
There are multiple organizations serving Wake County who have resources and/or funding available 
to support talent recruitment and talent pipelines for companies across Wake County. In fact, 
several organizations have already partnered together to create and roll out programs to specifically 

eer Works Center, and the North Carolina Restaurant and Lodging 
Association. The City of Raleigh and Wake County appropriated $1.25 million to CAWDB to help with 
implementation of strategies and programs that will help small businesses recruit candidates, 
prepare workers for new roles, mitigate hiring and training costs, and put future employees on a 
path towards upward mobility2.  
 
The following organizations will be critical assets for the Town of Zebulon in accessing existing 
programs and funding while also helping inform new programs and strategies to consider in the 
future. Apart from the North Carolina Restaurant and Lodging Association, these organizations work 
across multiple industries.  

 
2 https://www.visitraleigh.com/partners/annual-report/admin-technology/  

76



Town of Zebulon | Economic Development Strategic Plan | April 2024        22 

 
Capital Area Workforce Development Board 
A federally funded workforce development entity, Capital Area Workforce Development Board 
(CAWDB) serves businesses in Wake County with opportunities for financial assistance, growth, and 
more, including grants for new businesses who are actively hiring, tax credits to help mitigate 
workforce costs and percentage reimbursements in wages during training. Additionally, CAWDB 
hosts an annual Career Expo. Capital Area Workforce Development Board is a great resource for 
both small business initiatives and as part of a comprehensive Business Recruitment, Retention, and 
Expansion strategy.  

   
Greater Raleigh Convention and Visitors Bureau  

accredited destination marketing organization for all of Wake County. 

and spearhead major campaigns to raise awareness around one of the most impacted industries 
during the pandemic.  

 
Wake Tech Small Business Center & Launch Program 
Launch Wake County, hosted by the Wake Tech Small Business Center, aims to support and develop 
entrepreneurs and small businesses in under-resourced communities in the county. Towns across 
Wake County collaborate with Wake Tech to offer a Launch Wake County program for established or 
aspiring entrepreneurs in their communities. By nurturing homegrown, Main Street businesses, they 
hope to strengthen the small-business ecosystem across the region. The following municipalities 
across Wake County are already utilizing this support program: Apex, Cary, Fuquay-

 
 
North Carolina Restaurant and Lodging Association 
NCRLA is the uniting force of the North Carolina hospitality industry, bringing together restaurant 
and lodging establishments and partners who support the community. The NCRLA impacts 
legislation and policies, cultivates relationships, and provides valuable resources to help members 
run their business. As a result of the pandemic effects on the small business and hospitality sector, 
the NCRLA has already rolled out a new program for employers and future workforce: NCRLA Free 

. 

All organizations listed above are either federally funded, state funded, or supported by corporate 
partners to implement resources and programming to small businesses for free.3 If funds continue 
to be set aside and partners are engaging, these resources will continue to be provided for free. 
Because of this, it will be important for the Town of Zebulon to engage in consistent communication 
with these organizations to better understand all resources and programs available to their small 
businesses. In addition, it will be advantageous for Zebulon to update these organizations on results 
of the comprehensive evaluations that will take place over the next 12 months as these insights will 
help guide future initiatives and investments at the state and regional levels.  
 

 
3 The resources & programs mentioned above are free to small businesses and engagement/partnerships with the 
Town of Zebulon are free; however, there are some special scenarios with CAWDB 
Corporate Business Services) where tailored services may come at a small cost to the company. For example, if a 
company needs more intensive wrap around services for training or workforce development that exceed the state 
or federal allotment of hours.

77



Town of Zebulon | Economic Development Strategic Plan | April 2024        23 

Flexible and Affordable Office Space 
As a result of the COVID-19 pandemic and subsequent economic impacts, businesses have struggled 
to justify increased costs of storefronts or longer-term lease agreements for office space. Coworking 
spaces, which gained popularity across the Research Triangle over the past 5-7 years, have 
consistently offered creative, collaborative, and flexible environments for small businesses to 
operate. They provide environments that support growth, reduce overhead costs, and provide 
access to resources and a supportive environment.  
 
A successful and well-branded coworking community can provide office access while also attracting 
small business service providers across the region who are willing to offer free consultation services 
– banking, accounting, legal and more. It can also be the centralized hub for hosting programming 
tailored to the specific needs of the diverse Zebulon small business community.  
 

Successful Coworking Examples  
There are many best practice success stories across Wake County that show the impact of 
coworking spaces on a community. The examples listed below would also serve as potential 
partners/resources as Zebulon explores this concept further:  

Raleigh Founded 
While Raleigh Founded is home to beautiful coworking and dedicated office space, it is about 
more than that; it is about providing the tools and resources necessary for organizations to 
scale, grow, and have a more significant impact on the community. Raleigh Founded supports 
their members and partner organizations to create a more inclusive and supportive community 
in Raleigh and beyond. Raleigh Founded has also consulted with cities throughout North 
Carolina (Yanceyville, for example) who reached out to seek help in building an entrepreneurial 
hub for their community. In addition, Raleigh Founded has space on Centennial Campus at NC 
State University where they have incorporated a prototyping space4.  

 
Blue Co. 

Jason Widen, founder of Raleigh Founded, has also created a new coworking concept that will 
provide service-based workers, tradespeople, small business owners, e-commerce companies, 
and food and beverage entrepreneurs with flexible and cost-effective warehousing solutions.  

 
Loading Dock  

The Loading Dock was founded by Philip Freeman, Founder and CEO of Murphy’s Naturals, in 
May 2016 out of a desire to bring together impact-minded leaders and entrepreneurs. When he 
began pursuing his entrepreneurial dreams, Philip worked out of his garage for 3 years to 
launch his first products. When it came time to leave his daytime job and fully pursue Murphy’s 

-year commitment 
- but within six months, his team outgrew their space. To accommodate the growing demand 
within the confines of a long-term lease, Murphy’s Naturals rented multiple storage units and 
subleased space from additional warehouses. It was time to pursue a much larger option, which 
led him to Dock 1053. The warehousing and office space available at this location moved his 

 
4 https://wraltechwire.com/2020/08/19/raleigh-foundeds-jason-widen-rifts-on-new-name-evolving-mission-and-the-
future-of-co-working/  

78



Town of Zebulon | Economic Development Strategic Plan | April 2024        24 

team from 2000 square feet of space to 20,000 square feet, leading to the birth of The Loading 
Dock community.  

THRIVE | Holly Springs 

space.5 Located on the second floor of The Block on Main 

both large and small enterprises, as well as independent entrepreneurs, freelancers and 
students. Featuring flex desks, designated desks, private offices, mailboxes, day passes, and 

special events, including monthly catered breakfasts, lunches, and happy hours, as well as 
adventures and outings (anything from hikes to hang gliding).6

 
Blush 

Located in Cary, Blush is a woman-focused coworking space that offers on-site childcare. While 
membership is open to all, its offerings are specifically targeted toward supporting women. 
Additionally, its location in a popular shopping center close to residential neighborhoods is an 
intentional choice, allowing members to "drop in” more easily than if it were located in a 
downtown area.  
 

Frontier RTP 
The Frontier is a building in Research Triangle Park which offers both paid office space along 
with free coworking. The coworking space is open to the public and includes a kitchen, four 
meeting rooms available for booking, and a variety of desk/seating options – all for free. The 
management requests that those who want to use the space register for membership via an 
app, which helps track usage of the facilities. The Frontier also offers programming for tenants 
and coworking members alike, including lectures, panels, networking events, and wellness 
activities. The bottom floor of the building includes the coworking space, free meeting rooms, 
and larger paid classrooms; the upper floors include office space for nonprofits and local start-
ups. Unlike the other coworking examples, Frontier RTP is owned and managed by a nonprofit 
institution, the Research Triangle Foundation.  

 

Workforce Development  
A focus on workforce development creates a prosperous and thriving economy by supporting 
businesses and their continued need for skilled labor, while also providing upward mobility for 
residents, removing barriers to education, and increasing access to well-paying jobs and strong 
careers.  
 
North Carolina is a leader in workforce development. They were the first state to offer state-funded 
workforce development incentives7 and also invested early on in its nationally-ranked community 

 
5 https://wraltechwire.com/2016/05/06/coworking-station-coworking-space-opens-in-holly-springs/  
6 https://www.businesswire.com/news/home/20220919005126/en/THRIVE-Coworking-Acquires-Coworking-Station-
in-Holly-Springs-NC  
7 https://edpnc.com/incentives/workforce-training-and-development/  

79



Town of Zebulon | Economic Development Strategic Plan | April 2024        25 

college system. Wake Tech Community College serves 64,000 students, the third largest 
undergraduate enrollment of any North Carolina college or university, and works closely with 
corporate partners8 to offer new certifications and programs to support talent pipeline development 
in growing industries like Software Development and Industry 4.0.9 
 
The state continues to prioritize and invest heavily in workforce development. In 2021, the State of 
North Carolina released its “First in Talent” Strategic Plan, a comprehensive economic 
development plan that identifies 3 key goals critical to the state’s economic development strategy 
over the course of 4 years. With a focus on workforce development and talent pipeline 
development, the following key goals were outlined within the plan:10

 
 Prepare North Carolina’s workforce for career and entrepreneurial success. 
 Prepare North Carolina’s businesses for success by growing and attracting a talented 

workforce. 
 Prepare communities across North Carolina to be more competitive in growing and 

attracting a talented workforce and businesses.   
 

preparedness of North Carolinians for both current and future job opportunities. This plan revolves 
around three fundamental principles:11 

 Skills and educational attainment 
 Employer leadership, as employers are in the best position to identify the necessary skills for 

their workforce 
 Encouraging local innovation, leveraging successful community-based workforce 

development models already in place, and expanding these creative solutions across the 
state 

 

community college students in covering unexpected expenses that may hinder their progress 
toward program completion. Moreover, the NC Works Local Innovation Fund aims to support the 
inception or expansion of local workforce development initiatives.  

Workforce Development Implementation Across the State 
These initiatives showcase North Carolina's commitment to workforce development and innovation, 
addressing the needs of various demographic groups and industries in the state. 

K-64 Catawba County Program 
Launched in 2017, the K-64 initiative is a public-private partnership created by the Catawba County 
Commissioners and operated by Catawba Valley Community College. The key focus of K-64 is to 
prepare students for local in-demand careers throughout their lifetime from kindergarten (K) 
through the typical retirement age (64). The K-64 initiative builds on the existing success of proven 

 
8 https://www.waketech.edu/post/wt-news-story/9363  
9 https://www.waketech.edu/post/wt-news-story/12418  
10 https://www.commerce.nc.gov/data-tools-reports/economic-development-reports/strategic-economic-
development-plan-north-carolina  
11 https://ncjobready.nc.gov/

80



Town of Zebulon | Economic Development Strategic Plan | April 2024        26 

best practices by identifying, inventorying, and expanding programs that are effective in at least one 
of three areas: (1) working in partnership with local employers to design educational curricula that 
correspond with workforce demands, (2) providing students early exposure to career options and 
associated education and training requirements, or (3) supporting ongoing skill development for 
adults. A Commissioner-appointed, 12-member Board of Directors provides leadership for the K-64 
initiative. 
 
Backpacks to Briefcases  
Backpacks to Briefcases was initially implemented in the Capital Area workforce development 
region, and, due to its success, has been replicated in other workforce areas. The program went on 
to win a national University Economic Development Association (UEDA) best practice award in 2012. 
Currently, the Mountain Area, Capital Area, Kerr-Tar, and Cape Fear workforce development boards 
all have Backpacks to Briefcases programs in their areas, with other areas looking to start. The 
Backpacks to Briefcases program provides recent graduates with real-world job experience and the 
opportunity to demonstrate their skills and abilities, ultimately leading to employment. The initiative 
helps transition students from college to the workforce, providing jobs for individuals and supplying 
employers with college-educated talent. In the Capital Area workforce region, 106 recent college 
graduates have been served to date. Out of 78 participants who have completed the program, 67 
are currently employed or have gone on to graduate school, achieving an 86% overall placement 
rate. Of 44 recent college graduates surveyed, individuals received an 87% average wage increase 
from $8.39/ hour pre-enrollment to $19.09/hour post-internship. 
 
Line Worker Pre-Apprentice Program 
The Line Worker Pre-Apprentice program helps fill the growing demand for, and widening shortage 
of, certified electrical line workers. The program offers students an opportunity for a career that 
pays a livable wage and affords opportunity for advancement without college debt. It also provides 
career training options for students who want solid, hands-on careers but do not necessarily want a 
traditional college degree. This program demonstrates how communities and organizations can pool 
resources together to maximize benefits for everyone. Initially spearheaded by the Town of Benson 
with an idea and a generous in-kind grant, the other towns and ElectriCities pooled their physical 
and human resources to provide the backing necessary to enable the opportunity to be offered to 
Johnston County Public School students. 
 
For a full list of success stories provided by the NC Works Commission, visit the "Spotlight on Local 
Workforce Innovations: on their webpage.   

Workforce Development for Zebulon
Zebulon’s Labor Force
To understand the ways in which the Town of Zebulon might engage in workforce development 
initiatives, it is important to review the current labor force demographics. Pulled below are a few 
data sets which compare Zebulon with portions of the Eastern Research Triangle region (Clayton, 
Rocky Mount and Wilson) as well as Raleigh. 
 
  

81



Town of Zebulon | Economic Development Strategic Plan | April 2024        27 

Education of Population 

 
2017-2021 

Rolesville 97%
Clayton 94%
Knightdale 93%
Raleigh 92%
Wendell 92%
Rocky Mount 87%
Wilson 82%
Zebulon 74%

Chart 1; Data Source: Census Bureau 

Bachelor's degree or higher, Percent of 
 

2017 - 2021
Rolesville 64% 
Raleigh 52% 
Knightdale 44% 
Wendell 31% 
Clayton 30% 
Zebulon 23% 
Wilson 22% 
Rocky Mount 22% 

Chart 2; Data Source: Census Bureau 

Seventy-four percent of Zebulon residents aged 25+ years and older have completed high 
school or obtained higher degrees. As reflected in Chart 1, Zebulon currently has the lowest 
percentage among its neighbors, Wilson (82%) and Rocky Mount (87%), with a much larger delta 
when comparing overall data to the remaining neighbors who are close to having 100% of their 
relative residents with high school diplomas or higher.  

25 years and older have obtained a bachelor’s degree or higher. This statistic falls in line more 
closely with Zebulon’s neighbors: Wilson (22%) and Rocky Mount (22%), with a slightly heavier 
concentration in Clayton (30%) and Wendell (31%), yet lower than Knightdale (44%) and less than 
half that of Raleigh (52%) and Rolesville (64%).  

 

82



Town of Zebulon | Economic Development Strategic Plan | April 2024        28 

Labor Force Participation 
In Civilian Labor Force, Percent of 

 
2017 - 2021

Knightdale 78% 
Clayton 70% 
Raleigh 70% 
Wendell 69% 
Rolesville 65% 
Wilson 60% 
Rocky Mount 58% 
Zebulon 58% 

Chart 3; Source: Census Bureau 

As reflected in Zebulon Today’s report, Zebulon has maintained a consistently lower labor force 
participation rate than Raleigh. If we compare among additional neighboring areas as reflected in 
Chart 3, Zebulon still maintains an equal or lower labor force participation rate with 58% of its 
working age population maintaining employment and Rocky Mount and Wilson in similar positions 
(58% and 60% respectively). Rolesville (65%) and Wendell (69%) have higher percentages of active 
labor force population. Raleigh and Clayton are consistently higher at 70% and Knightdale is higher 
yet at 78%.  

Areas of Focus 
Based on the above labor force demographics, it will be advantageous for the Town of Zebulon to 
explore the following:  

 Understand what challenges exist for students who are not able to complete high school 
degrees & work to remove these barriers so that Zebulon can increase its percentage of the 
population with a high school degree 

 Ensure there are clear career pipelines available for high school graduates to enter the 
workforce or continue their education 

 Understand the barriers and challenges that are keeping residents out of the workforce and 
implementing/activating programs within the Town to increase labor force participation   

 
It is also worth noting that although Zebulon’s percentage of population with bachelor’s degrees or 
higher is lower than that of Clayton and Raleigh, the Town should continue to see the educational 
attainment levels of its residents increase naturally due to new movers coming from across the 
country and globe. According to the US Census, 75% of new movers to Wake County age 25 and 
older are bringing at least a bachelor’s degree or higher. It should also be noted that there are more 
opportunities for these new movers to access jobs outside of Zebulon and within the Research 
Triangle as there are typically less barriers to transportation for this population. The same cannot be 
said for underserved and less educated populations within Zebulon, who are likely facing a 
multitude of challenges that will either keep them out of the workforce or in jobs that are close-
by/accessible via public transportation.   
 
 

83



Town of Zebulon | Economic Development Strategic Plan | April 2024        29 

Areas for Engagement 
Engage in Wake County Economic Development’s 2023 Regional Skills Analysis & Talent 
Pipeline Initiatives

Every 3 years, Wake County Economic Development (WCED) leads a region-wide existing industry 
survey to understand and accomplish the following:  

 Understand both short and long-term hiring needs; 
 Inform training and education providers of the current workforce needs; 
 Provide current workforce information for policy makers in workforce, education, and 

economic development; 
 Develop an effective cradle-to-career talent pipeline strategy; and 
 Create an efficient structure for ongoing industry feedback. 

 
WCED recently completed their 2023 survey and will be working through analyzing results and 
creating a shareable document once the analysis is complete. This document has been followed in 
past years by a WCED-hosted event specific to this topic.   
 
Partner with Wake Technical Community College for business recruitment, existing industry 
and strategies around upskilling the existing labor force in Zebulon.  

This campus provides tremedous opportunities in various aspects of Zebulon’s economic 
development goals. Wake Tech has a long-standing history of partnership and collaboration with the 
K-12 public school system, industry and local governments.  
 
Below are several examples of how this partnership could be utilized: 

 Existing Industry: Partnerships between Zebulon’s existing industry and Wake Tech can be 
utilized to create additional employment pipelines, strategic branding opportunities, and 
more involvement and buy-in from Zebulon’s existing industry. 

 Business Recruitment: This campus will also be a huge asset in the recruitment of new 
industry as it could provide temporary training space for new employees, a direct pipeline of 
workers, internship opportunities and more.  

 Opportunites for Continuing Education for Zebulon Residents: Work in partnership with 
Wake Tech to identify, create and market opportunities for Zebulon residents to continue 
their education. According to Wake Tech, this particular campus offers transfer options for 
East Carolina University’s Bachelor of Science in Industrial Technology (BSIT) program and 
Elizabeth City State University’s Unmanned Aircraft Systems (UAS) and Emergency 
Management programs.12 It will also be a new hub for Wake Tech’s Associate in Engineering 
program, with spaces planned to further the college’s collaboration with its largest and 
closest transfer partner, NC State. 

 Alignment with Industry Targets: Wake Tech’s program offerings have been determined 
based off of future growth projections in Eastern Wake County. As industry targets are 
identified for the Town of Zebulon, alignment with the programs and offerings provided at 
Eastern Wake 4.0 should be a strong consideration.  

 Small Business/Entrepreneurship: Explore conversations with the college about 
incorporationg co-working or incubator space within the campus.  

 
12 https://www.waketech.edu/post/wt-news-story/10785  

84



Town of Zebulon | Economic Development Strategic Plan | April 2024        30 

Overview of the Eastern Wake 4.0 Campus13

With a focus on technology-forward education and workforce development programs, Eastern Wake 

Wake 4.0 refers to the term Industry 4.0, a reference to a fourth industrial revolution, with the 
convergence of machines and processes with information and communications technology, such as 

 Plans for the 106-acre site include the 
following assets and programs:

 Public Safety Simulation Complex 
  
 Technology 4.0 facility 
 Associate in Engineering degree 
 Emergency Medical Science 
 Biopharmaceutical Technology 
 Intelligent automation 
 Robotics 
 Unmanned Aircraft Systems operations and repair 

 

Business Retention, Recruitment, and Expansion
Developing and maintaining a comprehensive, long-term business retention, recruitment, and 
expansion (BRE) program will be a critically important piece of Zebulon’s economic development 
strategy. 
 
Existing businesses are often the most impactful component to a local economy, typically 
contributing 70 - 80% of new job growth and having the largest impact on a town’s capital 
investment gains over time – allowing for funding of quality-of-life improvements for residents and 
bolstering and diversifying the overall economic ecosystem.  

In addition, as Zebulon continues to grow and more investments stretch into eastern portions of the 
Research Triangle (including Franklin, Wilson, Edgecombe, Nash, and Johnston Counties), it will be 
critical for the Town to be aligned on the types of industries, corporate partners, and associated 
employment opportunities that are an optimal fit for the Town. Understanding this in detail will help 
inform future strategies involved in the business recruitment process and will allow the Town to play 
a more active and competitive role in the creation of new jobs and investment for the town.  
 

Zebulon’s Major Employers 
A review of Zebulon’s major employers reveals that the Town has the foundations of a diversified 
ecosystem by hosting various industries, business operations and job opportunities for people with 
different skills sets and educational attainment. Industries and operations in Zebulon range from 
Life Sciences, Advanced Manufacturing, Food Distribution, R&D facilities, corporate and global 
headquarters, and operations with headquarters internationally.  

 
13 https://www.waketech.edu/about-wake-tech/campuses-centers/eastern-wake 

85



Town of Zebulon | Economic Development Strategic Plan | April 2024        31 

production lines for blending, filling, assembly, and packaging, offering employment opportunities at 
varying levels of educational attainment. Their presence underscores Zebulon's seat at the table in 
what has become one of the strongest, long-standing industries for North Carolina and in particular, 
the Research Triangle Region.  
 
Advanced Manufacturing and Research and Development (R&D) also play a pivotal role in Zebulon's 

Manufacturing & Innovation Center in Zebulon, contributes significantly to advanced manufacturing 
and cutting-
reputation as a center for innovative manufacturing. 
 
In the realm of Food Distribution, Zebulon hosts US Foods, a major Food Distributor and Restaurant 
Supplier, adding to the town's diversity and joining portions of the Eastern Triangle Region where 
this industry has played an impactful role on new job creation and capital investment.  
 

BRE Program Best Practices 
To foster ongoing growth within the community, the Town of Zebulon should not only lay a solid 
groundwork for existing businesses and promote new development, but it should also explore the 
following best practices for a high-functioning BRE Program. These practices aim to facilitate 
improved communication of the needs of existing businesses, provide them with better access to 
relevant resources, and encourage a deeper commitment to the community's sustained growth over 
the coming decades. The following sections are broken out by Business Recruitment and Business 
Retention & Expansion.  

Business Recruitment  
When exploring an optimal business recruitment strategy, it will be critical for the Town of Zebulon 
to be specific and aligned on the types of industries, corporate partners, and associated 
employment opportunities that are an optimal fit for the Town. 

Opportunity Industries – Brookings Institution14

If we look at Zebulon’s educational attainment levels, referenced in the “Workforce Development” 
section above, we see that the town has a higher percentage of residents who have a high school 
level education (74%) and a lower percentage (23%) who bring a bachelor’s degree or higher. In 
addition, this Environmental Assessment showcases higher concentrations of minority populations 
in Zebulon. Because of this, as Zebulon looks to bring new jobs and diversify their tax base with new 
industry, it will be important to approach a business recruitment strategy that takes into 
consideration opportunities that will benefit the entire economic ecosystem.  

One approach that is worth exploring further is the concept of “Opportunity Industries” by the 

Jobs,” “Promising Jobs,” and “Opportunity Industries” – all of which explored industries and 
associated job opportunities that have the potential to drive economic growth and provide 
opportunities for upward mobility to underserved and marginalized populations.  

 
14 https://www.brookings.edu/wp-content/uploads/2018/12/2018.12_BrookingsMetro_Opportunity-
Industries_Report_Shearer-Shah.pdf#page=6 

86



Town of Zebulon | Economic Development Strategic Plan | April 2024        32 

“Promising Jobs” listed below: 

 Good Jobs: 
full-time, year-round workers without a bachelor's degree and include employer-provided 
health insurance. This approach ensures that the income threshold accounts for variations 
in wages and living costs across different metropolitan regions. The presence of employer-
sponsored health insurance is used as an indicator for the availability of other benefits, like 
paid leave and retirement plans. 

 
 Promising Jobs: These jobs are entry-level positions that may not initially meet the criteria 

-switching 
patterns and future projections, these positions are expected to offer career progression 
opportunities that will enable the workers in those roles to reach good jobs within a decade. 
This prediction is made using a unique analysis of past trends in occupational mobility, 
forecasting how workers will transition between occupations over the next 10 years.  

 
Findings from the study as it pertains to industries that provide the most opportunity for upward 
mobility and overall improved quality of life for underserved and marginalized populations revealed 
the following key takeaways, relevant for the Town of Zebulon to consider when forming their future 
strategy:  
 

 Industries that are considered 'tradable' offer some of the best opportunities for 
individuals without a four-year college degree to secure good jobs. Tradable industries 
are those where companies primarily sell their products or services to customers outside the 
region, competing on national and global scales. These industries, which include sectors like 
manufacturing, software, higher education, and freight transportation, are the ones 
that generate significant wealth for the local economy. In turn, they support local-serving 
industries, such as retail, food services, and basic healthcare, which primarily serve 
consumers within the region.  

 
 Interestingly, tradable industries in sectors typically associated with white-collar jobs, 

such as information, corporate headquarters, and professional services, also offer 
above-average proportions of good jobs for sub-baccalaureate workers, with percentages 
ranging from 13 to 15 percent. 

 
 Although local-serving industries like hospitality and retail sectors are among 

metropolitan area’s largest sources of jobs, they provide some of the lowest 
concentration of good jobs. Overall, the report found that most jobs in local-serving 
industries offer neither good nor promising jobs, apart from construction and utilities 
sectors that primarily serve local consumers. The construction and utilities sectors, in 
this case, offer good jobs for sub baccalaureate workers at a rate above the economy-
wide average.  

 

with industry cluster strengths that we see across the Research Triangle. A key factor in the success 

87



Town of Zebulon | Economic Development Strategic Plan | April 2024        33 

of the Research Triangle is a diverse industry base and diversified economic ecosystem that includes 
3-tier 1 research universities, a thriving community college system and collaborations among 
industry, education, and government.  
 
This diversity has contributed to consistent, above national average economic growth since the 2008 
recession and a major reason that the region was consistently predicted to weather the effects of 
the COVID-19 pandemic.  
 
Companies within the following industries continue to strongly consider the Research 
Triangle as a prime location to land and expand their business: 

 Life Sciences  
 Advanced Manufacturing 
 Clean Technology 
 Software Development/Information Technology 
 Agricultural Technology (Ag Tech)  
 Food, Beverage & Agriculture Manufacturing  
 Chemicals, Plastics and Rubber Manufacturing  

 
When considering the foundations of a recruitment strategy, Zebulon does not need to re-invent the 
wheel in terms of industries recruited but instead should focus on the types of operations, 
employment breakdowns (associated salaries, entry level vs. mid to advanced level), their associated 
educational attainment requirements, and overall corporate policies that support upward mobility 
for residents. Once the Town is aligned on these critical pieces, a more traditional approach can be 
crafted to ensure Zebulon can be an active player in a competitive site selection/business 
recruitment process.  
 

Business Retention & Expansion 
The Town of Zebulon will need to develop a comprehensive existing industry program tailored to the 
specific needs of its businesses. In creating such a program, two best practices should be given 
strong consideration for ensuring its success. The first best practice involves fostering a high-touch 
environment by leveraging state and regional partners and resources. The second is to actively 
promote and identify opportunities for existing industry engagement in local and regional economic 
development as well as community initiatives. Both best practices are detailed below. 
 

High Touch Environment 
As the Town of Zebulon balances multiple priorities, it will be beneficial to approach existing 
industry support by working in partnership with multiple state, regional and local industry support 
organizations. If consistent check-ins and relationships are maintained with the appropriate 
organizations, these partnerships are a value-add to a comprehensive existing industry program 
and to the Town’s resources by allowing individual outreach, support, and interactions to be an 
extension of the Town. This also allows the Town and its partners to identify industry challenges, 
companies that may need immediate attention, opportunities for industry-driven partnerships and 
more.  
 
Resources:  

 Wake County Economic Development 

88



Town of Zebulon | Economic Development Strategic Plan | April 2024        34 

 Economic Development Partnership of North Carolina’s (EDPNC) Existing Industry  
 Wake Tech Community College Corporate & Business Solutions 
 Capital Area Workforce Development Board 
 Industry-driven support organizations like the North Carolina Biotechnology Center, NC 

Technology Association, NC State’s Industry Expansion Solutions, NC State University’s Office 
of Economic Development & Partnerships, etc.  

 

Existing Industry Engagement
In addition to wrapping existing industry in resources and support, it is equally important to identify 
and create ways for existing industry to become involved in local and regional economic 
development initiatives. Companies that are invested in their communities, whether with their time, 
knowledge, or finances, are much more inclined to work with economic development organizations 
when making decisions on whether to grow locally or relocate firms altogether. Engagement like this 
creates stronger advocacy for the Town of Zebulon by company leadership and can also in turn 
support business recruitment programs by “corporate ambassadors” spreading a positive message 
about operating in the Town of Zebulon as they travel to conferences, meet with companies in their 
supplier network, and more.  

Below is an example of where and how to engage existing industry leadership locally and regionally. 
These are also areas that have become a key focus for state, regional and local leaders and would be 
a great place for Zebulon to plug in:  

 Corporate investments in local innovative ecosystems  
 Investment in talent pipeline/upskilling workforce 
 -12 schools school systems.   

o Example: Summer Careers Pathways Program 
 Partnerships & branding opportunities with Wake Tech Community  

o Example: Eli Lilly Example 
 Triangle Diversity, Equity & Inclusion Alliance 
 Sustainability Initiatives  

o Wake County Economic Development Initiatives Summary & Recent Event 
o North Carolina's Commitment  

Marketing
Upon the successful completion of the Economic Development Strategic Plan, Zebulon is poised to 
gain a comprehensive understanding of its identity, encompassing its strengths, weaknesses, and 
challenges, as well as its overarching priorities that will be part of creating sustainable economic 
growth and development. These critical insights will help determine the appropriate direction for a 
marketing strategy, including audiences, the types of messaging to prioritize and the best methods 
for sharing information and building Zebulon’s brand externally. As Zebulon works through this 
process, several strategies, and pivotal questions to keep in mind are outlined below:  

 Establish a Unified Brand Identity: Ensure that Zebulon Economic Development emerges 
as a consistent and easily discoverable brand name for all pertinent information and caters 
to diverse audiences. 

 Audience Segmentation: Identifying and categorizing target audiences is important. 
Zebulon may determine its marketing should have more emphasis placed on its existing 

89



Town of Zebulon | Economic Development Strategic Plan | April 2024        35 

community, rather than a heavy focus on outside parties (site selectors, developers, etc.). 
Alternatively, there may be higher prioritized commercial and industrial strategic goals that 
require Zebulon’s assets and brand to reach national site selectors and development groups. 

with curating and disseminating appropriate information.  
 
Consider these audiences below:   

 Business Recruitment: Engaging site selectors, companies exploring expansion 
opportunities, and prospective developers. 

o Resource for catering to Site Selectors: DCI Best Practices  
 Note: DCI is the national marketing brand contracted with WCED.  

 Existing Industry: A platform to share valuable workforce development resources, 
programs, and success stories. 

 Small Business: Providing support and resources for the local small business ecosystem. 
Zebulon will need to determine whether this will have its own brand or remain under 
Zebulon Economic Development.  

 Innovation & Entrepreneurship: Sharing resources and stories that showcase and foster 
an environment that nurtures creativity and innovation. 
 

Online Prescence: Now more than ever, a community’s online presence is the most utilized and 
easily accessible format for sharing critical information and telling a unique story. Communities are 
investing in high-quality websites, videos, and even drone footage to reach broader audiences and 
create attention- grabbing and informative content to educate residents on economic development 
plans, and to attract companies and site selectors to the community by sharing regional strengths 
and local assets (existing workforce, land, and commercial spaces available, for example). Although 
prioritized differently, it will be important for Zebulon to identify ways to market information to each 
of these groups identified above, as well as any additional audiences that may be identified 
throughout the process. Making investments in a strong online platform and strategy is an excellent 
approach for conveying a consistent and distinctive message to multiple audiences. This approach 
also provides the flexibility for adapting to changes as Zebulon continues to evolve, ensuring that it 
reaches multiple and diverse audiences and attracts and retains assets that are aligned with the 
Town.  
 
Highlight Unique Differentiators:  

 Craft compelling narratives that showcase how local businesses in Zebulon are making a 
difference and experiencing growth.  

 Work through narratives that share and celebrate the diversity of Zebulon (multi-racial, 
foreign-born, female dominant, etc.).  

 Work to build media strategies with Wake County Economic Development and local media 
outlets to reach a regional and national audience.  
 

CEO Spotlights: Produce engaging videos featuring the CEOs of Zebulon-based headquarters. 
Explore their reasons for choosing Zebulon, their growth journeys, and their experiences of living in 
Wake County while working in Zebulon. Notable success stories, such as Nomaco and Olde Raleigh 
Distillery, can serve as inspiring examples. This serves both the business recruitment audience, as 
well as giving residents overall “feel good” stories about their community.  
 

90



Town of Zebulon | Economic Development Strategic Plan | April 2024        36 

Leveraging the Research Triangle Ecosystem: Maximize the extensive Research Triangle 
ecosystem to gather and distribute relevant news, blogs, and consistent messaging concerning 
economic development strategies, programs, and events across the Triangle region.  

 
Topics to consider include: 

 Diversity, Equity, and Inclusion (DEI): Showcase Zebulon’s commitment to fostering a 
diverse and inclusive community (relevant for community members, existing industry and 
business recruitment initiatives).  

 Sustainability: 
existing industry & business recruitment).  

 Work in the Triangle: A resource created to accommodate the vast number of “new 
movers” to our region. This resource is for residents and employers alike, aiding in 
recruitment of talent, onboarding new employees and general quality of life benefits of living 
in the Triangle. 

 Regional Skills Analysis: Providing insights into the local workforce, projected employment 
growth for existing companies, challenges and changes in talent pipeline and recruitment 
strategies and more.  

 Major Transportation Improvements: Announcing significant public transportation 
enhancements throughout the Triangle.  

 Eastern Triangle Region Announcements: Share updates on company initiatives and 
workforce development happening in neighboring counties.  

 Innovation and Entrepreneurship: 
support and encourage entrepreneurship and innovation. 
 

By incorporating these strategies and addressing these questions, Zebulon can lay the foundation 
for a robust and effective marketing approach.  
 

Innovation/Entrepreneurship 

Overview 
The Research Triangle region boasts a vibrant and innovative ecosystem that revolves around 
collaboration, research, and entrepreneurship. Anchored by esteemed research institutions like 

 serves as a breeding ground 
for groundbreaking research and knowledge creation. Research Triangle Park (RTP) acts as a central 
hub, bringing academia, industry, and government together for collaboration and 
commercialization. The region also benefits from a robust network of entrepreneurial support 
organizations, incubators, and accelerators that provide resources, mentorship, and funding for 
startups.  
 
Although there are many existing resources to tap into, it will be advantageous for Zebulon to create 
an innovation brand and environment of their own that will encourage and foster entrepreneurship 
and new ideas, while giving their existing corporate partners an opportunity to collaborate.  

 

Entrepreneurship in Zebulon  
Several NC State alums have started businesses in Zebulon: Tethis, Next Century Spirits, Old Raleigh 
Distillery, and The Fall Line. The success of Tethis meant that they outgrew their manufacturing 

91



Town of Zebulon | Economic Development Strategic Plan | April 2024        37 

space; without adequate scalable manufacturing facilities in town, they had to move their operation 
to another city. Next Century Spirits created their patented filtering and finishing technology at NC 
State. They brought the company to Zebulon in 2022 to work with private labels to create custom 
distilled spirits. Olde Raleigh Distillery landed in Zebulon as a start-up in 2021. The proprietor 
renovated a space downtown and became a catalyst for business investment. Lastly, an NC State 
alumni created a widely-appreciated indoor/outdoor sports bar downtown and is starting a second 
business outside of downtown. The cost of real estate is lower than other areas of the Triangle and 
that could be a contributing factor leading to start-up companies locating in Town. 
 
Below are several potential actions and best practice examples of how Zebulon might utilize existing 
resources while creating their own innovation brand and entrepreneurial environment: 

 Short-term: 
o Engage with the many programs offered by the NCSU entrepreneurial program to 

promote Zebulon to the start-ups that may be interested in having the Town’s 
Economic Development Specialist and Downtown Coordinator assist in navigating 
through the move to a brick-and-mortar location. The programs available are: 

 Andrews Launch Accelerator: 14-week accelerator program that pushes 
start-ups with current students or recent alums to the next growth stage. The 
participants receive some equity-free funding upon completion. 

 Wolfpack Investor Network: A network of angel investors for NC State 
affiliated early-stage companies, with $20 million investment to-date in 34 
portfolio companies.   

 Albright Entrepreneurs Garage: Students and start-ups share co-working 
space, use a prototype lab, participate in start-up competitions, and utilize 
the entrepreneurship clinic.   

 Launch Pad Incubator: Incubator program to support early-stage 
undergraduate and graduate start-ups. The Incubator occurs over a rolling 
10-week period.   

o  
 Utilize the existing success that Zebulon has experienced with start-ups out 

of NC State to build enthusiasm from existing company leaders.  
 Incorporate success stories into a marketing strategy (for example, via WRAL 

Tech Wire) that spreads the word across the region. Even companies that 
outgrew Zebulon should be considered a success story.  

 Mid-term: Recruit a coworking or incubator/accelerator program, such as RIOT, to offer 
services to start-ups and small businesses located in Zebulon.   

 Long-term: Facilitate investment in scalable advanced manufacturing facilities. 
o Recruit companies with R&D components. 
o Foreign-owned companies traditionally invest more in R&D than US-headquartered 

firms. 

  

92



Town of Zebulon | Economic Development Strategic Plan | April 2024        38 

Part 3: Best Practices to Mitigate 
Displacement 

What is Gentrification and Displacement?
Increased economic investment in historically underserved neighborhoods often leads to 
gentrification of the area and displacement of its long-
and demographic evolution a neighborhood experiences when higher-income residents move in 
because of increased economic investment.15 These movement patterns are inextricably intertwined 
with race and can vastly change the racial makeup of the affected neighborhoods. Ultimately, 
economic conditions lead to soaring rent prices (often exceeding 30% of the household’s income) 
and increases in property taxes.  
 
Displacement is the “forced or involuntary relocation of residents, including departure from a home 
or neighborhood where a tenant would otherwise have wanted to remain if not for socioeconomic 
or environmental pressures making that infeasible or undesirable.”16 
involuntarily displaced because of the unaffordability of the area.17 Displacement has been a known 

displacement as:  
 
“Displacement occurs when any household is forced to move from its residence by conditions which 
affect the dwelling or immediate surroundings, and which: 

 are beyond the household’s reasonable ability to control or prevent  
 occur despite the household’s having met all previously imposed conditions of occupancy; 

and  
 make continued occupancy by that household impossible, hazardous, or unaffordable.”18 

 
There are three types of displacement that can occur because of gentrification:19  
 

 Direct: One demographic or ethnic group succeeds another specifically due to a process or 
program. Typical in federal Urban Renewal programs in the 1950s and 60s. 

 Secondary or Involuntary: Low-income households relocate due to new development or 
gentrification in their neighborhood once they can no longer afford to remain due to higher 
rents, appreciated taxes, tenant harassment, or the withholding of services. 

 Exclusionary: Changes in a gentrified neighborhood prevent future low-income households 
from locating there. 

 

 
15 https://www.urbandisplacement.org/about/what-are-gentrification-and-displacement/  
16 https://harvardlpr.com/wp-content/uploads/sites/20/2019/02/20180813-1_Cohen.pdf  
17  
18 https://www.frbsf.org/community-development/wp-content/uploads/sites/3/wp2015-05.pdf 
19 -In-the-Face-of-   

93



Town of Zebulon | Economic Development Strategic Plan | April 2024       39

Therefore, local community planners must implement policy that captures the benefits of increased 
investment without harming or displacing current residents “that have weathered years of economic 
disinvestment.”20

Impact of Displacement
Displacement leads to many devastating impacts on the residents forced to move. When people 
move from their community, it can lead to increased unemployment.21 Children perform worse 
academically as they are often placed in schools with fewer resources.22 Additionally, seniors 
experience higher mortality rates because they lose their network of care and support.23

Moreover, as residents involuntarily leave their community, the culture associated with the historic 
neighborhood loses its cultural identity. Between 2010 and 2020, the Metropolitan Statistical Area 
(MSA) of Austin, Texas saw a 33% population increase, making it one of the most rapidly growing 
regions in the nation.24

residents transformed the city, once known for its “weirdness,” into an unrecognizable “tech 
metropolis”.25

As Zebulon anticipates significant population growth and seeks to bolster its downtown district, it 
must be especially cognizant of retaining its “small town life” focus area as outlined in the 2018-2030 
strategic plan. As seen below, Zebulon’s population of 6,903 residents during the 2020 Census 
exceeded the highest projection.26

20 -In-the-Face-of-
21

22 https://www.theatlantic.com/education/archive/2015/04/the-lost-children-of-katrina/389345/
23 https://webarchive.urban.org/UploadedPDF/311489_HOPEVI_Health.pdf
24 https://www.austinchamber.com/economic-development/austin-
25 https://www.newyorker.com/magazine/2023/02/13/the-astonishing-transformation-of-austin
26

https://data.census.gov/map?q=zebulon,+nc&t=Populations+and+People&layer=VT_2020_160_00_PY_D1&mode=th
ematic

94



Town of Zebulon | Economic Development Strategic Plan | April 2024       40

Chart 4; Source: Census Bureau 

Where do Historically 
Underserved Populations Live 
in Zebulon?
brunt of the effects of gentrification. The Town of 
Zebulon is broken down into three census tracts 
that are clearly stratified by income and race. 

ups one and two, and 543.06 Block 

and two are vulnerable to gentrification and 
displacement because of the high rate of renters, 
low median household income, and diverse 
population. This area is also home to Zebulon’s only 
Section 8 housing development, Shannon Drive 
Apartments, funded through the Wake County 

27 The area is furthermore 
referenced as a potential “high interest” area in 
Zebulon’s Comprehensive Land Use Plan. 

Chart 5; Source: Census Bureau

27 https://www.wakecountyha.org/locations/map

95



Town of Zebulon | Economic Development Strategic Plan | April 2024        41 

Current Best Practices and Case Studies
As gentrification begins to affect communities, there are tools that planners can use to prevent the 
negative consequences from dividing communities.  
Levy, Comey, and Padilla at the Urban Institute divide gentrification into three stages, although there 
is no definitive measure that identifies which stage a community is experiencing.  

 Early stage – There is evidence of revitalization in the form of housing improvements and 
increases in housing prices compared to surrounding communities. 

 Middle stage – 
the community with affordable housing and undeveloped land.  

 Late stage – There is little to no affordable housing, housing prices are not attainable for 
middle-class and below families, and there is no remaining developable land.  

 
Implementing best practices in the early stage would be most effective based on an analysis of 

could quickly change as Zebulon is the second-fastest growing Town in North Carolina and 
welcomed 12 new businesses since 2019.28  
 

Best Practice 1: Community Wealth Building 

development opportunities with our community partners. 

Community wealth building (CWB) is an economic development practice that is focused on the 
residents of a community retaining power and control of assets.29 CWB heavily relies on regulatory 
support from public institutions and on capital from private “anchor” institutions. This public-private 
partnership funds locally owned cooperatives that are staffed by community members and invests 
in local real estate to specifically prevent displacement. Anchor institutions are key to this model 
because of their leverage in the private market. Wake County is home to several potential anchor 
institutions because it is home to prominent tech companies, universities, and healthcare systems. 

North Carolina State University, and Research Triangle Institute (RTI).  
 

Case Study: Cleveland, Ohio Evergreen Cooperatives 
In 2008, the Cleveland Foundation, the Cleveland Clinic, Case Western Reserve University, and the 
municipal government launched the Evergreen Cooperative Institute. They focused on creating 
sustainable living wage jobs in Cleveland’s historically impoveris
University Circle.30  
 
The Evergreen Cooperative Institute (ECI) first launched, Evergreen Cooperative Laundry, which 
partnered with local hospitals that partnered with the anchor institutions. The ECI would provide 
laundry services with a locally staffed workforce (focused on individuals with limited education, non-
violent criminal backgrounds, or did not have the training to get jobs in the local market). 

 
28 https://spectrumlocalnews.com/nc/charlotte/news/2022/06/30/zebulon-is-booming  
29 https://democracycollaborative.org/programs/cwb  
30 https://www.evgoh.com/about-us/  

96



Town of Zebulon | Economic Development Strategic Plan | April 2024        42 

Additionally, the ECI used a cooperative model, so that employees bought-in to their work and over 
time accumulated wealth for themselves. Now, ECI is profitable, they employ approximately 120 
people, and are earning revenue outside of the anchor.31  
 

Best Practice 2: Community Land Trusts

to meet transportation and housing needs. 
 
Community land trusts are another effective form of CWB. In their simplest form, community land 
trusts buy properties and keep them affordable.32 Community land trusts are nonprofit, community-
based organizations whose mission is to provide affordable housing in perpetuity by owning land 
and leasing it to those who live in houses built on that land.33 Once the community land trust owns 
the property, they are able to determine how the land is used and ensures its alignment with 
community needs and goals. Often homes or other buildings can be built or placed on the owned 
land. These homes are then sold to individuals at below-market prices, making them more 
affordable. While many community land trusts focus on affordable housing, they can also serve 
other community goals. Land can be used for commercial spaces, community centers, urban 
agriculture, or preserving open spaces, among other uses. They prioritize community needs and 
goals over private profit, and a tool to fight against displacement caused by rising land prices and 
gentrification.  
 

Case Study: Raleigh Area Land Trust 
The Raleigh Area Land Trust (RALT) focuses on affordable housing opportunities for first-time 

Raleigh Area and across Wake County.34 The RALT board consists of 
prominent local stakeholders that are devoted to their community. RALT offers homeownership 
opportunities and rental to residents at 50% to 80% of the area median income. Additionally, this 
past June, the City of Raleigh and RALT partnered together to sell their first affordable home in the 
area. This is significant because it provides a framework for local governments to become involved 
with community land trusts. The City of Raleigh provided a 0% interest, deferred payment loan to 
RALT for $130,000. RALT used that loan to refurbish and restore two homes and sell it to qualified 
buyers. 
 
Raleigh also selected RALT to serve as the developer for the Idlewild Avenue area in downtown 
Raleigh. The City of Raleigh sold the land to RALT for $1, and in return, RALT will construct the 
Cottages of Idlewild, an 18-unit development in a predominantly underserved side of town.35

 

Best Practice 3: Preservation of Unsubsidized Affordable 
 

 
31 https://www.usnews.com/opinion/articles/2016-07-21/evergreen-cooperative-is-a-cleveland-jobs-success-story  
32 https://www.npr.org/2023/04/09/1168839399/community-land-trusts-are-providing-a-solution-to-   
33 https://www.lincolninst.edu/publications/articles/community-land-trusts 
34 https://www.ralt.org/  
35 https://raleighnc.gov/housing/news/raleigh-area-land-trust-sells- - -home  

97



Town of Zebulon | Economic Development Strategic Plan | April 2024        43 

to meet transportation and housing needs. 
 
The United States’ largest supply of affordable housing, or naturally occurring affordable housing 

36 -kept, 
intentionally, or unintentionally, and are in areas susceptible to gentrification because of their low 

to development companies and they are refurbished and restored, tents are either evicted or 
offered “cash for keys” by the development company to replace them with more affluent tenants.  
 

through other means. For example, leveraging existing partnerships with Wake County and using 

ensures that the currently supply of affordable houses are naturally maintained.  
 
Local governments can also partner with private developers to offer subsidies, and, in exchange, 
guarantee that they will keep prices affordable on properties.  
 

Case Study: City of Charlotte Pilot Naturally Occurring Affordable Housing 
Subsidy Program 

area. The City partnered with private partners who pledged to keep the homes affordable, and they 
focused on the population that was in the 30%-80% of the area median income. Charlotte also 
established a rental subsidy program to participating developers and owners which was capped at 
the city’s annual property tax bill. The program was designed to cover the difference between the 
tenant’s payment and rent on the unit. In exchange, developers and landlords agreed to: 80 percent 
of units occupied by households earning at or below 80 percent area median income (AMI); 20 

l 
subsidy program or other subsidy source (e.g., housing choice vouchers); 10 percent of units 

subsidy program.  
 

37

 

 

development opportunities with our community partners. 

 
36 https://www.mckinsey.com/industries/public-sector/our-insights/preserving-the-largest-and-most-at-risk-supply-
of- -housing  
37 https://www.adaptationclearinghouse.org/resources/greauxing-resilience-at-home-eo-city-of-charlotte-north-
carolina-pilot-naturally-occurring- -housing-noah-subsidy-program.html  

98



Town of Zebulon | Economic Development Strategic Plan | April 2024        44 

Targeted hiring is an economic development strategy that requires private businesses contracted by 
a government entity to hire a certain demographic within the local population.38 Local governments 
typically establish a minimum percentage that businesses must employ for publicly funded projects. 
By creating an ordinance, it gives control to the local municipality for the job inclusion of the 
projects. Moreover, it empowers the community and provides valuable jobs and training to those 
with unique needs. This practice ensures that jobs are held in the community, and that the local 
population has opportunities to build wealth.39

 

Case Study: UNC Charlotte Strategy: Physical Location of Workforce
As a state entity, UNC Charlotte prefers hiring from the North Carolina workforce. The university has 
facilitated this priority and responsibility by placing the following restrictions on out-of-state 
employees: 

 Out-of-state contracts are temporary with terms limited to one year and requiring annual 
approval for renewal. 

 UNC Charlotte will withhold prorated income taxes for no more than one state in a single 
pay period. 

 Remote work must use University-managed devices. 
 An approval form must be completed and approved prior to an employee performing work 

outside the state for more than one month. 
 These restrictions increase the costs of out-of-state employment for both the university and 

the employee. 
 

Case Study: Milwaukee Resident Preference Program (RPP) 
Milwaukee currently runs the Resident Preference Program which, “promote[s] the use of city 
residents as part of a contractor’s or developer's workforce on certain city-funded construction and 
private development projects.”40 Contractors awarded projects through the city of Milwaukee are 
typically required to hire 40% of RPP participants. The City of Milwaukee targets RPP participants 
based on unemployment history and stipulates that the individual:  

  
 Worked less than 1,200 hours in the preceding 12 months AND/OR 
 Meet certain federal poverty guidelines. 

 

Additional Best Practice Notes 
Rent control, one of the most widely referenced anti-displacement tools, is not legal in North 

-1 may enact, maintain, or enforce any ordinance 
or resolution which regulates the amount of rent to be charged for privately owned, single-family or 
multiple unit residential or commercial rental property.”41  
 

 
38 https://www.americanprogress.org/article/localized-anti-displacement-policies/  
39 https://escholarship.org/content/qt3z14x2t5/qt3z14x2t5.pdf?t=ny9ne8&v=lg  
40 https://escholarship.org/uc/item/3z14x2t5  
41 https://www.ncleg.gov/enactedlegislation/statutes/pdf/bysection/chapter_42/gs_42-14.1.pdf  

99



Town of Zebulon | Economic Development Strategic Plan | April 2024        45 

Accessory Dwelling Units are a unique workaround to the housing supply. They allow tenants to 
build smaller dwellings on their property, and it is allowed by-right in Zebulon, as outlined in the 
Unified Development Ordinance.42  
 
Inclusionary zoning leverages zoning power at the local level to work with private developers to 
construct affordable housing.43 
inclusionary zoning is not specifically illegal or legal. Davidson, NC currently requires that 12.5% of 
the total units in a new development must be within a percentage of the local AMI. Developers can 
choose to opt-
Trust Fund.44 Davidson ran into legal challenges from the Lennar Corporation when they did not 
include affordable housing units in a new development and challenged the requirement to pay into 
the fund. 
 

Commercial Gentrification 
Wake County’s rapid population growth and influx of large tech corporations in the past ten years is 
promising for the economic health of Zebulon but can pose a risk to small businesses that 
contribute to the Zebulon’s “small-town charm and heritage” and “Town of Friendly People.”  

The Zebulon Chamber of Commerce maintains a robust network of small businesses in the area. As 
seen in the map below, a large concentration of small businesses are located in the downtown area. 

 
42 -28-19.pdf  
43 https://canons.sog.unc.edu/2010/11/a-primer-on-inclusionary-zoning/  
44 -Housing-Program-Information 

100



Town of Zebulon | Economic Development Strategic Plan | April 2024       46

Vignette - Andrews’ Barber Shop
Andrew Armstrong, owner of Andrews’ Barber Shop in Zebulon, hired new staff and changed his 

Zebulon is uncertain due to the recent sale of the building he rents from. Consequently, he is 
currently operating on a month-to-month lease and is weighing his options of moving to nearby 
Wendell or Knightdale.45  

Best Practice 1 – Store Size Caps
Store size caps limit the square footage and building height restrictions. They do not explicitly 
prohibit corporations from moving in, but size caps are effective at preventing large box stores from 
moving into areas where small businesses operate. Additionally, they can preserve the culture of a 
neighborhood by preventing an abnormal increase in scale compared to other businesses in the 

45 https://abc11.com/zebulon-growth-population-business-in-boomtown/13465266/

101



Town of Zebulon | Economic Development Strategic Plan | April 2024        47 

area. Conversely, large corporations can still adjust the size of their stores to compete with local 
small businesses. For example, large fast-casual chain restaurants, barber shops, and even box 
stores can adjust the sizes of their stores to meet zoning requirements.46  
 

Best Practice 2 – Entrepreneurship and Small Business Development 
The Entrepreneurship and Small Business Center is a free service made available through Wake 
Technical Community College and Wake County that is funded through local taxes. The 
LaunchWakeCounty wing of the Center provides entrepreneurs with networking, training, and 
assistance with acquiring capital in under resourced communities in Wake County.  

Knightdale, Wendell, Morrisville, Apex, Cary, Fuquay-
Rolesville have their own Launch program, but Zebulon does not have that as a resource for its 
residents.47 Lastly this supports Zebulon’s efforts, as outlined in the Comprehensive Land Use Plan, 
“Coordinating with educational institutions such as Wake County Technical College, the Wake County 
Public School System and local private schools to develop entrepreneurial curricula and exposure to 
real world business situations and opportunities.”48  
 

Additional Note: Potential Implications of the Relocation of the Carolina 
Mudcats 
The Carolina Mudcats, Zebulon’s hometown team since 1991, contribute to the cultural heritage and 
small-town feel.49

Understanding with the Carolina Mudcats to explore a redevelopment project.50 The displacement 
of the Mudcats is estimated to have a $5M annual impact. The Town of Zebulon own a 15% stake in 
the Five County Stadium, which requires significant updates to comply with Major League Baseball 
standards by 2025. 51 

 

 
46 https://antidisplacement.org/tool/store-size-caps/  
47 https://www.waketech.edu/programs-courses/non-credit/build-business/small-business-center  
48 

plan.pdf  
49 https://www.milb.com/carolina-mudcats/team/about  
50 https://www.wilsonnc.org/Home/Components/News/News/578/16 
51 https://wake.legistar.com/LegislationDetail.aspx?ID=5747513&GUID=AAF9AA6C-28A5-44CC-9B69-
C5536DC515DE  

102



Town of Zebulon | Economic Development Strategic Plan | April 2024        48 

Part 4: Growth and Development Data for the 
Eastern Triangle 

When looking at implementation of strategies for Zebulon that may encompass new developments, 
recruitment of new businesses, workforce development strategies and more, understanding existing 
strengths and clusters from neighboring markets is essential.  

Comparing Zebulon to Wake County and the Western Research Triangle does not always offer 
complimentary statistics and initiatives that are aligned with portions of Eastern Wake County and 
the Eastern Research Triangle region that have historically experienced slower growth rates than 
their counterparts to the west. Understanding the economic ecosystems in the Eastern portion of 
the Triangle will be very useful and complimentary to how Zebulon markets its strengths and 
identifies specific strategies for smart growth and economic prosperity.  

Because of this, the following information dives further into Zebulon’s neighbors to the East 
(Franklin County, Nash County, Wilson County and portions of Edgecombe County represented 
through the town of Rocky Mount and with additional, relevant information presented via Johnston 
County and in particular, the City of Clayton due to it’s relative distance to Zebulon). All locations 
presented in this data were included based on the following: a relative commuting distance for 
Zebulon residents and anecdotal information presented via a Zebulon Today report about residents 
from Zebulon commuting between these locations for employment opportunities. 

Distance from the center of Zebulon to the center of each location: 
 Franklin County = 20 miles (30 min. drive) 
 Wilson County = 24 miles (30 min drive) 
 Johnston County (Clayton) = 20 miles (28 min. drive) 
 Nash County = 23.5 miles (22 min. drive) 
 Edgecombe County (Rocky Mount) = 37 miles (37 min. drive)  
 Wake County (Raleigh) = 24 miles (25 min. drive) 

Economic Ecosystems per County/Designated Location  
The Eastern Research Triangle region showcases a transition from traditional industries to a more 
diversified and modern economic landscape. Manufacturing, including advanced manufacturing and 
biopharmaceuticals, plays a significant role in these counties' economies. Accessible transportation 
networks, workforce development initiatives, and the presence of major employers are common 
factors contributing to economic growth. Additionally, collaboration and partnerships between local 
governments, workforce development boards, the community college systems and employers have 
been instrumental in driving innovation and economic prosperity in these regions.  

The following section highlights each respective location’s economic ecosystem and strengths. 

103



Town of Zebulon | Economic Development Strategic Plan | April 2024        49 

Franklin County52

Franklin County boasts a diverse industrial landscape with a strong presence of manufacturing, 
plastics, polymers, and specialty packaging. Major employers such as Novozymes North America, K-
Flex USA, and East West Manufacturing lead the way in the life sciences, manufacturing, and 
contract manufacturing sectors, respectively. These companies collectively employ hundreds of 
skilled workers and contribute significantly to the county's economic vibrancy. The region's focus on 
workforce development and strategic transportation networks further enhances its appeal to 
industries seeking growth opportunities. 
 
Nash County53

Nash County stands out as a prime location for advanced manufacturing, food processing and 
pharmaceutical companies. Pfizer Inc. and Cummins Engines, two of the largest producers of 
medical devices and diesel engines in the nation, are notable major employers in the county. Their 
substantial workforces reflect the region's commitment to fostering a talent pool aligned with 
industry needs. Nash County is also home to many food processing companies, including Atlantic 
Natural Foods, the Cheesecake Factory Bakery, Braswell Foods and more. Nash County also 
leverages partnerships with educational institutions like Nash Community College and RAMP East to 
produce workers with advanced manufacturing and food processing skills to ensure a healthy talent 
pipeline for their cluster of industries.  

Wilson County54 
Wilson County's economic landscape is characterized by a diverse range of industries, including 
manufacturing, agriculture, healthcare, and financial services. Major employers like Novartis, Truist 
Bank and Bridgestone Americas contribute significantly to the county's economic vitality. Novartis is 
a major player in the pharmaceutical industry and employs hundreds of workers in the production 
of generic prescription drugs. Truist Bank employs over 2,000 employees at its Main Branch location 
and Bridgestone Americas employs 1,700 at their manufacturing facility. The county's skilled 
manufacturing workforce, along with its agricultural strengths, allows for a healthy variety of 
industries ranging from pharmaceuticals to tire manufacturing. 
 
Edgecombe County (City of Rocky Mount)55

The City of Rocky Mount, which shares borders with Nash and Edgecombe Counties, has embraced a 
transition from traditional industries to knowledge-based enterprises. Major employers such as 
Draka Elevator Products and Babington Technology Inc. represent the city’s focus on clean 

contributor, with tobacco production and other crops playing a vital role in the local economy. 
 
Johnston County (Town of Clayton)56

The Town of Clayton, situated within Johnston County, North Carolina, is a thriving community with a 
diverse economic landscape. The town's economic backbone is built on various sectors, with a 

 
52 https://www.franklincountync.gov/county_services/economic_development/companies.php  
53 Research Triangle Regional Partnership via Access NC, June 2022  
54 https://www.wilsonedc.com/industry-facts 
55 Carolinas Gateway Partnership
56 https://www.growwithjoco.com/business-and-industry/major-employers/  

104



Town of Zebulon | Economic Development Strategic Plan | April 2024        50 

primary focus on manufacturing, retail trade, education, and health services. Clayton is not only an 
economic hub but also home to a range of admired corporations that actively engage with the local 
community, supporting schools, charities, and non-profits. The town is particularly noted for its 
strong connection to the life sciences and manufacturing industries. As part of the BioPharma 
Crescent of Eastern North Carolina, Clayton hosts several world-class industry partners, including 
Novo Nordisk, the largest manufacturing investment in North Carolina, specializing in 

 
has a presence in agricultural technology, with Bayer as a prominent player. 

Wake County57,58

Wake County has a diverse and thriving economy encompassing employers of all industries and 
sizes. Major industries include professional and business services; trade, transportation, and 

employer in the county, followed by the State of North Carolina. Wake County has several colleges 
and universities including NC State University and Wake Tech Community College. Wake County is 
also home to the state capital, Raleigh. Zebulon is the easternmost town in Wake County. 
  

 
57 

re_Econ-amp-  
58 https://raleigh-wake.org/business-advantages/data-demographics/major-employers 

105



Town of Zebulon | Economic Development Strategic Plan | April 2024       51

Comparing Demographics
The following section utilizes data from the Census Bureau to compare Zebulon to all Eastern 
Triangle Region counties and respective cities of interest, as well as the inclusion of Raleigh and 
Wake County to maintain consistency with comparisons made frequently through various Zebulon 
studies and analyses previously conducted. 

Chart 6; Source: Census Bureau Chart 7; Source: Census Bureau                                             

Population
Although having the smallest population among all areas compared, Zebulon has experienced the 
highest and most accelerated population growth, with a 25% increase from April 1, 2020 – July 1, 
2022. This is more than double that of its neighboring city to the south, Clayton, which has also been 
experiencing above average population growth in recent years59. Several other areas, including the 
cities of Wilson and Rocky Mount as well as Edgecombe County, saw a decrease in population with 
percentage changes ranging from -1% to 0%. 

59 https://www.townofclaytonnc.org/719/Clayton-NC---The-Fastest-Growing-Town-in

Zebulon 25%
Clayton 12%
Franklin Co. 9%
Johnston Co. 9%
Wake Co. 4%
Raleigh 2%
Nash Co. 1%
Wilson Co. 0%
Wilson (City) -1%
Rocky Mount -1%
Edgecomb Co. -1%

Average of Population (% Change)
April 1, 2020 - July 1, 2022

106



Town of Zebulon | Economic Development Strategic Plan | April 2024       52

Diversity of Population

Chart 8; Source: Census Bureau

Summary of Diversity of Population
Zebulon has a significantly higher multi-racial population than the rest of its counterparts in Eastern 
Research Triangle, Wake County & Raleigh, NC with 11% reporting two or more races per household. 

ation, falling second behind Johnston County 
with 14% of its population represented in this category. In addition, Zebulon’s Black or African 
American population represents almost 34% of the community, while White persons alone only 
represent 48% of the community. 

The majority of the Eastern Triangle Region, apart from Clayton, Johnston County, and Franklin 
County, has nearly equal or higher percentages of residents identifying as Black or African American 
compared to those identifying as White alone. This demographic makeup is more in line with what is 
observed in the Town of Zebulon. This observation underscores the importance of comprehensively 
understanding and reviewing the demographics and economic ecosystems of the Eastern Triangle 
Region as Zebulon proceeds with the development of appropriate strategies and inclusive programs 
for the future. 

107



Town of Zebulon | Economic Development Strategic Plan | April 2024       53

Note:
and Other Pacific Islander populations which accounted for less than 1.5% of population 
percentages for all locations referenced, apart from Asian populations in Raleigh & Wake County at 
5% and 9%, respectively. 

Population Characteristics
Foreign Born Population
In comparison to all areas presented, Zebulon is 
an outlier in the category of foreign-born 
persons with almost 17% of its population 
having been born in another country. This is not 
as much of a trend in the Eastern Triangle 
Region and could be explored further to 
understand the makeup and needs of this 
particular community in Zebulon to ensure there 
are language and cultural programs available 
within schools and throughout the community.  

Chart 9; Source: Census Bureau 

Female Population
Zebulon has the highest Female population of 
any of its neighbors, including Raleigh, Wake 
County, and the Eastern Triangle Region. The 
female populations also represent more than 
half of Zebulon’s population at 60%. This will be 
important to consider when contemplating 
strategies for workforce development and 
understanding barriers to entry for women in 
the workforce.  

Chart 10; Source: Census Bureau

108



Town of Zebulon | Economic Development Strategic Plan | April 2024       54

Veteran Population
While Zebulon's veteran population is 
comparatively smaller compared to other areas, 
it's important to highlight the significant presence 
of veterans across the Eastern Triangle Region. 
This serves as a valuable asset for business 
recruitment and marketing efforts. North 
Carolina's veteran community provides access to 
a skilled and motivated workforce actively 
seeking new career opportunities60.  

Chart 11; Source: Census Bureau 

Housing61

Zebulon is ideally located between several large clusters of employers (particularly Raleigh and 
Rocky Mount). This can be perceived as an advantage for dual income households, where both 
adults can be employed different locations with a reasonable commute. The following data provide 
an overview of housing trends over the past three years in the five neighboring counties, along with 
Wake County. The data points are on a rolling-three month basis as of October 2023.

Median Sales Prices
Between 2021 and 2023, all counties in the dataset saw growth in their median home sales 
price. Edgecombe County has the highest percent change in median home sales prices at 29%. 

eriod. Franklin and 
Johnston Counties have the highest average median prices besides Wake County.

2021 2022 2023 2021-2023
% Change 

Edgecombe $143,000 $140,000 $184,500 29.0%
Franklin $320,000 $381,440 $361,950 13.1%
Johnston $325,000 $368,710 $360,000 10.8%
Nash $247,500 $254,900 $299,550 21.0%
Wake $410,000 $472,778 $475,000 15.9%
Wilson $224,000 $249,900 $249,000 19.6%

Chart 12; Source: Susan Sanford, Berkshire Hathaway Home Services of North Carolina 

60 https://ourncmilitary.nc.gov/veteran-workforce/north-carolina-military-employment-nc4me
61 Data provided by Susan Sanford, Director of Relocation and Business Development, Berkshire Hathaway Home 
Services of North Carolina

109



Town of Zebulon | Economic Development Strategic Plan | April 2024        55 

 

 
All counties had at least 47% more homes for sale in 2023 compared to 2021. Wilson County saw 
the greatest increase, at nearly 700%. Several counties – Edgecombe, Johnston, and Wake 
Counties – saw a decrease in the number of homes for sale from 2022 to 2023; this may be 
because of higher interest rates. 

Rolling 3 
Months
October 

2021

Rolling 3 
Months 
October 

2022

Rolling 3 
Months 
October 

2023

2021-2023
% Change

Edgecombe 17 43 25 47.1%
Franklin 152 266 304 100.0%
Johnston 408 1,033 790 93.6%
Nash 82 127 162 97.6% 
Wake 1,330 3,025 2,257 69.7% 
Wilson 3 13 23 666.7% 

Chart 13; Source: Susan Sanford, Berkshire Hathaway Home Services of North Carolina  

 
All counties but Edgecombe County saw their new construction homes for sale at least double 
from 2021-2023. It should be noted that the sample size for Edgecombe County and the 2023 
data may be an anomaly. Wilson County saw the greatest percentage increase in new 
construction homes for sale, but had the lowest total number of new construction homes for 
sale. Johnston County followed Wake County as having the highest number of new construction 
homes for sale during the current year.  

 
2021 2022 2023 2021-2023 

% Change
Edgecombe 4 14 2 -50.0%
Franklin 58 229 185 219.0%
Johnston 193 587 485 151.3% 
Nash 31 48 101 225.8% 
Wake 441 1,276 945 114.3% 
Wilson 3 13 23 666.7% 

Chart 14; Source: Susan Sanford, Berkshire Hathaway Home Services of North Carolina  
. 

 

110



Town of Zebulon | Economic Development Strategic Plan | April 2024        56 

Review of Recent Announcements and Expansions 
The following section reviews data from the Economic Development Partnership of North Carolina’s 
Community Investment Report database. The summary of data62* below includes 48 separate 
announcements made from January 01, 2018 – August 31, 2023 by new and existing companies for 
Franklin, Wilson, Nash and Edgecombe Counties.  

Chart 15; Source: EDPNC

New vs. Expanding Companies 

Facility Type Announced Jobs Announced Investment ($$) 
Expanded                                      513  121,333,617 
New                                  1,654  300,337,383 

Chart 16; Source: EDPNC

 
62 Note about data: The initial data analysis included Johnston County; however, during the review it was determined 
that Johnston County would be removed from the summary of data due to historically large expansions that were 
skewing the investment and industry breakdowns. Johnston County’s announced investments from 2018 – 2023 
totaled capital investments of $1.5 Billion, of which $1.2 Billion were represented by existing industry expansions 
within the Town of Clayton, represented by Novo Nordisk ($750m capital investment) and Grifols ($350m capital 
investment).   

50%

40%

5%
3% 1% 1% 0%

Sum of Announced Investment ($$)

Food, Beverage and Agriculture

Chemicals, Plastics and Rubber

Biotechnology, Pharmaceuticals and Life Sciences

Energy

Automotive

Textiles

Business and Financial Services

111



Town of Zebulon | Economic Development Strategic Plan | April 2024        57 

Out of the 48 announcements recorded in the data, existing company expansions versus new 
company locations were almost an even split, with 25 announcements represented by existing 
company expansions and 23 represented by new company locations.  
Notably, new company locations accounted for the majority of new jobs and capital investments 
during this time period. Although new company locations represent the highest in jobs created and 
capital investments, it is worth noting that existing companies still represent a significant number of 
jobs created and new capital gains for the Eastern Triangle Region. This further underscores the 
importance of balancing both recruitment of new industry and the development of a customized 
existing industry program that encourages growth.  

Industries 
Industry Clusters
Three industries clusters have noticeably higher investments associated with their projects and are 
outlined below:  

Food, Beverage and Agriculture: Represented 50% of the share of industry clusters by total 
announced investments and has seen steady growth from 2020 – 2022. All announcements made in 
this industry cluster are represented by New Company Locations which is likely a direct result of 
investments made by the State of North Carolina and the Economic Development Partnership of 
North Carolina in the food and beverage industry via a dedicated busuiness recruitment position 
hired in 2017 and workforce development and industry partnership efforts63.  

 
Companies & their Associated NAICS Descriptions: 

 Believer Meats: Research and Development in Biotechnology (except Nanobiotechnology) 
 Ripe Revival: Food Product Machinery Manufacturing 
 SinnovaTek: Industrial Machinery and Equipment Merchant 
 The Crump Group Inc.: Dog and Cat Food Manufacturing 

 
Chemicals, Plastics and Rubber: Represented 40% of the share of industry clusters by total 
announced investments and was the 2nd largest industry cluster among the data. In addition, this 
particular industry has seen consistent announcements from 2020 – 2022 and is a represented by 4 
new company locations in North Carolina and 2 existing company expansions.  

 
Companies & their Associated NAICS Descriptions (not an all inclusive list): 

 Activated Carbon Innovation: All Other Miscellaneous Chemical Product and Preparation 
Manufacturing 

 COSMOIND: Plastics Pipe and Pipe Fitting Manufacturing 
 Placon: Plastics Packaging Film and Sheet (including Laminated) Manufacturing 
 Plaziv America: Urethane and Other Foam Product (except Polystyrene) Manufacturing 

 
Biopharmaceuticals, Pharmaceuticals & Life Sciences: Represented only 6% of total announced 
investments but a clear and consisent industry cluster among the Eastern Triangle Region counties, 
especially if we consider previously removed data from major announcements in Johnston County 
which pushed this cluster to the top by a delta of almost $1B in capital investment.    

 
63 https://edpnc.com/wp-content/uploads/2019/04/2018-EDPNC-Annual-Report.pdf  

112



Town of Zebulon | Economic Development Strategic Plan | April 2024        58 

Companies & NAICS Descriptions: 
 Abec: Biological Product (except Diagnostic) Manufacturing 
 Asterra Labs: Pharmaceutical Preparation Manufacturing 
 Novozymes North America: Research and Development in the Physical, Engineering, and 

Life Sciences (except Nanotechnology and Biotechnology) 
 

Types of Operations
As we can see from the chart below, Manufacturing is overwhelmingly the largest project type in the 
Eastern Research Triangle region and as mentioned previously, is represented by these three top 
industry clusters:  Food, Beverage and Agriculture, Chemicals, Plastics and Rubber and 
Biopharmaceuticals, Pharmaceuticals & Life Sciences.  

Economic Development Project 
Type

Sum of Announced Investment 
($)

Sum of Announced 
Jobs 

Manufacturing 366,992,203 1,390 
Distribution Warehouse 13,754,176 312 
Office 9,281,003 91

-Corporate 2,241,000 106 
-Business 1,800,000 25

Call Center 1,000,000 200 
Chart 17; Source: EDPNC

The data also show that the largest amount of jobs in the Manufacturing project type were 
announced in both Nash (604) and Wilson (445), followed by Edgecombe (229) and Franklin (119) 
Counties.  

 
Chart 18; Source: EDPNC

Within the Distribution Warehouse category, Wilson has noticeably higher announced jobs (200) 
than, it’s counterparts Nash, Franklin and Edgecombe, with 78, 34 and 0 jobs, respectively. 

 -  100  200  300  400  500  600  700

Nash
Wilson

Edgecombe
Franklin

Announced Jobs

Co
un

ty

Manufacturing

113



Town of Zebulon | Economic Development Strategic Plan | April 2024        59 

 
Chart 19; Source: EDPNC

Conclusion
This section of the Environmental Assessment provides a comprehensive analysis of the Eastern 
Triangle Region's economic ecosystems and demographics to help Zebulon better understand the 
strengths and opportunities within its neighboring markets. The Eastern Triangle Region exhibits a 
shift from traditional industries to a more diversified and modern economic landscape. 
Manufacturing, including advanced manufacturing and biopharmaceuticals, plays a significant role 
in these counties' economies. Collaborations between local governments, workforce development 
boards, and employers have been instrumental in driving innovation and economic prosperity.  
 
In addition, below are some areas that Zebulon can consider as they continue the process of 
constructing a comprehensive Economic Development strategy:  
 
Economic Diversification: Counties in the Eastern Triangle Region are actively diversifying their 
economies away from traditional sectors like tobacco, textiles, and agriculture toward more modern 
industries, such as advanced manufacturing, biopharmaceuticals, and technology. In addition, each 
county offers diversity of industries, ranging from manufacturing to healthcare, agribusiness, and 
finance.  
 
Strong, Growing Industry Clusters: The Eastern Triangle Region has three notable industry 
clusters with high amounts of new, capital investment and jobs in recent years: food, beverage, and 
agriculture; chemicals, plastics, and rubber; and biopharmaceuticals, pharmaceuticals, and life 
sciences. These clusters have seen steady growth and represent potential areas of future 
exploration for Zebulon.  
 
Manufacturing: Manufacturing overwhelmingly dominates economic development projects in the 
region, aligned with the top industry clusters. Wilson County can also be noted for its distribution 
warehouse projects. 
 
Access to Transportation Networks: Many of these counties emphasize their access to reliable 
transportation networks, including highways and railways. This accessibility is crucial for the 
distribution of goods and services, making them attractive for manufacturing and distribution 
industries.  
 
Education, Workforce Development & Collaboration: Consistent with the entire Research 
Triangle region, the Eastern Triangle Region has prioritized partnerships between local 

 -  50  100  150  200  250

Wilson

Nash

Franklin

Announced Jobs
Co

un
ty

Distribution Warehouse

114



Town of Zebulon | Economic Development Strategic Plan | April 2024        60 

governments, workforce boards, educational institutions, and employers, ensuring a skilled 
workforce tailored to the needs of their local industries and providing opportunities for career 
advancement with their existing populations. These types of collaborations ensure a thriving 
business ecosystem and help drive innovation.  

Demographics: Zebulon has experienced significant and accelerated population growth in recent 
years and is an outlier in comparison to its neighbors. In addition, Zebulon has a diverse population 

-racial communities as well as Black or 
African American and foreign-born residents, re-emphasizing the need for understanding potential 
barriers and creating equitable and inclusive strategies that support minority populations. These 
demographics trend more in line with portions of the Eastern Triangle Region, than with Wake 
County & Raleigh.  
 
In conclusion, this section of the Environmental Assessment highlights the dynamic economic 
landscape of the Eastern Triangle Region and underscores the importance of economic 
diversification, industry clusters, workforce development, and demographic considerations as 
Zebulon charts its path forward. Embracing these insights will enable Zebulon to develop a robust 
and inclusive Economic Development strategy that capitalizes on its unique strengths and fosters 
sustainable growth in alignment with its regional counterparts. 
  

115



Town of Zebulon | Economic Development Strategic Plan | April 2024        61 

Commercial and Industrial 
Assessment 

Introduction
The following commercial and industrial assessment is a component of the Town of Zebulon’s year-
long process to develop a comprehensive Economic Development Strategy, creating an intentional 
and actionable plan that allows for a healthy economic ecosystem and smart growth for the Town. 

One critical component of a healthy economic ecosystem is a diverse and well-rounded tax base – 
one that is spread between residential, commercial, and industrial activity and investments. Creating 
a strong and diverse tax base allows a town to manage growth and fund critical projects that can 
improve the overall quality of life for residents. The Town of Zebulon has already identified and 
prioritized these components within their Comprehensive Land Use Plan (CLUP), conducted in 2020 
and approved in 2021. The CLUP identified several guiding principles, two of which have been 
identified as especially relevant to this assessment and will remain a strong focus throughout the 
entirety of Zebulon’s Economic Development Strategy. The guiding principles are as follows: 

 Guiding Principle 3#: Zebulon will be balanced. 
Zebulon will seek to be a complete and balanced community as it grows. From an economic 
and tax base standpoint, this relates to having both great neighborhoods and living 
options while also being an attractive host community for major employers and a 
wide array of small businesses. Zebulon also must balance the needs of older, established 
neighborhoods and commercial areas with the necessary management and servicing of 
growth at its edges. 
  

 Guiding Principle #4: Zebulon will be resilient. 
The foundation for a resilient community is a diverse local economy that will continue 
to attract investment and generate jobs over the long term while bolstering the 
Town’s tax base. Zebulon’s economic base must also be able to withstand times of 
recession and avoid over-reliance on one or a few major employers. 

 

To achieve a strategy and vision that incorporates a balanced and resilient community, there is a 
need to assess and explore the commercial and industrial makeup of Zebulon and identify trends 
across the region suitable to incorporate into a future strategy. This assessment will analyze 
Zebulon’s current industrial assets, review land use allocations, and better identify opportunities 
that can create long-term and sustainable opportunities for job creation and capital investment – an 
area that is critical to the overall health of the economic ecosystem of Zebulon. In addition, the 
assessment will incorporate insights into mixed use commercial investments and redevelopments 

116



Town of Zebulon | Economic Development Strategic Plan | April 2024        62 

which can maximize space and allow for residential, commercial, and industrial uses all in one. Data 
on real estate trends across Wake County, as well as targeted industry clusters, will also be 
incorporated into the overall assessment. 
 
The assessment is divided into the following sections: 

 Town of Zebulon’s Commercial and Industrial Landscape 
 Wake County Commercial and Industrial Real Estate Trends 
 Examples of Successful Redevelopments in Wake County 

Town of Zebulon’s Commercial and Industrial 
Landscape
Current Activity 
According to the Zebulon Comprehensive Land Use Plan, the Town was historically known for a 
heavy concentration of commercial and industrial business activity which has since shifted towards 
a now majority residential base. This shift towards residential started to ramp up in 2019 and has 
continued to grow with new housing developments, including subdivisions and multi-family 
construction. In the 2022 Annual Financial Report, the Mayor confirms this shift, stating: “The 
composition of the tax base is shifting from a heavily commercial and industrial base to a more 
residential base with the residential development recently completed and will continue to do so with 
over 2,000 planned and approved residential development on the way.”  
 
We can get a better understanding of this shift and the makeup of Zebulon more holistically by 
reviewing the following information provided within the CLUP and specifically the Future Land Use 
and Character Map (FLUC Map)64 which was approved in 2021. The FLUC Map designates land use 
categories throughout the Town of Zebulon and its extraterritorial jurisdiction (ETJ). The CLUP also 
offers several charts to coincide with the Map (listed below and on page 3), which offer snapshots of 
the acreage and future land use allocation per category.  

Future Land Use Allocation 

 
64 -zebulon_tomorrow_-_map-
future_land_use_and_character_adopted_06.07.21.pdf 

117



Town of Zebulon | Economic Development Strategic Plan | April 2024       63

This pie graph shows the large quantity of 
residential land use allocations (73% of total) 
versus areas like commercial (6.8%), mixed use 
(8.7%) and industrial (9.8%) that could 
accommodate future long-term established 
employers, quality job creation, and avenues for 
increased economic activity. 

Naturally, a growing residential population and 
developments begins to attract commercial 
assets and service providers that can meet the 
day-to-day needs of residents and enhance their 
quality of life. It is clear when driving through the 
Town and looking at real-time development 
activity that Zebulon is seeing the effects. 
According to Zebulon’s Interactive Development 
Map which displays projects going through the 
Town’s development process, in the span of one 
month (January – February 2024), the Town saw 16 
new commercial projects. Examples of some commercial developments on that list are Presto 

Downtown continues to see growth with new business locations, including the Creative Cup coffee 
shop, a bagpipe manufacturing company, and existing business expansions and/or revitalization 
projects, including Norse Brewing which is listed as an active project on the Interactive Development 
Map as well. 

In addition to this commercial activity, which has added benefits to a resident’s quality of life, we will 
pay particular attention in this report to existing employers and the attraction of future employers 
to Zebulon who can offer Zebulon residents quality, long-term job opportunities while adding 
growth and diversity to the Town’s tax base, further enabling the Town to make investments in 
parks, public utilities, and all the critical elements of the Zebulon ecosystem that make it a great 
place to live. 

A critical component in retaining and attracting quality employers (company headquarters, 
research and development facilities, manufacturing, and advanced manufacturing operations, for 
example) to Zebulon is being able to offer competitive land sites and existing buildings that 
can accommodate these types of users. The following sections will review the Town’s land use 
allocation plan to get a sense of what is available and feasible in Zebulon, as well as the types of land 
sites and existing buildings that are in high demand for companies looking to expand and/or re-
locate in Wake County. 

Compiled in the table below (and reflected in the FLUC Map) are 15 categories used to address both 
land use and character, along with their associated acreage. 

1Source: Zebulon Comprehensive Land Use Plan

118



Town of Zebulon | Economic Development Strategic Plan | April 2024       64

Future Land Use and Characteristics Categories

Source: Town of Zebulon Comprehensive Land Use Plan

To obtain a closer look at the categories that will most closely align with real estate trends and 
information presented throughout the rest of this report, we have condensed information from the 
chart above and offered descriptions of those categories that either currently accommodate or will 
accommodate uses like office users, industrial users, mixed use developments, long-term 
established employers, and quality job creation. 

Map Category

Town Extraterritorial 
Jurisdiction

Acres % of 
Total

Acres % of 
Total

Suburban Commercial 107 3.40% 99.4 2.10%

251.6 7.80% 81.8 1.70%

Stadium Area Mixed Use* 47.8 1.50% 284.6 6.00%

Industrial Light 233.5 7.30% 96.6 2.00%

Suburban Business Park 41.4 1.30% 0 0.00%

214.2 6.70% 197.2 4.10%

119



Town of Zebulon | Economic Development Strategic Plan | April 2024        65 

Urban Downtown Core* 7.3 0.20% 0 0.00% 

Urban Downtown Mixed Use* 217 6.80% 141.3 3.00% 

 
The following section offers definitions on the above categories pulled from the CLUP, as well as 
current activities and existing companies found within certain categories:   
 

 The Suburban Commercial classification involves commercial developments that focus on 
preserving “green” and open spaces. The suburban commercial character is achieved 
through preservation of trees or other natural site features, along with generous 
landscaping and can include commercial retail and service uses, multi-story or small-scale 
offices, and medical or research and development facilities, as an example.  

 
 General Commercial (GC) applies to properties utilized for commercial retail, office, and 

service purposes, primarily situated along major roadways within the community to ensure 
-

scale and neighborhood-oriented businesses and can include mixed use developments that 
might incorporate residential components as well. According to the FLUC Map, some of 

ger areas along the US 

 
 

 The Industrial Heavy (IH) characteristic is designed to cater to activities that can have a 
significant impact on neighboring properties, particularly in terms of noise, vibration, light, 
odor, truck traffic, and operating hours. This encompasses both "light" industrial operations 
and more impactful "heavy" industrial activities. Depending on the specific standards set 
forth in development regulations, industrial areas may accommodate a diverse array of 
uses, spanning from office/warehouse spaces to wholesale operations, product assembly, 

US 264 corridor and along the rail line that stretches across the Town of Zebulon from East 
to Southwest. This includes the Triangle East Business Park, home to existing industries like 
Nomaco as well as a 47,000 square foot existing building (formerly Vinventions) and several 

also includes Devil 
from the Triangle East Business Park.  

 
 The Industrial Light characteristics refers to types of operations like warehousing and 

distribution, light manufacturing, processing/assembly, and flex space (office, lab, and 
research and development uses combined) that would not have as high of a disturbance on 
nearby properties when it comes to noise, vibration, odor, truck traffic, etc. Currently 

 
 

 Urban Downtown Core and Urban Downtown Mixed Use: The Urban Downtown Core 
designation typically represents the most densely developed section of a community, 
characterized by extensive building coverage and minimal private development space 

120



Town of Zebulon | Economic Development Strategic Plan | April 2024        66 

allocated for off-street parking and open landscapes. Mixed use developments are 
prevalent, contributing to a vibrant urban environment. Public plazas and pocket parks offer 
green spaces for community gatherings and events, sometimes involving street closures. 
Adjacent to the Urban Downtown Core lies the Urban Downtown Mixed Use area, which 
exhibits a slightly lesser intensity of mixed use development. This zone serves as a 
transitional buffer between the bustling downtown core and neighboring areas primarily 
dedicated to single-family residences or commercial activities. It often hosts complementary 
businesses and amenities such as professional offices, restaurants, and cultural venues, 
maintaining a pedestrian-friendly environment. In July 2023, the Town of Zebulon was 
designated as a North Carolina Main Street Community, a title awarded for the Town’s 
dedication to the improvement of the economic wellbeing of the downtown district. Prior to 
this designation, the Town has spent 3 years participating in programs and receiving 
specialized support from the NC Main Street & Rural Planning Center and the Downtown 
Associate Community. The Town continues to conduct studies and implement programs that 
are specific to the revitalization and growth of the Downtown area.65  

 
 The Stadium Area Mixed Use characteristic, according to the CLUP, is tailored for Five 

County Stadium and its vicinity, demanding special focus to protect a community asset and 
identify a high-value use. In addition, there are traffic and noise concerns (for example, 
concerts, fireworks, and peak arrival and departure traffic flows) that are specific to this area 
and will be considered for future developments. The stadium is predominantly surrounded 
by non-residential areas, with the presence of a US Foods distribution facility and a 
wastewater treatment facility nearby. Specific development opportunities for Five County 
Stadium are detailed in a 10-page section of the CLUP. The study envisions the area 
becoming a vibrant destination, characterized by walkability and a blend of hospitality, 
entertainment, and recreational amenities. 

 
 
While the residential activity has proven to be a positive for the overall recent growth of the Town 
and has attracted commercial assets and service providers, it does place emphasis on the need to 
create a strategic vision and intentional plan for the smaller pockets of mixed use and industrial land 
use allocations across the Town, ensuring best and highest uses to achieve the goal of a balanced 
and resilient community. Data provided in the next two sections on real estate trends and 
redevelopment projects across Wake County will add some perspective into the types of real estate 
projects that are in high demand for companies looking to expand and/or relocate in Wake County 
and that would fit within the current CLUP characteristics identified above.  
 
 
 
 
 
 
*Although there will be themes identified within this report that can be incorporated into future downtown and Five-County Stadium 
development considerations, the Urban Downtown Core, Urban Downtown Mixed Use and Stadium Area Mixed Use categories and 
characteristics have either been studied in the recent past (via the NC Main Street Program or 10-page layout in CLUP) or are in the 
process of undergoing in-depth analysis in the future.  

 
65 https://www.commerce.nc.gov/news/press-releases/2023/07/10/three-communities-selected-nc-main-street-programs  

121



Town of Zebulon | Economic Development Strategic Plan | April 2024        67 

Wake County Commercial and Industrial Real 
Estate Trends 
Capturing the Momentum 
The State of North Carolina and the Research Triangle Region have consistently remained a top 
location for new and expanding businesses and continue to receive national attention as a top state 
and region for doing business. In 2022 and 2023, North Carolina was ranked the #1 Top State for 
Business by CNBC and the Raleigh Metropolitan Area was named #3 Best Business Climate in 
Business Facilities Annual Rankings as well as the #1 Place to Start a Small Business by LendingTree. 
It is also worth noting that the Research Triangle Region continues to be a resilient location, 
experiencing growth when other major metropolitan areas have struggled. During the height of the 
pandemic, Wake County, the largest county in the Research Triangle Region, had historic company 
announcements, including the location of a future $1B campus and engineering hub planned by 
Apple, as well as Fujifilm’s announcement to invest $2B in a manufacturing facility. Both company 
locations bring with them thousands of new jobs and new, taxable investments to their respective 
communities that will make positive impacts for decades to come. In addition, developers across the 
region continue to put their trust in the community’s continued growth and economic strength by 
planning new industrial campuses and redeveloping spaces for better and higher uses.  
 
In addition to the strengths of our market that make companies more attracted to the region – 
talent, lower operating costs, business friendly governments, access to innovation, etc. – is the ability 
to offer the right type of real estate products that are being sought by companies seeking new 
locations or expansion opportunities. Understanding real estate trends and the industry clusters 
associated with the trends will be important criteria to incorporate into a long-term commercial and 
industrial real estate strategy for the Town of Zebulon. These criteria can enable the recruitment of 
new business to the Town, ultimately increasing the Town’s ability to create new, quality jobs for its 
residents and diversifying and growing the Town’s tax base through new, capital investments made 
by those businesses.   
 

The Data 
To better understand current real estate trends, the following sections will review Wake County 
Economic Development’s 2022 Annual Trends Report which incorporates data on 150 projects 
received from January-December 2022. In addition, data provided by the Town of Zebulon will be 
analyzed for project activity occurring over a 12-month period between February 2023-January 2024. 
Data from the Town of Zebulon will review 42 projects received that have an Existing Building 
request of 150,000 square feet or less and projects requesting 25 acres of land or less.  
 
Data from the WCED Annual Trend Report and the Town of Zebulon reflect opportunities 
represented by businesses who are considering a new location or an expansion of an existing 
location in Wake County. Most, if not all, of the project activity data reviewed takes into 
consideration the industry in which the company operates and their real estate requirements 
(existing buildings vs. sites and more).   

122



Town of Zebulon | Economic Development Strategic Plan | April 2024        68 

Project Space Requests by Real Estate Type 
According to the 2022 Annual Report, Existing Buildings represent 50% of all types of real estate 
requests, with Sites (acres of land zoned for industrial or commercial use) or Both (Existing Buildings 
& Sites in the same request) representing 27% and 23%, respectively.  
 

 
 
Similarly (although the pool of data is smaller), the 2023 Zebulon project data shows 61% of projects 
are requesting Existing Buildings, with much smaller percentages reflected for Sites (23%) and Both 
(16%).  

 
Wake County Economic Development’s 2022 report also provides data on project space requests by 
real estate types dating back to 2017. The data shows that Existing Buildings have been the most 
popular real estate type for companies who are considering a relocation or expansion. Existing 
Buildings can offer companies a more efficient method for entering a market, often saving them 
time and money. Developers have learned ways to offer shell buildings (base structures [walls, 
ceilings, and floors]) which allow companies the flexibility to up-fit the building in a way that is 
specific to their processes and industry standards.   

61%

50%

23%

23%

16%

27%

0% 100%

2023

2022

Project Space Requests by Real Estate Type

Existing Site Both
2022 Source: 2022 WCED Annual Trends Report

2023 Source: Town of Zebulon, Project Data

123



Town of Zebulon | Economic Development Strategic Plan | April 2024       69

Existing Buildings by Property Type
The Annual Report takes it a step further by narrowing in on Existing Building criteria, including the 
following property type categories requested: Industrial (typically includes uses like Manufacturing, 
Warehouse/Distribution, Assembly, Processing, etc.), Flex (typically includes warehouse or 
manufacturing space, office, and retail/amenities) and Office.   

2022 Existing Building Requests by Type

Source: WCED 2022 Annual Trend Report

Industrial Buildings have remained the predominant property type for existing building requests 
since 2017. In 2022, as represented in the chart above, 52% of all Existing Building requests were for 
industrial buildings. Of note is a consistent share of “Flex” space being requested. Flex is a type of 
build-out that accommodates industrial uses such as advanced manufacturing, ag-tech, and bio-tech 
industries, while also incorporating office space, lab space, and increased amenities. In 2022, Flex 
Space accounted for 41% of all Existing Building requests. 

124



Town of Zebulon | Economic Development Strategic Plan | April 2024       70

Existing Buildings by Size 
The 2022 WCED Annual Report on project activity also showed that the top 3 most requested square 
footage for existing buildings fell within the following ranges (also depicted in the graph below): 
25,000-49,000 square feet, Less than 25,000 square feet, and 100,000-199,000 square feet.  

2022 Existing Building Request by Square Feet

Source: WCED 2022 Annual Trend Report

2023 data provided by the Town of Zebulon reflects a similar trend, with 39% of all existing building 
requests falling within the range of Less than 25,000 square feet and 24% represented by both 
50,000-99,000 and 100,000-150,000 square foot requests.  

2023 Existing Building Requests by Square Feet

Source: Town of Zebulon, Project Data
As Zebulon continues to refine a strategy for attracting new businesses to the Town, the data 
presented above on existing buildings, as well as future reports that are published by Wake County 
Economic Development, will be important criteria to review and utilize when determining the 
development or redevelopment of buildings. This data will be important to reference and utilize in 

125



Town of Zebulon | Economic Development Strategic Plan | April 2024       71

meetings with developers and other stakeholders to identify the real estate products for the Town 
that will be attractive and in-demand for companies exploring the market.  

Site Requests
When we shift from existing building requests and analyze site requests from companies who are 
exploring expansion opportunities, we see from the below chart that the companies represented by 
these projects are seeking smaller sites (less than 25 acres), accounting for 41% of all site requests in 
2022. This is consistent with data from 2021, which showed 57% of all site requests fell within the 
“Less than 25 acres” category.  

Site Requests by Acreage & Type

Source: 2022 WCED Annual Trend Report

When we review 2023 data from the Town of Zebulon, we see that for all sites requested that were 
25 acres or less, there is not a very large differential between each division of acres, apart from 
requests for “1-9 Acres,” which only represented two project requests. 

2023 Site Requests by Acreage

Source: Town of Zebulon Project Data

126



Town of Zebulon | Economic Development Strategic Plan | April 2024       72

While in recent years we have seen a trend in larger sites being requested for emerging industries 
like electric vehicle manufacturing or large-scale biomanufacturing operations, most companies are 
still seeking smaller plots of land for high-quality expansion projects. This is good news for the Town 
of Zebulon, considering the current makeup of available land plots trend towards the “Less than 25 
acres” category that we see in the data. 

Industry
While real estate data is important to review, it is also important for the Town to understand the 
industries associated with the real estate requests. The following 2022 and 2023 charts display data 
that will be useful in Zebulon’s continued economic development strategy. 

The first chart referenced below, “2022 Industry Types by Real Estate, Investment and Jobs” is 
referenced within the WCED 2022 Annual Trends Report and breaks down real estate trends per 
targeted industry cluster identified by Wake County Economic Development, which include the 
following:

Advanced Manufacturing
Life Sciences, Biotech

Software/IT 

According to WCED, although Wake County has a diverse economy, certain industries stand out due 
to factors such as a highly educated talent pool, innovation, and effective collaboration between 
academia, government, and industry. Specifically, the industries listed above and in the chart below 
are identified as Target Industry Clusters within the county. With economic development programs 
in place and robust industry networks, these sectors provide unique advantages to companies 
operating within these industries. 

2022 Industry Types by Real Estate, Investment and Jobs

Source: WCED 2022 Annual Trends Report

127



Town of Zebulon | Economic Development Strategic Plan | April 2024       73

The next two charts are compiled from the 2023 Town of Zebulon project data which, as mentioned 
in the introduction, includes project data occurring over a 12-month period between February 2023-
January 2024. Data from the Town of Zebulon indicates 42 projects received that have an Existing 
Building request of 150,000 square feet or less and projects requesting 25 acres of land or less. The 
data provided by Zebulon includes a wider range of industries, including the following additions not 
referenced in WCED’s 2022 report: “Manufacturing, Other”, “Energy, Renewable Energy,” “Textiles, 
Manufacturing,” and “Food Manufacturing.” 

2023 Industry Types by Real Estate

Source: Town of Zebulon Project Data

2023 Number of Project Requests by Industry

Source: Town of Zebulon Project Data

When we consider Zebulon’s existing industrial and commercial makeup, while also analyzing 
property request trends, it would be advantageous for Zebulon to consider data included in the 
charts above when identifying target industries and associated industrial and commercial strategies 
that would be of best and highest use for the Town. 

128



Town of Zebulon | Economic Development Strategic Plan | April 2024        74 

For example, consider the following breakdown of the Advanced Manufacturing and Life Sciences 
industry data: 
 

Advanced Manufacturing
2022:  

 69% requesting Existing Buildings 
 Average Building Square Foot Minimum: 70,000 
 Average Building Square Foot Maximum: 110,000 
 Average Acres Requested: 20 (Minimum); 36 (Maximum) 
 Jobs: 190  
 Capital Investment: $43M (2nd highest of all industries) 

 
2023:  

 69% requesting Existing Buildings 
 Average Square Feet Requested: 50,000  
 Average Acres Requested: 17 
 Largest frequency of requests (16 of 43 total projects)  

 
For both years, we see the Advanced Manufacturing industry is predominantly seeking Existing 
Buildings. We can also gain perspective on the size of the buildings and understand this is already a 
successful and supported industry within Wake County (as an existing targeted industry) and proves 
to be an industry that is continuing to seek real estate properties for expansions and new locations 
(37% of all projects in Zebulon’s data were represented by this industry). Based on 2022 data, we can 
see there are a high number of new job and capital investment opportunities associated with this 
industry, while not requiring a very large real estate footprint.  
 
According to Wake County Economic Development, there are over 300 companies operating within 

and more. With more advanced technologies needed to succeed in this industry, Wake County 
provides specializations in IoT, data analytics, software development, and robotics that allow 
Advanced Manufacturing companies to have a competitive advantage. In addition, this industry has 
access to some of the best talent in the nation with educational programs catered towards 
Manufacturing starting with the K-12 system. This continues to be a healthy and growing industry 
for Wake County.66 
 

Life Sciences 
2022: 

 75% requesting Existing Buildings 
 Average Building Square Foot Minimum: 55,000 
 Average Building Square Foot Maximum: 90,000 
 Average Acres Requested: 25 (Minimum); 50 (Maximum) 
 Jobs: 250 (2nd highest of all industries) 
 Capital Investment: $120M (highest of all industries) 

 

 
66 https://raleigh-wake.org/target-industries/advanced-manufacturing 

129



Town of Zebulon | Economic Development Strategic Plan | April 2024        75 

2023: 
 50% requesting Existing Buildings 
 Average Square Feet Requested: 75,000  
 Average Acres Requested: 15 

 
In 2022, 75% of Life Science projects were requesting Existing Buildings. For 2023, in our smaller 
pool of data, that percentage is at 50%, with the other half requesting an average land plot of 15 
acres. The size of existing buildings being requested is comparable to the Advanced Manufacturing 
industry, with a minimum and maximum average request of 55,000 and 90,000, respectively, in 2022 
and an average square footage request of 75,000 for our smaller pool of data in 2023.  The Life 
Sciences sector, on average, has the highest capital investment amount ($120 million) and the 
second highest amount of jobs per project (250 average new jobs) in 2022 data. 
 
Although frequency of requests within the 2023 Zebulon data is smaller with only two project 
requests represented in our data pool, this industry is a legacy industry for the Research Triangle 
Region and has consistently ranked among the top 5 hubs in the US, competing with major cities like 
Boston, San Diego, and San Francisco. North Carolina and the Research Triangle Region have been 
pioneers in this field for over 50 years, starting with the establishment of Research Triangle Park, 
which has facilitated deliberate and strategic industry growth. In fact, in January 2024, global real 

to an article published by the North Carolina Biotechnology Center, JLL stated the following as to 
why they chose the Triangle region in their study: 
 
 

“As there is more pressure than ever to speed up the drug development process, 
Raleigh-Durham is uniquely positioned to meet the need. With a rich history of large-
scale biomanufacturing in the Research Triangle Park and the market’s outlying counties, 
a critical mass of workers is present. Research and development from the market’s three 
tier-one universities has facilitated an emerging lab market. Bridging the gap is a healthy 
pipeline of pilot manufacturing real estate with plenty of land, a growing talent base and 
an increasingly favorable business environment to catalyze the entirety of the drug 
development life cycle.”67

 
 
The Life Sciences industry has also been a popular target for redevelopment projects across the 
Triangle which have proven to be successful in the recruitment of life sciences companies. The next 
section will dive further into those project examples.  
 
 

 

 
67 https://www.ncbiotech.org/news/jll-names-research-triangle-nations-top-biomanufacturing-hub 

130



Town of Zebulon | Economic Development Strategic Plan | April 2024        76 

Targeted Industries 
Cultivating a diverse local economy is a goal for Zebulon, and identifying targeted industries for the 
Town’s proactive efforts will help achieve this goal. We recommend that more proactive 
marketing efforts focus on Life Sciences, Food Manufacturing, and Advanced Manufacturing. 
Data presented in this report and the Environmental Assessment can be used to tell a compelling 
story as to why companies within these industries would find a supportive and competitive 
environment by locating in the Town of Zebulon.  
 
In addition, we recommend a more passive approach with two of Wake County’s targeted 
industries: Smart Grid/CleanTechnology and Headquarters. While there is more to be gained 
from focusing resources and efforts on Life Sciences, Food Manufacturing, and Advanced 
Manufacturing, Zebulon can consider opportunities that are presented from Smart 

taking into consideration the following 
information: 
 

 – typically requires a larger footprint and would require a more 
focused marketing strategy.  

 – Wake County Economic Development is putting forth effort to recruit more 
headquarters to the County, so Zebulon may see the effects of this in the future. Some 
municipalities within the county are creating a clause within their incentive policies that is 

explore.  
 
Finally, Shared Services/Call Centers and Software/IT industries do not warrant a heavy focus for 
Zebulon due to the industry’s higher demands for traditional office space. These industries are more 
likely to locate in areas throughout the Triangle that have existing Class A or Class B office buildings. 
 

Best and Highest Use of Inventory
As of January 2024, Zebulon has a very small amount of inventory to recruit businesses. Zebulon has 
small parcels of land that have either been sold to multiple owners or listed for sale. There are not 
currently viable pieces of property for the Town to individually pursue for future industrial 
developments. There is one piece of land in the industrial park, and one or two vacant buildings that 
should be marketed for uses that fall within the target industries. We recommend any future 
buildings that become available due to an employer leaving are met with a strong marketing 
and recruitment strategy to fill the space with the targeted industries that the Town has 
identified. 

We recommend that Zebulon agree to a targeted industry list and then build out a marketing 
strategy that tells the story of why Zebulon is an ideal location for business. By promoting this 
story to stakeholders, partners, and the local developer community, Zebulon can secure interest and 
buy-in, with the goal that the right investments can be made for building new product or 
redeveloping buildings and sites that can house future employers. It is essential for Zebulon to 

131



Town of Zebulon | Economic Development Strategic Plan | April 2024        77 

understand the real estate demands of each industry so that developers build the right type of 
space for future employers and not simply build with the unfortunate outcome of vacant space. 

132



Town of Zebulon | Economic Development Strategic Plan | April 2024       78

Redevelopment Project Examples in Wake 
County
As we have seen from the real estate data in this report, there is a high demand for existing, 
industrial, and flex buildings for companies who are looking to relocate or expand their business in 
Wake County. One way that economic development partners and developers are taking advantage 
of this demand is through creative redevelopment projects. This section presents examples of those 
successful projects across the Research Triangle Region that would be advantageous for the Town of 
Zebulon to explore further as they build their strategy and vision for future commercial and 
industrial opportunities across the Town.

The Stitch

Source: Gensler

Former Outlet Mall in Morrisville turned into State-of-the-Art Genetic Testing 
Facility
In 2019, Equator Capital Management acquired the Morrisville Outlet Mall and revealed its plan to 
transform the structure into a distinctive office environment named "The Stitch."68 The project 
seamlessly combined repurposing efforts with a goal to enhance facilities through the 
redevelopment of the Morrisville Outlet Mall. In collaboration with Equator Capital Management and 

- of revitalizing both the building and its 
surroundings. The project's name, "The Stitch," reflects the transparent communal space that 
effectively "stitches" the entire site together. This shared area fosters a sense of community, 
collaboration, and innovation. Additionally, a comprehensive indoor and outdoor amenity program 

68 https://www.gensler.com/projects/the-stitch

133



Town of Zebulon | Economic Development Strategic Plan | April 2024        79 

was strategically implemented to optimize leasing and revenue goals for the project.69 In April of 
2021, Invitae, a leading life sciences genetic testing company, announced plans to open a new facility 
in Morrisville, North Carolina, using the former outlet mall and “The Stitch” as its base for a state-of-
the-art genetic testing facility including lab, warehouse and office space.  Invitae's new 175,000 
square foot East Coast facility is a state-of-the-art laboratory and production space with advanced 
features such as heavy mechanical support, extensive cold storage capabilities, uninterruptible 
power supply, and flexible infrastructure. The design emphasizes ultimate flexibility, allowing easy 
reconfiguration of equipment to adapt to evolving scientific processes and workflow changes. 

compressed dry air package, the facility 
minimizes the need for infrastructure modifications as Invitae's programs evolve. The workspace 
also prioritizes employee experience with amenities like a coffee bar, café, gym, and courtyards, 
creating an energetic environment that transforms the former retail mall space.70 
 
 

 
 

Before 
Outlet mall food court prior to transition to flex and warehouse space. 

 
Source: 35° North 

After 

 
69 https://www.kimley-horn.com/project/rtp-redevelopment-project-the-stitch/  
70 https://www.35n.com/insights/how-invitae-turned-a-former-mall-into-laboratory-production-center/ 

 Previous Use: Outlet Mall 
 Current Use: Life Sciences, Research & Development, Office Space, Amenity & 

Recreational Space 
 Timeline: 2019-2022 (estimate) 
 Square Footage: 245,000 Square Feet (redeveloped building space); 25 acres 

Partners on Project*: Equator Capital Management Group, Kimley Horne, Gensler, 35 
North, Invitae 

134



Town of Zebulon | Economic Development Strategic Plan | April 2024       80

Former outlet mall after the transition to Invitae’s flex and warehouse space.

Source: 35° North

Source: Worthington Images via ENR

Source: 35° North

135



Town of Zebulon | Economic Development Strategic Plan | April 2024       81

The Midtown BioCenter

Source: Arco Design/Build

Former Kroger Grocery Store in Raleigh, Redeveloped into Life Sciences 
BioCenter

The shopping center, previously featuring a Kroger grocery store at the crossroads of Six Forks Road 
and Wake Forest Road in Raleigh, NC, has undergone a 14-month redevelopment. It has been 
transformed into the Midtown BioCenter, encompassing 80,000 square feet for lab and 
manufacturing space and an additional 20,000 square feet dedicated to offices. Currently, the entire 
100,000 square foot site is occupied by Targan, an Ag-Tech company that produces high-speed, 
automated systems – like vaccine systems – to humanely maximize livestock production without 
using chemicals or antibiotics71.

71 https://wraltechwire.com/2023/09/12/life-science-facility-opens-in-old-raleigh-grocery-store/

Previous Use: Grocery store
Current Use: Ag-Tech, Life Sciences, Research & Development, Manufacturing.
Timeline: November 2021-December 2022
Square Footage: 100,000 Square Feet (redeveloped building space)
Partners on Project: CBRE | Raleigh, East West Partners, ARCO Design/Build, Redline 
Design Group, TARGAN (https://wolfmediausa.com/2022/08/09/news-release-upcoming-midtown-biocenter-fully-
leased-to-morrisville-based-life-sciences-company/ )

136



Town of Zebulon | Economic Development Strategic Plan | April 2024       82

Before

Source: Google. Image Capture Date: February 2022

After

137



Town of Zebulon | Economic Development Strategic Plan | April 2024       83

Source: Arco Design Build

138



Town of Zebulon | Economic Development Strategic Plan | April 2024        84 

INQ 1101

 
Source: LoopNet 

Former Sam’s Club in Morrisville redeveloped for Class A office space, 
advanced manufacturing, and life science tenants 
In December 2018, Mainstreet acquired a 140,000 square foot building in Morrisville, North Carolina, 
that was previously a Sam's Club. The company proceeded to rezone the building for office use and 
completed its full renovation by the summer of 2020. Situated on the outskirts of the Research 
Triangle Region, Mainstreet intentionally adapted the office space to offer flexibility for life science 
tenants. As the demand for COVID vaccines surged, the fully leased building was eventually sold at a 
profit in 202172. 
Currently, the space is fully leased to Schneider Electric (65,000 square feet) operating in the Smart 
Technology/Clean Technology space and Azzur Cleanrooms (75,000 square feet), a life sciences 
company offering on-demand cleanrooms, advisory and consulting services for early-phase 
manufacturing73.  
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
72 https://www.mainstreetcapital.com/featuredassets/inq1101  
73 https://www.citybiz.co/article/72854/jll-and-mainstreet-capital-partners-close-deal-with-azzur-
cleanrooms-on-demand-at-inq-1101/  

 Previous Use: Warehouse Club; Retail Store 
 Current Use: Advanced Manufacturing, Office Space, Life Sciences, Research & 

Development 
 Timeline: December 2018-June 2021 
 Square Footage: 140,000 Square Feet (redeveloped building space) 
 Partners on Project: Mainstreet Capital Partners, JLL, DRA Advisors 

139



Town of Zebulon | Economic Development Strategic Plan | April 2024       85

Before

Source: JLL

After

140



Town of Zebulon | Economic Development Strategic Plan | April 2024        86 

Source: LoopNet  

141



Town of Zebulon | Economic Development Strategic Plan | April 2024       87

Raleigh Iron Works

Source: Raleigh Iron Works

Historic mills and warehouse buildings converted into a mixed use campus.
Raleigh Iron Works, honored with the TCREW Champion Awards Best Redevelopment Project of the 
year, has successfully converted historic mills and warehouse buildings into a diverse mixed use 

Person Street, and Mordecai neighborhoods in Raleigh, this 200,000 square foot development 
showcases creative office spaces, retail establishments, and covered parking, all designed with a 
contemporary industrial flair. Retaining numerous original elements like exposed structures and 
existing concrete, the project also offers outdoor amenities such as built-in fireplaces, courtyards, 
and secluded terraces. Adding a touch of whimsy, the unique development includes an adult slide 
connecting the second floor of the Dou 74.

74 Triangle CREW

Previous Use: Former Peden Street and includes two historic warehouse structures 
that were re-purposed for modern uses
Current Use: The district includes office, residential, retail, and parking and connects to 
an adjected adaptive reuse warehouse project, creating a creative hub near downtown 
Raleigh
Timeline: 2021-2023
Square Footage: 26-acre site; 116,000 square feet of office and retail space and 83,000 
square feet of adaptive reuse of an existing steel production facility and mill and 
features commercial office and ground-level retail, office space, and covered parking
Partners on Project: Grubb Ventures, Stewart Inc., Jameson Properties, Cline Design 
Associates, LS3P, S9 Architecture (https://stewartinc.com/portfolio-post/raleigh-iron-
works/)

142



Town of Zebulon | Economic Development Strategic Plan | April 2024       88

Gateway Plaza

Source: Gateway Plaza

Former Winn-Dixie reimagined and redeveloped into retail and office, mixed 
use space

square feet on the outskirts of downtown Raleigh. The shopping center once anchored by Winn-
Dixie has undergone substantial redevelopment to emerge as a focal point for the nearby 
residential neighborhoods and beyond75.

-working space, retail shops, restaurants, 
breweries, art galleries and more76. 

75 https://northpond.com/portfolio/gateway-plaza/
76 https://www.gatewayplazaraleigh.com/

Previous Use: Grocery store
Current Use: Office and retail
Timeline: 2017-2019
Square Footage: 75,000 Square Feet
Partners on Project: Loden Properties

143



Town of Zebulon | Economic Development Strategic Plan | April 2024       89

INQ 4300

Before | After:

Source: Google; Image Capture: February 2018 
Source: CommercialEdge

Abandoned Kmart in Garner, purchased for life science redevelopment

transformation into life science space. Florida-based Mainstreet Capital Partners and a fund 
managed by New York-based DRA Advisors have jointly acquired the property at 4300 Fayetteville 
Road for $14.25 million. The 180,017 square foot building, constructed in 1994 on 26.73 acres, was 
anchored by Kmart until 2013 and currently has an assessed value of $7.3 million. Mainstreet Capital 
Partners and DRA Advisors, known for their collaboration in transforming a former Sam’s Club into 

e 
laboratory and production areas, a revamped building façade, a new roof, and outdoor amenity 
spaces, with the renovations expected to be completed by the end of the summer. Peter Tonon, a 
partner at Mainstreet Capital Partners, expressed anticipation for bringing their vision to life.77

77

Previous Use: Grocery store 
Current Use: Life Sciences (Laboratory, production, outdoor amenities) 
Timeline: December 2021-August 2022 (Shell Completed; ready for tenant upfit)
Square Footage: 180,000 SF
Partners on Project: Mainstreet Capital Partners, DRA Advisors, JLL

144



Town of Zebulon | Economic Development Strategic Plan | April 2024        90 

Conclusion and Implications for Zebulon 
Smaller amounts of land allocations for commercial and industrial uses in the Town of Zebulon will 
require a targeted and strategic approach to achieve the guiding principles laid out within the 
Comprehensive Land Use Plan that are focused on being balanced and resilient. Balance will be 
achieved by having both great neighborhoods and living options, while also being an attractive host 
community for employers and a wide array of small businesses. Being resilient will be achieved 
through a diverse local economy that will continue to attract investment and generate jobs over the 
long term, while bolstering the Town’s tax base.  
 
As Zebulon continues to refine a strategy for attracting new business and industry to the Town, the 
data presented in this report on commercial and industrial real estate trends, as well as future 
reports that are published by Wake County Economic Development, will be important criteria to 
review and utilize when determining the development or redevelopment of assets within the Town. 
This data, along with a clear vision, will need to be communicated to developers and stakeholders 
who will be partners to the Town in executing commercial and industrial real estate projects that will 
serve as attractive options for future employers of the Town of Zebulon.  
 
 

  

145



Town of Zebulon | Economic Development Strategic Plan | April 2024        91 

Vision Development
Vision: Zebulon will foster an inclusive, vibrant, diverse, and sustainable economy. Zebulon will be a 
regional player that prioritizes intentional and responsible growth while retaining the Town's unique 
charm and character. 

The Community Workgroup’s shaped insights from the stakeholder engagement findings into the 
vision statement. The vision components below provide further detail on the meaning of the vision. 

 Big Town Economy, Small Town Feel 
o Smart growth
o Anticipation of future growth (transportation and utility improvements) 
o Location (central convergence point) 
o Retain unique charm and character  

 Regional Player 
o Regional collaboration 
o Attract and retain businesses 
o Recruit new industries 
o Regional economic influence 
o Zebulon does not need to be all things to all people 

  
o Agrarian roots 
o Rich history 

 Inclusive, Vibrant, and Diverse 
o Mitigate displacement and gentrification 
o Connectivity and walkability 
o Entertainment, full-service restaurants, and shopping 
o People of all races, socioeconomic groups, ages, education levels, cultures, and 

beliefs  
 Sustainable 

o Affordable and workforce housing 
o Executive housing 
o Balanced mix of residential development 
o Attractive, but not cheap, place to live 

  

146



Town of Zebulon | Economic Development Strategic Plan | April 2024        92 

Public Engagement 
Overview 

The Town of Zebulon gathered resident opinions and used those insights to inform this economic 
development strategic plan. Brief descriptions of the various public engagement activities are shown 
below, with the full summaries linked to later in the Appendix. 
 

Community Cafés 
Between October and November 2023, the Town held three community cafés where the public 
could express their opinions, concerns, and preferences on issues related to economic 
development. Almost 100 community members participated in the three events. 

One major theme reflected in the café responses is participants’ desire for community 
development, creating assets that benefit the people who live in Zebulon and improving their 
quality of life. There was an overall preference to make the experience of living in Zebulon better 
and more complete without the need to commute out of town for amenities such as healthcare and 
recreation. Another key theme was maintaining the small-town character. Overall themes from the 
cafés have been summarized below. 

 Infrastructure 
o Public Transportation 

 Interconnecting Zebulon 
 Connecting Zebulon to the surrounding areas 
 Creating awareness and accessibility for all communities and abilities 

 Services for the elderly and those with accessibility challenges 
o Roads and Pathways 

 Reducing traffic in Zebulon 
 Improved streets 
 Improved, safe walkability 
 Sidewalks, bike lanes, and greenways  

o Utilities: Water, sewer, electricity, Wi-Fi  
 More and Better Amenities and Businesses 

o Entertainment and Recreation: Youth and family-specific, activity center, arcade, 
movie theater, skate park, bowling, pool/aquatic center 

o  
 Primary care and family doctors 
 Mental health services 
 Orthodontists and dentists 
 Physical therapists  

147



Town of Zebulon | Economic Development Strategic Plan | April 2024        93 

o Restaurants 
 More options and variety 
 Sit-down, not just fast food 
 Food hall 

o Exercise and Sports: YMCA, evening fitness classes, gym, pool, pickleball  
o  

 Butcher, baker, and other specialty shops 
 Lidl, Publix, and Aldi  

 Improved Quality of Life 
o Education and Training 

 More schools; a high school 
 Entrepreneurship program 
 Workforce development 
 Access to Wake Tech  

o  
 Affordable, accessible, and quality 
 Policies to prevent relocation due to gentrification 
 More variety (55 and older, temporary, accessory dwelling units, etc.)  

 More and Better Jobs 
o More variety (full-time, entry-level, possibility for advancement, flexible, remote) 
o Better pay 
o More accessible jobs (public transportation) 
o Opportunities for youth employment 

 Town Support  
o -stop-shop” resource 
o start-ups 
o Streamlined government processes (like with permit approval) 
o Accessible and well-communicated resources and public services 

 

Community Survey
An online survey was opened to the public to gather information on resident economic development 
opinions and preferences. The survey was offered in English and Spanish and had a total of 151 
responses.  

 People live in Zebulon for… 
o  
o Family ties 
o  
o Local character/charm 
o Ability to commute to jobs outside of Zebulon 

 People want more… 
o Full-service restaurants 
o  
o Entertainment 

 Priorities for future growth and development… 
o Attainable/affordable housing options 

148



Town of Zebulon | Economic Development Strategic Plan | April 2024        94 

o More entertainment options 
o Developing Downtown 

 Priorities for jobs… 
o Technology/Information Technology 
o Service Industry 
o  
o  

 How the Town can help… 
o Limiting overdevelopment 
o Affordable housing 
o Affordability and funding 
o Avoid gentrification  

 

Staff Design Thinking Retreat
In December 2023, a staff design-thinking retreat was held with members of Zebulon town staff, 
Zebulon community members, and Wake County staff. Participants reviewed the findings of the 
community cafés, survey, and Environmental Analysis. Participants also engaged in design-thinking 
to better understand how community members and business interact with the Town on economic 
development issues and strategize how to improve these interactions. 
 

Community Workgroup 
In February and March 2024, three community workgroup sessions were held with members of 
Zebulon’s economic development space. Workgroup members reviewed the work of the previous 
community engagement events and use this information to propose and develop the economic 
development strategic plan’s vision, focus areas, and priorities. 

 

149



Town of Zebulon | Economic Development Strategic Plan | April 2024       95

Community Cafés Summary

Introduction
The Town of Zebulon engaged Fountainworks to help host community cafés where the public could 
express their opinions, concerns, and preferences on issues related to economic development. Three 
community cafés were conducted between October and November 2023 with 87 people participating 
across all three events.  This document summarizes the information gathered from the three 
community cafés to continue to inform and guide the development of the Town’s economic 
development strategic plan. More comprehensive results from each café can be found in their respective 
reports.

The Town of Zebulon is dedicated to gathering 
citizen opinions and using them to inform the 
economic development strategic plan. The 
qualitative methodology employed promotes 
engagement and enables us to understand 
community preferences and concerns.

The demographic data of café participants is 
summarized below.

How long have you lived in Zebulon?
Less than 1 year 1-4 years More than 5 years More than 10 years

3 37 7 24

What is your age?
17 or younger 18-34 35-44 45-64 65 or older

2 6 10 22 22

Do you live and/or work in Zebulon?
Live, but not work Work, but not live Live and work Neither

38 5 15 2

Methodology
After all café responses were received, Fountainworks staff assigned each response at least one theme. 
For each question, theme frequency was calculated and used as a measure of public sentiment. 

The average participant 
has lived in Zebulon 1-4 years
was 45 or older
lives, but does not work in Zebulon

150



Town of Zebulon | Economic Development Strategic Plan | April 2024        96 

Overall Themes
A major overall theme reflected in the café responses is participants’ desire for community
development, creating assets that benefit the people who live in Zebulon and improving their quality of 
life. There was an overall preference to make the experience of living in Zebulon better and more 
complete without the need to commute out of town for amenities such as healthcare and recreation. 
Another key theme was maintaining the small-town. Overall themes from the cafés have been 
summarized below.  

Infrastructure

Public 
Transportation 

- Interconnecting Zebulon
- Connecting Zebulon to the surrounding areas 
- Creating awareness and accessibility to all communities and 

abilities 
o Services for the elderly and those with accessibility 

challenges 

Roads & Pathways
- Reducing traffic in Zebulon 
- Improved, safe walkability 

- Improved streets 
- Sidewalks, bike lanes, 

greenways 
Utilities - Water, electric, Wi-Fi , sewage 

More and Better Amenities and Businesses
 

Entertainment & 
Recreation

- Youth- and family-specific 
- Activity center 

- Bowling, arcade, movie 
theater, pool/aquatic center, 
skate park 

Healthcare
- Primary care and family 

doctors 
- Mental health services

- Orthodontists and dentists 
- Physical therapists 

Restaurants
- More options & variety
- Sit-down, not just fast food

- Food hall

Exercise & Sports
- Evening fitness classes 
- Pool, gym, pickleball, YMCA 

Grocery
- Butcher, baker, and other specialty 

shops 
- Lidl, Aldi, Publix

Improved Quality of Life 
 Education & 

Training 
- More schools; a high school 
- Entrepreneurship programs

- Workforce development 
- Access to Wake Tech 

Housing 
- Affordable, accessible, and quality 
- More variety (55+, temporary, ADUs, etc.) 
- Policies to prevent relocation due to gentrification 

Miscellaneous
 Town Support  - Government liaison to act as a “one-stop-shop” resource

151



Town of Zebulon | Economic Development Strategic Plan | April 2024        97 

- Grants, loans, and tax incentives for start-ups 
- Streamlined government processes (like with permit approval) 
- Accessible and well-communicated resources and public services

Need more and 
better jobs

- More variety 
o Full-time, entry-level, possibility for advancement, flexible, 

remote 
- Better pay 
- More accessible jobs (public transportation) 
- Opportunities for youth employment 

More detail on responses is included in the following sections, organized by question. Unless otherwise 
noted, themes are listed in the order of frequency in which they occurred, beginning with the most 
common.  

Business 
If you were going to start a business in Zebulon, what are some of the factors you would consider? 

 Infrastructure  
o Water, sewer, utilities, internet, roads, and the conditions of buildings 

 Town Support
o The community stressed the importance of the Town acting as a resource and ally to 

new business owners.  
o Support in the permit approval process, including who to ask for help 
o Loans and grants for start-ups 

 Educational and Training Opportunities  
o Skilled labor and education of workforce 
o Quality of schools 

What can the Town do to make Zebulon more attractive for entrepreneurship? 
Town support

o Entrepreneurship programs and business incentives
o Accessible resources and support in the permitting process 

 Ease of government processes 
o Be business-friendly  
o Streamlining and facilitating the permitting process 
o A government liaison to act as a “one-stop-shop” and resource for citizens  

 Funding and Costs 
o Grants, tax breaks, subsidies 

 Quality of life
o A location that attracts people 
o Programs for children 
o Schools and churches 

 
What businesses are not in Town that you would like to see in town? What do you have to leave Zebulon 
for? 

152



Town of Zebulon | Economic Development Strategic Plan | April 2024       98

Entertainment and Recreation
o Youth- and family-entertainment were specifically emphasized.

More children’s events
Youth/teen center

o Bowling alley, arcade, roller skating, movie theater, concert center
Restaurants

o Food hall, sit-down options, not just fast food
o More variety (Thai, seafood, vegan, healthy)

Retail
After these three categories, exercise and sports and grocery were cited at the same rate.

Detailed “Business” responses for these themes can be found in the appendix.

Jobs
At all three cafes, participants unanimously stated that Zebulon
does not have the right kinds of jobs for residents. 

Participants specifically noted:
a need for higher paying jobs
a general lack of businesses in Zebulon
an overall lack of jobs

Are these jobs located where people can easily get to them?
People are commuting out of Zebulon for work.

o Some responses noted that some people 
prefer to live in Zebulon and commute out of 
town for work

o Others said commuting out of Zebulon was 
necessary for employment

Lack of businesses and jobs
Inaccessibility

o The jobs that are in Zebulon are hard to get to
o The need to better interconnect the town 

Do these jobs meet the community’s needs?
The general consensus was no.
The community needs

o Jobs with higher pay
o Education and training
o Better jobs, generally

Detailed “Jobs” responses for these themes can be found in 
the appendix.

“Lots of entry-level, but 
not middle-

management or ability 

“Zebulon is safe, offers 
homes to people 

working outside the 

153



Town of Zebulon | Economic Development Strategic Plan | April 2024       99

Amenities
Thinking about qualities that make Zebulon a good place to work and run a business, are there
amenities that should be improved such as public transportation, roads, housing, healthcare, education,
entertainment etc.?

Entertainment was by far the most common 
response theme. 

People want more options
o For children, families, and adults

Activity center
o Like the Factory in Wake Forest

Movie theater
Bowling
Museums and educational centers
Nightlife

Public transportation
The need for a transit system
Services for the elderly and disabled
Better connections to Raleigh and Durham
More community awareness of public services like GoWake

Healthcare
The need for more healthcare in general with more accessibility
The general lack of all types of health services
Primary care, pharmacies, orthodontics and dentists, physical therapy, mental health, and a local 
EMS

The next most common themes were, in order:
Road improvement
Sports and recreation
Education and training
Traffic

Detailed “Amenities” responses for these themes can be found in the appendix.

Downtown
What do you like about Zebulon’s downtown?

154



Town of Zebulon | Economic Development Strategic Plan | April 2024       100

The charm was the most common response.
The history
Downtown events
Walkability
Aesthetics

What would make downtown better than it is today?
Restaurants were the most common theme.

o More options in general
o Sit-down options as well as more diverse options

There was a general sense that while there was room for updates and improvements to 
downtown, there was also a desire to maintain the small-town charm and not over-develop.
Improving aesthetics

o Curb appeal
o More trees
o Improve building facades

More entertainment
o Event space
o Youth activities
o Public music and art

Improving walkability and safety
o Safe bike lanes and sidewalks
o More lighting
o Better access/connection from surrounding bike lanes, greenways, and sidewalks
o Safer parking
o Traffic calming 

Detailed “Downtown” responses for these themes can be found in the appendix.

Inclusion
Think about the ideas you have generated. If implemented, how might these ideas affect vulnerable and
historically underserved communities?

The most common theme was gentrification.
o Fear of people being priced out of their homes 

via higher taxes and having to relocate
o The suggestion to proactively create policies to 

protect underserved people from losing their 
houses

Job creation
o This included comments about how these ideas 

could lead to a creation of jobs and activities for youth and more generally, more 
income opportunities, and a higher quality of life.

Community
o This process could create both a sense of community and pride in the community and 

how improved amenities will help the underserved.

“It has a small-town 
feel. Like it’s small 

enough to walk in one 

“Growth can bring 
positive and negative. 

Some will have to 
relocate.”

155



Town of Zebulon | Economic Development Strategic Plan | April 2024        101 

How might we take steps to ensure this plan is inclusive and takes into account the perspectives, hopes, 
and concerns of vulnerable and historically underserved communities? 

 The most common theme in responses was the importance of serving all communities.  
o Offering grants to assist communities 
o Ensuring there is good access to amenities and services for vulnerable populations 
o Improving communication with the Hispanic community 
o Creating incentives for vulnerable people and those who serve them (like teachers) in 

the new developments  
The next most common theme proposed a more targeted approach of supporting the
underserved. 

o Nice and safe subsidized housing 
o Ensure transit stops service all communities, including those with highest needs.  

 Communication, inclusion, housing, and public transportation were also popular suggestion 
themes.  

Detailed “Inclusion” responses for these themes can be found in the appendix. 

Zebulon in One Word 
As each café conversation ended, participants were asked to write down one word that describes the 
ideal Zebulon economy. These words are summarized below in graphical representation of word 
frequency that gives greater prominence to words that appear more often. 

156



Town of Zebulon | Economic Development Strategic Plan | April 2024       102

Conclusion and Next Steps
The Town of Zebulon sought community input to ensure the economic development strategic plan 
aligns with the community’s priorities. Three community cafés brought 87 participants and their voices 
into the process. Community development was a consistent theme throughout all cafés, including the 
desire to make Zebulon into a well-rounded town that can support its citizens without having to travel 
outside city limits.

In early 2024, a community Workgroup will 
convene to begin drafting focus areas and key 
priorities within each focus area. Input from the 
community cafés will be used as a foundation 
for this next phase of stakeholder engagement 
and will ultimately inform the development of 
the Town’s Economic Development Strategic 
Plan.

157



Town of Zebulon | Economic Development Strategic Plan | April 2024       103

Cafés Appendix
Participant Demographic Snapshot
Business Responses
Jobs Responses
Amenities Responses
Downtown Responses
Inclusion Responses
Café 1 Summary
Café 2 Summary
Café 3 Summary

158



Town of Zebulon | Economic Development Strategic Plan | April 2024        104 

Participant Demographic Snapshot 

Café 1 Café 2 Café 3 Total

Attendees 40 12 35 87

How long have you lived in Zebulon? 

  Café 1 Café 2 Café 3 Total 

Less than 1 Year 0 0 3 3 

1-4 Years 13 1 23 37

More than 5 years 6 1 0 7

More than 10 years 7 10 7 24 

Total 26 12 22 60 

What is your age? 

  Café 1 Café 2 Café 3 Total 

17 or younger 2 0 0 2 

18-34 1 1 4 6 

35-44 5 0 5 10 

45-64 12 3 7 22 

65 or older 7 8 7 22 

Total 27 12 23 62 

Do you live and/or work in Zebulon? 

  Café 1 Café 2 Café 3 Total 

Live, but not work 19 4 15 38 

Work, but not live 0 2 3 5 

Live and work 5 6 4 15 

Neither 2 0 0 2 

Total 26 12 22 60 

159



Town of Zebulon | Economic Development Strategic Plan | April 2024        105 

If you were going to start a business in Zebulon, what are some of the 
factors you would consider?

Infrastructure 

- Infrastructure
- Infrastructure
- Hi-speed internet 
- Amenities 
- Infrastructure 

- Water and sewer capacity
- Water & Sewer
- Water Supply/Sewer 
- Infrastructure utilities 

- For business: water, 
internet, electricity

- Existing infrastructure (able 
to move-in) 

Town Support 

- Can the town be a resource 
for me as a new business 
owner 

- Approval process 

- Partners in community 
- Process
- Who to ask for help 
- Grants Loans for start ups 

- Growth plan for downtown 
Zebulon

- Support from town

Educational and Training Opportunities 

- Educational opportunities
- Education required 
- Education of Work force 

- Skilled labor
- Quality of schools 
- Local high school 

- Good schools: high schools, 
community college, etc. 

 

160



Town of Zebulon | Economic Development Strategic Plan | April 2024        106 

What can the Town do to make Zebulon more attractive for 
entrepreneurship?

Town Support 

- Incentives
- Pre-built retail park
- Perks/discounts 
- Actively seek out businesses 

to come here -- Not fast 
food, no gas stations, we 
need sit down restaurants 
and retail shops 

- Offer tax incentives 
- Promote growth 
- Be business friendly 
- Grants 
- Entrepreneurship Programs 

(training) 
- Mentorship programs for 

entrepreneurs 

- Technical Assistance 
- Solicit specific and targeted 

businesses 
- Targeted for wake tech 

students 
- Educational 

outreach/mentor 
- Accessible resources 
- Liaison through process 
- Ease of Access 
- Offer grants through SBA 
- Offer grants or subsidies: 

promote better 
- Establish relationship with 

local business owners 

- Shared small vendor 
marketplace for small 
businesses (share overhead 
together) 

- Marketing available 
business incentives, 
buildings, and vendor 
opportunities 

- Tax breaker 
- Provide tax 

credits/incentives that are 
competitive 

- Support in permits 
- Program like Raleigh’s NC-

score targeted to Zebulon 

Ease of Government Processes 

- Streamlined business 
approval process 

- Less difficulty getting 
permits – takes too long to 
open up new businesses

- Be more tolerable of 
entrepreneurship

- Intensify incentive 
commercial growth efforts 

- Streamlining the process 
- Remove roadblocks 
- Better relationship with 

Raleigh and County  
- Be business friendly 

- Bring building permits 
within town departments 

- One person government 
liaison (one-stop shop) 

- Ease of Access 
- Support in permits 

Funding & Costs

- Reduce cost to buy/rent 
buildings 

- Offer tax incentives 
- Tax breaks 
- Grants 
- Offer grants or subsidies: 

promote better 

- Offer grants through SBA 
- Tax breaker 
- Shared small vendor 

marketplace for small 
businesses (share overhead 
together) 

- Marketing available 
business incentives, 
buildings, and vendor 
opportunities 

- Provide tax 
credits/incentives that are 
competitive 

Quality of Life

161



Town of Zebulon | Economic Development Strategic Plan | April 2024        107 

- Location that attracts 
people 

- Foot traffic visibility 
- Traffic

- Quality of life
- Curb appeal 
- Update shopping centers 

(attractive) 

- Schools, churches, 
programs for children: 
Quality of life 

What businesses are not in Town that you would like to see in town? What 
do you have to leave Zebulon for? 

Entertainment and Recreation

- Family Fun Entertainment – 
Bowling, Skating, Movies 

- Fitness Center 
- Evening entertainment 
- More children’s events 
- Destinations 
- Bowling Alley 
- Skating Rink 
- Entertainment family 

friendly 
- Entertainment area near 

mudcats stadium 
- Baseball-related: (Mudcats 

spin-off?) 
- Theater/event center 
- YMCA 

- Entertainment options
- Activities for kids, esp. 

teens 
- Pool 
- Arcade 
- YMCA 
- Roller Skating for kids 
- Entertainment for families 
- Youth/teen centers 
- Movies 
- Bowling 
- Venue/event room 
- Experience/customer 

service is different than 
buying online 

- Teen center
- Craft cocktail lounge with 

live music (diverse) and 
nightlife 

- A visitor’s destination: 
museum, art space science 
center

- Civic center 
- Youth activities: bowling 
- Concert area inside 
- Roller skating 
- Movies 
- More craft beer and 

distilleries 
- YMCA 

Restaurants 

- Food (not fast food)
- Ice cream shop 
- Sit down restaurants 

(sushi/hibachi, American 
regional ex Chilis TGIF, fresh 
sandwiches and soup) 

- Restaurants 
- Seafood Restaurant 
- Restaurants 
- Bakery 
- Ice cream 

- Restaurants
- Sit down restaurants 
- Thai restaurant 
- Better sit-down restaurants 
- Moe 
- Hibachi 
- Plant based options 
- Healthy options 
- Vegan/Plant based 

restaurants 
- Sit-down restaurants 

- Diverse restaurant options 
and sit-down restaurants 

- Craft cocktail lounge with 
live music (diverse) and 
nightlife 

- Restaurants with 
specialized menu 

- Starbucks 
- Food Halls 
- Large food chain 

Retail 

162



Town of Zebulon | Economic Development Strategic Plan | April 2024        108 

- Variation of specialty stores 
- More retail shops (clothing, 

housewares) 
- Gift shop 
- Bike shop or athletic type 

store 
- Shop businesses 
- Beauty Supply Store 
- Sporting goods shop 

- Bicycle shops
- Jewelry, shoe, watch repair 
- Gift shop 
- Men’s and women’s 

clothing 
- Experience/customer 

service is different than 
buying online 

- Retail stores 
- More retail shopping 
- Craft shoe center 
- Retail shopping 
- Target 
- Department stores 
- Fed Ex store 
- More retail in downtown 

Sports and Exercise

- Fitness Center
- Planet Fitness 
- Bicycle shops 
- Pool 
- YMCA 

- Gym/exercise/athletic club
- Swimming school 
- YMCA 
- Wellness center and gym 
- Gym 

- Gyms
- Indoor/outdoor swimming 

facility 
- More/expanded gym 
- YMCA 

Grocery

- Aldi
- Upscale Grocery Store 
- Other grocery stores 

(Publix) 

- Butcher
- Bakery 
- Grocery stores 
- Bakery 

- Supermarkets 
- Lidl or Aldi 
- Grocery stores: specialty 
- Upscale Grocery Store 

 

163



Town of Zebulon | Economic Development Strategic Plan | April 2024        109 

Does Zebulon have the right kinds of jobs for the people who live here? Why 
or why not? 

Zebulon does not have the right types of jobs 

- Manufacturing jobs are not 
doing it today 

- Job fit here at time – but 
not now 

- Too many people moving 
here. A lot of different skill 
sets, different salary 
expectations. Need more 
variety. 

- Not right kind of jobs for 
new demographic 

- Need: Ofc/sales jobs, Blue 
collar jobs 

- Need IT jobs and biotech 
jobs. 

- No – not higher paying jobs 
- No. not enough full-time 

opportunities 
- No, we need HR jobs 
- With more business growth, 

more jobs will come. The 
need seems to be more 
options, not the type of… 

- Tech options 
- Stem careers 
- Human resources jobs 

- More service industries
- Not enough business to 

support large growth 
- Assessment of job needs 
- Diverse jobs 
- Need more businesses 

provide more jobs 
- It depends: don’t expect 

some to be here 
- Lots of entry-level but not 

middle management/ability 
to grow 

- Tech options 

Need for higher paying jobs

- We need more industry and 
bigger companies to pay 
better salaries. 

- There is a good variety, but 
not enough and not enough 
higher paying. 

- Need more companies that 
pay well 

- We don’t have the jobs to 
increase median income. 

- Jobs aren’t high paying 
enough for people to live 
here 

- Need more higher paying 
jobs 

- No – not higher paying jobs
- Not enough business to 

support large growth 
- Lots of entry-level but not 

middle management/ability 
to grow 

- Not for the income 

Lack of businesses 

- The businesses aren’t here 
- We need more industry and 

bigger companies to pay 
better salaries. 

- Need more companies that 
pay well 

- Poor retail structure. 

- Incentivize commercial 
development in 
entertainment area. 

- New industrial park? 
- There is a good variety, but 

not enough and not enough 
higher paying. 

- With more business growth, 
more jobs will come. The 
need seems to be more 
options, not the type of… 

- Need more businesses 
provide more jobs 

 

164



Town of Zebulon | Economic Development Strategic Plan | April 2024        110 

Are these jobs located where people can easily get to them? 

People are commuting out of Zebulon for work.

- We travel to Raleigh, 
Wilson, etc.

- Lots commute to Raleigh, 
Rocky Mount, Wilson 

- Some people like working in 
Raleigh and living here

- Not here

- Jobs are in Wilson, Raleigh, 
and Rocky Mount

- Most drive out of Zebulon

Lack of business and jobs Inaccessibility

- You can’t access what’s not here. - Not here 
- Not here - Not really
- Marketing, finance, business type jobs - Layout of town needs connected 
- Diverse jobs (different working 

environments)
- Jobs are located in the same area… spread 

it out 

Do these jobs meet the community’s needs?

Jobs with higher pay

- The jobs we want need to 
be targeted to higher pay. 

- No, pay is too low for many 
jobs 

- No, more professional jobs 
- Need higher paying jobs 

without commuting 

- Need higher paying jobs
- Need more higher income 

jobs 

Education and training

- Wake tech can help with 
training 

- Internship program/ 
opportunity for growth

- On-the-job training 
- More teachers 
- Curriculum of Wake Tech 

connected to our needs

- More opportunities for 
young adults: the grocery, 
target 

165



Town of Zebulon | Economic Development Strategic Plan | April 2024        111 

Thinking about qualities that make Zebulon a good place to work and run a 
business, are there amenities that should be improved such as public 
transportation, roads, housing, healthcare, education, entertainment etc.?  

Entertainment 

- Banquet center
- Bowling Alley
- Movie Theater 
- Event Center 
- Concert venue 
- Adult entertainment (diner 

and theatre) 
- Place for kids and teens 

entertainment for family 
(arcade, bowling alley, etc.) 

- Movie theater in 
Wedgewood (carlic) 
shopping center 

- Roller skating/ 
skateboarding facility 

- Smallish convention center 

- Pools, splash pads, parks for 
kids

- Large scale event center
- Events center 
- Movie Theater 
- Family friendly 

entertainment 
- Concerts 
- Something to do without 

leaving town 
- Youth center 
- Museum 
- Event/civic center 
- Amphitheater 
- Family activities 
- Need entertainment, movie

- Movies
- Skate park
- Entertainment 
- Autism services and parks 

(1 in 35) 
- Pickleball courts 
- Entertainment: skating (ice 

and roller), bowling, arcade, 
movies, putt putt, or top 
golf 

- Inside concert auditorium 
venue 

- Entertainment for adults 
not centered around 
alcohol 

- Recreation/Entertainment

Public Transportation

- Transit system
- Services for elderly/disabled 

(transportation) 
- Keep GoWake SmartRide 
- Bus station – mass transit 
- Better connections to 

Raleigh and Durham 
- Community awareness of 

public services (GoWake) 
- Transportation to Wake 

Tech 

- Wake County Bus Collector 
(Wake Tech as a hub) 

- Bus/transportation 
- Need more public transit 
- Rapid transit line for 

bussing 
- Improved smart ride 
- Transportation buses 
- Bus service 
- Public transportation 
- Bird scooters 

- Improve public 
transportation 

- Access to Wake 
Tech/transportation 

- Transit / transportation 
- Transportation of elderly 
- Transportation for teens to 

rec center 
- Public transportation: bus, 

train, sidewalks, bikes 

Healthcare 

166



Town of Zebulon | Economic Development Strategic Plan | April 2024        112 

- Hospital
- More healthcare
- Regional medical park 
- Hospital 
- Healthcare Wendell Falls 
- Healthcare 
- Physical therapy: 1 for 10,000 

people 

- Medical park
- Pharmacies
- Family doctors 
- Mental health care 
- Orthodontics and dentists 
- More healthcare with longer 

open hours 

- Wake med
- Home health care agency
- Local EMS 
- Doctors 
- Physical therapy 
- Health care, medicine 
- Hospital 

Road & Traffic Improvement 

- Improve roads to help 
alleviate traffic congestion 
with all the new houses 
built and people moving in 

- Expand/wide roads
- Improved roads 
- Improved roads  
- Improve roads 
- Sidewalks to connect each 

other for bikes/walker

- Round about instead of 4 
way stops 

- Street lights
- Better roads 
- Better roads 
- Better roads for less traffic 
- Address traffic in town and 

out of town 
- Greenway trails to 

downtown 

- Better roads and parking
- EV charging stations 
- More sidewalks: future 

could add scooters/bike 
rentals 

- Round-a-bouts 
- Improvement in roads 
- Bike lanes 
- Better lights 

Sports and Recreation 

- Need more evening fitness 
classes 

- Pickle ball 
- Public Pool (like Buffalo 

Road) / Aquatic Center 
- Town Swimming Pool 

- Pools, splash pads, parks for 
kids 

- Dog Park 
- Athletic facilities and 

gaming 
- Swimming pool 

- Gym 
- Swimming pool 
- Pickleball courts 
- Zebulon City Park with 

sports 
- Basketball courts 

Education and Training 

- Public High School 
- High school 
- Need more schools 
- High school 
- High school 

- A high school
- High school 
- Town internships for next 

generation 
- High schools 

- Advice for entrepreneurs
- Education: high school
- Access to Wake 

Tech/transportation 

 

167



Town of Zebulon | Economic Development Strategic Plan | April 2024        113 

What do you like about Zebulon’s Downtown? 

The Charm 

- It is quaint and 
personable to shop 
owners 

- Quaint 
- Consistent 

- It has a small-town feel, 
like its small enough to 
walk in one day. 

- The charm 
- Charming 

- Old fashioned feel
- Small town feel 
- Quaint 
- Charming 
- Quaint area 

The History Downtown Events 

- History and growth - Town events
- Historical homes and building - Downtown night activity 
- Historic - Rock the block 
- History of building - Spring concert series
- Historic houses - Olde Raleigh distillery’s event space 
- Historic architecture - Activities and events downtown 

- History - There’s been more attractions & restaurants 

Walkability Aesthetics

- Easy access - The upkeep 
- Slowly becoming more walkable - Flower pots 
- Walk and know everyone - Clean
- Walkable - It’s gotten nicer recently 
- Walkability - Decorations, aesthetics, plants, signs
- It has a small-town feel, like its small enough 

to walk in one day. 
- Decorations 

168



Town of Zebulon | Economic Development Strategic Plan | April 2024        114 

What would make downtown better than it is today? 

Restaurant 

- More places to eat and 
shop 

- More restaurants 
- Plant based dining options 
- Healthy dining options 
- Coordination of food trucks 

(rodeo) 

- American restaurant/sports 
bar: wings, burgers, fries, 
fish 

- Sit-down diverse dining: 
Indian, sushi 

- More restaurants 

- More sit-down restaurants
- More options: sushi, Thai, 

healthy 
- More food healthy options 
- Options not centered on 

alcohols 

Improve aesthetics 

- Existing businesses need to 
redo or improve façade. 
Some places look rundown 

- Facelift! 
- Make older stores clean and 

update 
- Face lift 

- Need more updated/ 
current retail shops. We 
have a lot of industrial type 
shops. Need to modernize. 

- Spice it up/more flare 
- More trees! 

- Old buildings that could be 
restored 

- Laurels, flowers, murals 
- Gateway or focal point 

(roundabout, fountain) 
- Curb appeal/ beautification 

Entertainment 

- More options for 
entertainment 

- Event space (like 
graduation party, family 
reunion)

- Well-developed arts 
district (amphitheater) 

- Public music and art 
- Outdoor amphitheater 
- Skate park 

- Youth activities
- Family entertainment 
- Options not centered on 

alcohols 
- Boxcar/arcade

Improve Walkability and Safety 

- More sidewalks from the 
housing communities

- Bypass around downtown 
- Easier to get to by 

bike/walking: paths 

- More pedestrian friendly 
downtown

- Pedestrian friendly: More 
walkable 

- Safe walkability 

- Bike lane and 
transportation to Zeb P +R

- Bike shop (good if we get 
more paths) 

- More lighting 

 

169



Town of Zebulon | Economic Development Strategic Plan | April 2024        115 

Think about the ideas you have generated. If implemented, how might these 
ideas affect vulnerable and historically underserved communities?

Gentrification 

- They may have to move
- Policies to protect 

underserved people from 
losing their house 

- There’ll likely be relocation 
- Property tax increase 

- Growth can bring 
positive/negative; some will 
have to re-locate 

- Increase in prices can drive 
people out via higher taxes 

- Gentrification, can mean 
different things. Don’t price 
people out 

- Zoning, annexing historic 
district 

Job Creation 

- It would help provide jobs and more income 
opportunities 

- Better transportation, education, and access 
to services and jobs would provide a higher 
level of life quality 

- Create jobs and activities for youth 
- Job opportunities 
- Increase jobs 
- Offer jobs 

Community 

- Pride in the community 
- A sense of community 
- Amenities will help the underserved 

- With variety of all categories comes 
opportunity for all and needs being met 

 

170



Town of Zebulon | Economic Development Strategic Plan | April 2024        116 

How might we take steps to ensure this plan is inclusive and takes into 
account the perspectives, hopes, and concerns of vulnerable and historically 
underserved communities? 

Serve all communities

- Take in the variety of needs 
from each community

- Surveying the needs, wants, 
and desires of our diverse 
population 

- Listen to what the citizens 
are asking for 

- Place development 
meetings in multiple 
communities 

- interpreter (Spanish) 

- Prioritize community 
amenities

- Make sure there’s good 
access to amenities services 
for vulnerable population 

- Better communication with 
Hispanic community 

- offer grants to assist the 
communities 

- Whole family events for 
kids/museum 

- New development include 
incentive for vulnerable 
people and for those who 
support them (like 
teachers) 

- Offset costs for developers 
and ensure those benefits 
continue to 
citizens/purchasers 

- Low cost/free events 

Support the underserved 

- Offer free vouchers for 
underserved 

- Make sure there’s good 
access to amenities services 
for vulnerable population 

- Are transit stops servicing 
all communities and those 
with highest need 

- Low-income housing 

- Sidewalks: Connect existing 
communities esp. minority 
ones 

- New development include 
incentive for vulnerable 
people and for those who 
support them (like 
teachers) 

- Nice and safe subsidized 
housing 

- Make sure we provide 
transportation to activities 
from lower income 
activities in Zebulon 

- Offer grants to assist the 
communities 

Communication Inclusion 

- Community feedback
- community newsletter/newspaper
- provide feedback from all community 

sessions 
- talk to the communities 
- make yourself available for questions 
- Better communication with Hispanic 

community 
- Do these sessions in lower income areas 
- Develop better relations with populations so 

citizens are more willing to access and use 
government services (as well as know about 
them) 

- talk to the communities 
- interpreter (Spanish)
- Make sure there’s good access to amenities 

services for vulnerable population 
- Better communication with Hispanic 

community 
- Work with school systems because they see 

impacts of diversity 
- Improved accessibility: disabilities 
- Accessibility: sidewalks, handicap parking, 

bathrooms 
- Do these sessions in lower income areas 

171



Town of Zebulon | Economic Development Strategic Plan | April 2024        117 

Housing

- Habitat for humanity
- Improve housing 

affordability 

- Senior housing
- More 55+ apartments of 

higher quality 

- Low-income housing
- Nice and safe subsidized 

housing 

Public Transportation 

- Expansion of smart ride 
program 

- Make sure we provide 
transportation to activities 
from lower income 
activities in Zebulon 

- Public transportation 
especially for underserved 

- Are transit stops servicing 
all communities and those 
with highest need 

- Public transportation and 
walkability throughout 
Zebulon 

- Expansion of smart ride 
program 

 

172



Town of Zebulon | Economic Development Strategic Plan | April 2024       118

Community Café #1 Summary
Monday, October 16, 2023 - 6:00 pm - 8:00 pm
East Wake Academy – Zebulon, NC

Executive Summary
This report summarizes the Town of Zebulon Economic Development Strategy Plan Community Café 
meeting on October 16, 2023. Approximately 40 people attended and enthusiastically participated in the 
discussion. There was unanimous agreement that Zebulon does not have the right kinds of jobs for the 
people who live here. Throughout the evening, participants emphasized the Town’s need for family 
friendly entertainment and activities, more job opportunities, and community resources.

Evening Welcome and Overview
Shannon Johnson, Zebulon’s Economic Development Specialist, welcomed and thanked the crowd for 
attending. While guests ate the dinner provided by the Town, Ms. Johnson emphasized the purpose of 
the meeting is to hear from community members about economic development in Zebulon. A town 
official gave a brief overview of the economic history of Zebulon. Julie Brenman then introduced the 
team from Fountainworks including herself, Drew Finley, and Laura Gomez-Nichols. Ms. Brenman 
explained that Fountainworks is working with the Town of Zebulon to assist in forming an economic 
development strategic plan.

173



Town of Zebulon | Economic Development Strategic Plan | April 2024       119

Attendees

Participants were asked to use sticker dots to answer demographic questions. At 70%, the vast majority
of attendees live but do not work in Zebulon.

How long have you lived in Zebulon?
Less than one year: 0
1-4 years: 13
More than 5 years: 6
More than 10 years: 7

What is your age?
17 or younger: 2
18-34: 1
35-44: 5
45-64: 12
65 or older: 7

Do you live and/or work in Zebulon?
Live, but do not work: 19
Work, but not live: 0
Live and work: 5
None of the above: 2

A Tour of Zebulon
To begin the evening, the room was asked to imagine giving visitors a tour of Zebulon. Specifically, 
participants were asked where would you take them? What would you do? And, what do you wish you 
could take them to /where do you wish you could go? 
Attendees provided the following responses to these questions:

Where would you take them?
o Carolina Mudcats
o Little River Park
o Schools
o Downtown
o Church
o Historic District
o Parks

What would you do?
o Dinner at Southland Steakhouse
o McLeans
o Fishing at Weaver’s Pond
o Devil Dog Manufacturing Corporation

174



Town of Zebulon | Economic Development Strategic Plan | April 2024       120

What do you wish you could take them to/where do you wish you could go?
o Arcade
o Little River Park Center
o Theater – movie and dinner
o Sit-down restaurant
o Outdoor amphitheater
o Event center
o Aquatic center
o Hotel
o Museum

Participants were particularly eager to provide answers for what they wish they could show a visitor. 
These answers primarily focused on activities and entertainment. There was widespread agreement on 
the need for more dining options that were not fast-food.

175



Town of Zebulon | Economic Development Strategic Plan | April 2024        121 

Group Brainstorms 
The evening’s attendees sat in groups at six different tables. Each table had a poster with questions in 
five different topic areas. Ms. Brenman asked the questions from a topic area and gave attendees 10 
minutes to brainstorm ideas and record them on the poster.  
 
The topic areas and questions were as follows: 
 
Business

1. If you were going to start a business in Zebulon, what are some of the factors you would 
consider? 

2. What can the Town do to make Zebulon more attractive for entrepreneurship? 
3. What businesses are not in Town that you would like to see in town? What do you have to leave 

Zebulon for? 
 
Jobs 

1. Does Zebulon have the right kinds of jobs for the people who live here? Why or why not? 
2. Are these jobs located where people can easily get to them? 
3. Do these jobs meet the community’s needs? 

 
Amenities 

Thinking about qualities that make Zebulon a good place to work and run a business, are there 
amenities that should be improved such as public transportation, roads, housing, healthcare, 
education, entertainment etc.?  

 
Downtown

1. What do you like about Zebulon’s downtown? 
2. What would make downtown better than it is today? 

 
Inclusion

1. Think about the ideas you have generated. If implemented, how might these ideas affect 
vulnerable and historically underserved communities? 

2. How might we take steps to ensure this plan is inclusive and takes into account the perspectives, 
hopes, and concerns of vulnerable and historically underserved communities? 

 
One word to describe the ideal Zebulon economy, what would it be? 

Attendee responses to questions are transcribed on the following pages. 
 

176



Town of Zebulon | Economic Development Strategic Plan | April 2024        122 

Streamlined business approval process Actively seek out businesses to come here 

Location that attracts people Not fast food, no gas stations, we need sit down 
restaurants and retail shops 

Foot traffic visibility Offer tax incentives 

Incentives Promote growth 

Pre-built retail park Citizens ask other businesses we like to move to 
Zebulon 

Reduce cost to buy/rent buildings Be more tolerable of entrepreneurship

Less difficulty getting permits – takes too long to 
open up new businesses 

Be business friendly

Perks/discounts Intensify incentive commercial growth efforts 

Tax breaks Traffic

Technical Assistance Don’t go thru downtown for everything 

Solicit specific and targeted businesses Grants

Targeted for wake tech students Entrepreneurship Programs (training) 

Competition Kids, teens  Hi-speed internet
Location (x5) Income  Easy access to highway
Other businesses Demographics  Water and sewer capacity
Cost of buildings, rent, utilities Clientele  Amenities
Cost of upfit Median Income (x2)  Hotels
Real Estate Cost (Lease) Diversity  Educational opportunities
An anchor business Infrastructure (x2)  Perks

Available Real Estate Condition of buildings  Code
Population Traffic (x3)  Town ordinance 

Age of residents Need for the area what 
citizens want and need 

 
Can the town be a resource 
for me as a new business 
owner Foot traffic 

 

177



Town of Zebulon | Economic Development Strategic Plan | April 2024        123 

Pharmacy (CVS) Other grocery stores (Publix) Box store

Incubator Gift shop Chick-Fil-A

Family Fun Entertainment Chick fil A Bed’n’Breakfast 

Bowling Lowes Bowling Alley

Skating

Sit down restaurants 
(sushi/hibachi, American 
regional ex Chilis TGIF, fresh 
sandwiches and soup) 

Skating Rink 

Movies Bike shop or athletic type store Seafood Restaurant

Fitness Center Restaurants Planet Fitness 

Aldi More children events Beauty Supply Store 

Upscale Grocery Store (x2) Better and connected 
sidewalks Entertainment family friendly 

Food (not fast food) Destinations Sporting goods shop

Evening entertainment Shop businesses Entertainment area near 
mudcats stadium 

Variation of specialty stores Medical facilities Bicycle shops 

Ice cream shop Hotel Youth activity / parks 

More retail shops (clothing, 
housewares) Carwash 

 

The unanimous answer was no. The following comments were included: 

- The businesses aren’t here 
- No jobs to speak of 
- Most jobs going to Raleigh 
- Mfr jobs are not doing it today 
- Job fit here at time – but not now 
- Too many people moving here. A lot of different skill sets, different salary expectations. Need 

more variety. 
- Not right kind of jobs for new demographic 
- Need 

o Ofc/sales jobs 
o Blue collar jobs 

- We don’t have the jobs to increase median income. 

178



Town of Zebulon | Economic Development Strategic Plan | April 2024        124 

- Poor retail structure. 
- We need more industry and bigger companies to pay better salaries. 
- Incentivize commercial development in entertainment area. 
- Need IT jobs and biotech jobs. 
- Increase fiber connection 
- Develop existing non-profits 
- Career development 
- Entrepreneurship development 
- Resources 
- Human resources jobs 
- Public health/public service 
- More daycare 
- Planning/zoning 
- Expand government staff in Zebulon 
- Everything is located in Raleigh 
- Need more higher paying jobs 
- New industrial park? 
- Leverage wake tech 

 
 

Five of the six groups said no. The remaining group said, “Yes, for now – but we need to improve 
infrastructure to keep up with traffic.” The following comments were also included: 

- They are in other towns not easily accessible for folk without transport 
- What is here is easy to get to 
- Add a traffic circle 
- If Wake tech is training for these areas: EMT, fire, policeman, biotechnology, design and 

engineering 
o Be prepared to take advantage of these skills 

- More jobs at the edge of town would be easier to get to 
- You can’t access what’s not here. 
- Road improvements 
- Not here 
- We travel to Raleigh, Wilson, etc. 

 
 

Five of the six groups said no. The remaining group said, “Yes, we need all these jobs.” The following 
comments were also included: 

- We need more variety of businesses. More medium sized and maybe a few more large ones like 
GSK and JSF 

- Currently, no. 
- Need to employ residents in Zebulon 
- The jobs we have do not meet the community needs. 

179



Town of Zebulon | Economic Development Strategic Plan | April 2024        125 

- The jobs we want need to be targeted to higher pay. 
- Funding for new business establishment 
- What makes the community appealing 
- Need higher paying jobs without commuting 

 

Banquet center Pickle ball Museum 

Roller-skating/skateboarding 
facility 

Public Pool (like Buffalo Road) / 
Aquatic Center 

Community awareness of public 
services (GoWake) 

Bowling Alley Gaming facility for kids Hospital 

Movie Theater Transit System Restaurants

Event Center Website, social media Social Media 

More retail shopping Hotels Zebulon community app 

Hospital Smallish convention center Events center 

Public High School Need more schools Add signage to direct 

Do not need so many low-end 
stores (Dollar General, Dollar 
Tree, Family Dollar) 

Need affordable housing, not so 
many big houses. Need 
townhome, apartments, 50+ 
living. More options! 

Improve roads to help alleviate 
traffic congestion with all the 
new houses built and people 
moving in 

Lodging Walking trail 3 to 5 miles Expand/wide roads 

Need stores for a middle class Get places without car Town Swimming Pool 

Pools, splash pads, parks for kids Regional medical park Dog Park 

Dry cleaners Keep GoWake SmartRide Movie Theater

Better connections to Raleigh and 
Durham 

Places to take clients  
restaurants, etc. 

Need more evening fitness 
classes 

Concert venue Commercial retail park Athletic facilities and gaming 

Family friendly entertainment Large scale event center Concerts 

High school Food hall Bars 

HOA taking ownership sooner Downtown boutique shops Something to do without leaving 
town 

More healthcare Art store Transportation to Wake Tech 

Adult entertainment (diner and 
theatre) 

Services for elderly/disabled 
(transportation) 

Wake County Bus Collector 
(Wake Tech as a hub) 

Hotel Drive-thru coffee shop Healthcare Wendell Falls 

180



Town of Zebulon | Economic Development Strategic Plan | April 2024        126 

Place for kids and teens 
entertainment for family (arcade, 
bowling alley, etc.) 

Movie theater in Wedgewood 
(Carlic) shopping center 

More shopping and sit-down 
restaurant choices downtown 

Bus station – mass transit  

The upkeep Consistent 

Easy access The charm 

Quaint Zebulon Community center

It is quaint and personable to shop owners Town events 

We like that it is being revitalized, but we need 
more shops and restaurants downtown Location 

It has a small-town feel, like its small enough to 
walk in one day. Clean 

Flower pots Downtown nigh activity 

Old fashioned feel Quaint area 

Slowly becoming more walkable Rock the block

Friendly shop owners Spring concert series 

Friendliness, but feels old and outdated  

More places to eat and shop Pet grooming

Hours for working families Expansion/updates of Comm Center 

Youth activities Facelift! 

All-inclusive businesses (eat, work, shop, 
entertain in 1) New businesses 

Family entertainment Gateway or focal point (roundabout, fountain) 

Variety of business Make older stores clean and update 

Upscale business More parking (event)

Expand downtown district More options for entertainment 

Road bypass for big trucks to keep them from 
driving through downtown Senior center – town presence – main street 

181



Town of Zebulon | Economic Development Strategic Plan | April 2024        127 

More lighting Spice it up/more flare 

Need more updated/current retail shops. We 
have a lot of industrial type shops. Need to 
modernize. 

Existing businesses need to redo or improve 
façade. Some places look rundown 

More sidewalks from the housing communities Decrease truck traffic 

More/bigger parking places/options for 
downtown events Well-developed arts district (amphitheater) 

More consistent business hours More pedestrian friendly downtown 

Bypass around downtown Public music and art 

Business friendly town government Public patio seating

- Resources for all income levels and ages 
- Pride in the community 
- Bridging the gaps in our community 
- A sense of community 
- Create jobs and activities for youth 
- It would help provide jobs and more income opportunities 
- With variety of all categories comes opportunity for all and needs being met 
- We need to maintain a balance between old and new. We don’t want to become a “mini-Raleigh” 

or “mini-Knightdale”. We want businesses that are unique to Zebulon and bring other people 
here from other towns. 

- Better transportation, education, and access to services and jobs would provide a higher level of 
life quality 

- Job opportunities 
- Educational resources 
- Zebulon’s black history recognition 
- They may have to move 
- Increase jobs 
- Policies to protect underserved people from losing their house 
- Property tax increase 

- Take in the variety of needs from each community 
- Surveying the needs, wants, and desires of our diverse population 
- Do not discard the things that the town does well. However all new ideas. 
- Recognize the growth of the new while still considering long term residents 
- Preserve the present culture and add updates for new residents 
- Listen to what the citizens are asking for 
- Preserve the characteristics and personality of town, while maintaining steady growth. 
- Not making all land available to developers 
- Place development meetings in multiple communities 

182



Town of Zebulon | Economic Development Strategic Plan | April 2024       128

- We need to keep our “small town vibe” and not totally replace everything we have already
- Community feedback
- community newsletter/newspaper
- provide feedback from all community sessions
- more action, not words
- Improve parks and recreation
- offer free vouchers for underserved
- offer grants to assist the communities
- talk to the communities
- make yourself available for questions
- interpreter (Spanish)
- Habitat for humanity
- Improve housing affordability

183



Town of Zebulon | Economic Development Strategic Plan | April 2024       129

- Care more about the people and their needs than money
- Thriving (x2)
- Flourishing
- Community-fueled
- Action
- Vibrant
- Diversity
- Adaptable
- Growing (x3)
- Diverse (x2)
- Growth (x2)
- Action
- Services
- Income
- Recession-proof
- Diversified
- Fluid
- More-Competitive
- Competitive
- Feasible
- Leadership
- Beneficial

184



Town of Zebulon | Economic Development Strategic Plan | April 2024        130 

Top Two Ideas For Improving Zebulon’s Economy 
Each of the six groups was asked to pick the top two ideas their group came up with. These top ideas 
were written down and placed at the front of the room. Participants were then each given two sticker 
dots to place next to their favorite two ideas. The following ideas in order of popularity were: 

 
- Affordable family friendly entertainment (15 dots) 

- Youth engage/involve consideration (10 dots)

- Draw more business in the appropriate areas (7 dots) 
 

- Capitalizing on Benefits of Wake Tech (7 dots) 
 

- Employ (businesses) residents locally (7 dots) 
o Bring in businesses 
o Leads to jobs support community 

 
- Increase amenities for communities. This will benefit businesses, citizens, and economy. Keep 

money here and bring money here. (5 dots) 
o Retail shops, restaurants, entertainment, arts, cultural centers 

 
- Infrastructure (4 dots) 

o Roads, utilities, etc. 
 

- Higher paying jobs (3 dots) 
 

- Retail and Jobs (3 dots) 
 

- Zebulon Community App (2 dots) 
 

- Diversity (1 dot) 
 

- Median Income 
 
Wrap Up 
Ms. Johnson thanked the crowd and reiterated the Town’s desire to see action and not just a plan. She 
explained that between April and June of 2024 a plan will come before the Board of Commissioners. Ms. 
Brenman then wrapped up the session by thanking everyone for their participation. She also reminded 
the group that there will be two more community cafes following the same structure as this session, one 
on October 25 and the other on November 9.  
 
  

185



Town of Zebulon | Economic Development Strategic Plan | April 2024        131 

Community Café #2 Summary
Monday, October 25, 2023
5:30 pm – 7:30 pm 

Zebulon United Methodist Church 
121 W. Gannon Avenue 
Zebulon, NC 
 
Executive Summary
This report summarizes the Town of Zebulon Economic Development Strategy Plan Community Café 
meeting on October 25, 2023. Approximately 12 people attended and participated in the discussion, 
including several repeat participants from the first Community Café. There was unanimous agreement 
that Zebulon does not have the right kinds of jobs for the people who live here.  

Evening Welcome and Overview
Michael Clark, Zebulon’s Planning Director, welcomed and thanked the crowd for attending. While guests 
ate the dinner provided by the Town, Mr. Clark explained these meetings are meant to better 
understand the needs and desires of citizens. He went on to say the input provided by citizens will 
become the blueprint for the economic development division to guide development plans and land use 
decisions. Joe Moore, Zebulon Town Manager, then gave a brief overview of the economic history of 
Zebulon. He emphasized the Town’s desire to bring in businesses that will serve the citizens and 
community. Julie Brenman then introduced the team from Fountainworks including herself, Maddie 
Shea, and Laura Gomez-Nichols. Ms. Brenman explained that Fountainworks is working with the Town of 
Zebulon to assist in forming an economic development strategic plan. 
 
Evening’s Agenda
Ms. Brenman went over the agenda for the evening: 

1. Welcome and Overview of Café Purpose 
2. A Tour of Zebulon 
3. Your Thoughts on Zebulon’s Economy, Business, Jobs, Amenities, and Downtown 
4. Fostering an Inclusive Zebulon Economy 
5. Top 2 Ideas – Improving Zebulon’s Economy 
6. Wrap Up 

 
Ms. Brenman went on to explain to the participants that this event is not about testifying in front of 
officials. Rather, the evening is about having a conversation and sharing ideas. She then broke 
participants into two groups of roughly six people each. 
 

 

186



Town of Zebulon | Economic Development Strategic Plan | April 2024        132 

Attendees
Participants were asked to use sticker dots to answer demographic questions. 

83% of participants have lived in Zebulon for more than 10 years. 
How long have you lived in Zebulon?
Less than 1 Year 1-4 Years More than 5 years More than 10 years Total 
- 1 1 10 12

75% of participants were 65 or older. 
What is your age?
17 or younger 18-34 35-44 45-64 65 or older Total
- 1 - 3 8 12 

50% of participants live and work in Zebulon 
Do you live and/or work in Zebulon? 
Live, but not work Work, but not live Live and work Total 
4 2 6 12 

 

187



Town of Zebulon | Economic Development Strategic Plan | April 2024        133 

A Tour of Zebulon 
To begin the evening, the room was asked to imagine giving visitors a tour of Zebulon. Specifically, 
participants were asked where would you take them? What would you do? And, what do you wish you 
could take them to /where do you wish you could go?  
Attendees provided the following responses to these questions: 

Where would you take them? 
- Downtown: feel Zebulon what’s going on 
- Food lion shopping center, where there are some restaurants 
- Mudcat Stadium 
- Little River Park 
- Whitley Park 
- Zebulon Community Park 
- Historic School / Town Hall 
- Historic Neighborhood and Homes 
- Art Murals Sculptures Downtown 

 
What would you do? 

- Industrial Park 
o US Foods, Phlexo 

- Cup of coffee at Creative Cup 
- Root Bound – Plant Store 
- McLean’s 
- Old Raleigh Distillery 
- Southland Steakhouse 
- Fall Line – a bar 
- Fishing/ bodies of water 

 
What do you wish you could take them to/where do you wish you could go? 

- Bowling 
- More restaurants 
- Rec football for kids 
- Movie 
- Kids activities 
- More bike paths 

 
  

188



Town of Zebulon | Economic Development Strategic Plan | April 2024        134 

Group Brainstorms 
The evening’s attendees sat in groups at two different tables. Each table had a poster with questions in 
five different topic areas. Ms. Brenman asked the questions from a topic area and gave attendees 10 
minutes to brainstorm ideas and record them on the poster. Ms. Shea and Ms. Gomez-Nichols each sat 
with one of the tables and helped transcribe their responses. 
 
The topic areas and questions were as follows: 
 
Business

4. If you were going to start a business in Zebulon, what are some of the factors you would 
consider? 

5. What can the Town do to make Zebulon more attractive for entrepreneurship? 
6. What businesses are not in Town that you would like to see in town? What do you have to leave 

Zebulon for? 
 
Jobs

4. Does Zebulon have the right kinds of jobs for the people who live here? Why or why not?  
5. Are these jobs located where people can easily get to them? 
6. Do these jobs meet the community’s needs? 

 
Amenities 

Thinking about qualities that make Zebulon a good place to work and run a business, are there 
amenities that should be improved such as public transportation, roads, housing, healthcare, 
education, entertainment etc.?  

 
Downtown

3. What do you like about Zebulon’s downtown? 
4. What would make downtown better than it is today? 

 
Inclusion

3. Think about the ideas you have generated. If implemented, how might these ideas affect 
vulnerable and historically underserved communities? 

4. How might we take steps to ensure this plan is inclusive and takes into account the perspectives, 
hopes, and concerns of vulnerable and historically underserved communities? 

 
One word to describe the ideal Zebulon economy, what would it be? 

Attendee responses to questions are transcribed on the following pages. 
 

189



Town of Zebulon | Economic Development Strategic Plan | April 2024        135 

- Foot traffic downtown 
- Location 
- Water & Sewer 
- Age of Demographic 
- Education required 
- Income of demographic 
- Accessibility (parking) 
- Education of Work force 
- Water Supply/Sewer 
- Traffic Flow 
- Workforce 
- Infrastructure utilities 
- Possible location 
- Capital/financial 
- Find out where the land use 
- Business plan 
- Approval process 
- Any fees or licenses 
- Partners in community 

 

-  Demographic snapshot 
o Being able to answer questions 

- Quality of life 
- Curb appeal 
- Schools, churches, programs for children 

o Quality of life 
- Educational outreach/mentor 
- Accessible resources 
- Better relationship with Raleigh and County 
- Streamlining the process 
- Bring building permits within town departments 
- Remove roadblocks 
- One person government liaison (one-stop shop) 

 

- Butcher 
- Baseball-related 

o (Mudcats spin-off?) 
- Jewelry, shoe, watch repair 
- Restaurants 
- Gift shop 
- Men’s and women’s clothing 
- Bakery 

190



Town of Zebulon | Economic Development Strategic Plan | April 2024        136 

- Ice cream 
- Experience/customer service is different than buying online 
- Spa 
- Grocery stores 
- Theater/event center 
- Entertainment options 
- Activities for kids, esp. teens 
- Pool 
- Arcade 
- YMCA 
- Gym/exercise/athletic club 

 
At the end of the 10 minutes, Ms. Brenman then asked the room if there were any ideas from the 
discussion they would like to share. The following answers were given: 

- Location and availability of water and sewer important to consider when starting a business 
- Approvals for a business, needing to go to the county – nice to have the permitting more 

streamlined or having a government support person to help in the permitting process 
- The need for entertainment options and grocery stores 
- Activities for teenagers!  

 

The unanimous answer was no. The following comments were included: 

- There is a good variety, but not enough and not enough higher paying. 
- No. 
- Anywhere but here. 
- Jobs aren’t high paying enough for people to live here 
- Need more companies that pay well 
- Have some job possibilities, but not a trained work-force 
- If Wake Co. land would be available to us 
- Internet access and quality needs to improve 

 

- Not really 
- Lots commute to Raleigh, Rocky Mount, Wilson 
- Remote work can live anywhere 
- More jobs want people in person 
- Transport network dictates what is easy to get to 
- Some people like working in Raleigh and living here 
- Jobs are in Wilson, Raleigh, and Rocky Mount 
- Zebulon is safe, offers homes to people working outside the town 

 

- Need higher paying jobs 
- Broadband access, fiber 
- On-the-job training 
- Wake tech can help with training 

191



Town of Zebulon | Economic Development Strategic Plan | April 2024        137 

- We don’t have land for big industrial park 
- Don’t want to target a single industry 
- More teachers 
- We don’t have the jobs. We want more 

 
At the end of the 10 minutes, Ms. Brenman again asked the room if there were any ideas or key take 
aways from the discussion they would like to share. The following answers were given: 

- We think we have enough water and sewer here 
- No good internet service 
- People are in Zebulon because of the location, but jobs are outside 
- Not a lot of industrial land to bring a big employer 
- Don’t want to target just a single industry want a variety of jobs  infrastructure! 
- Lot of advantages to Wake Tech locating here 

o Jobs available to work there 
- Transportation! 

- Bus/transportation 
- Youth center 
- Museum 
- Historic building rehabilitation?/preservation 
- All of the above! 
- Parking 
- Healthcare 
- Physical therapy 

o 1 for 10,000 people 
- Water and sewer 
- Improved roads 
- Event/civic center 
- High school 
- Improved roads 
- Have to leave Zebulon for lots 
- Staff w/real estate knowledge  preservation 
- Daycare 
- Need more public transit 
- Internet everywhere 
- Medical park 
- Upper tier housing 
- After school care, esp. kids with special needs 
- Rapid transit line for bussing 
- Accounting services 
- More diversity in housing 

o Attainable 
o Affordable 
o Temporary 

192



Town of Zebulon | Economic Development Strategic Plan | April 2024       138

- Workforce housing
- Multifamily housing
- Emergency housing and other emergency services
- Improved smart ride
- Pharmacies
- Accessory Dwelling Units, make people aware
- A high school
- All of the above
- Address traffic in town and out of town
- Family doctors
- Amphitheater
- Local attorneys

At the end of the ten minutes, participants emphasized the following topics from their discussion:
- Health care! Big time.
- Public transit services
- Daycare
- High School

- It’s gotten nicer recently
- Famous attractions

o Old Raleigh Distillery
o Bagpipe place

- There’s been more attractions and restaurants
- Unique businesses
- Decorations, aesthetics, plants, signs
- Walk and know everyone
- walkable

- Adequate parking
- “downtown” buildings
- Curb appeal/beautification
- Parks need updating
- Market

- Slower truck traffic

193



Town of Zebulon | Economic Development Strategic Plan | April 2024        139 

- Longevity of individual businesses
- Clear demarcation 
- Rotate downtown parties: Vance Street 
- Consistency of business hours 
- Taxis, safe rides 
- Places to live 

o Mixed use zoning and structures 
- Open space to gather 
- Wi-fi! Hardwired fiber 
- Outdoor amphitheater 
- Pedestrian friendly 

o More walkable 
- Landscape architecture 
- Less big-truck friendly 
- Green/eco-friendly 
- More trees!  

 
Participants wanted to emphasize the following key take aways from the downtown discussion: 

- Walkable 
- Everyone knows each other 
- Need places to live 
- Make it more pedestrian friendly 
- More environmentally friendly 
- More and better beautification 
- Better parking 
- Slow the trucks down! 

- Amenities will help the underserved 
- There’ll likely be relocation 
- Growth can bring positive/negative; some will have to re-locate 
- Buildings/land may change; thinks knocked down and rebuilt 
- Increase in prices can drive people out via higher taxes 
- Gentrification, can mean different things. Don’t price people out 

 

- Prioritize community amenities 
- Make sure there’s good access to amenities services for vulnerable population 
- Sidewalks: 

o Connect existing communities esp. minority ones 
- Senior housing 
- Expansion of smart ride program 
- Better communication with Hispanic community 
- More 55+ apartments of higher quality 
- Work with school systems bc they see impacts of diversity 
- Bring quality educations and support them 

194



Town of Zebulon | Economic Development Strategic Plan | April 2024       140

- New development include incentive for vulnerable people and for those who support them (like 
teachers)

- Offset costs for developers and ensure those benefits continue to citizens/purchasers
- Develop better relations with populations so citizens are more willing to access and use 

government services (as well as know about them)
- Are transit stops servicing all communities and those with highest need
- Resource liaison
- Improved accessibility

o disabilities

Attendees emphasized the following discussion topics:
- Better communication with Hispanic community
- Better accessibility in downtown
- Transit stops to serve high need communities
- Sidewalks
- Senior center
- Youth center

195



Town of Zebulon | Economic Development Strategic Plan | April 2024       141

- Opportunity
- Nurturing
- Thriving
- Thriving
- Connected
- Prosperous
- Innovative
- Community: united
- Growth

Top Two Ideas For Improving Zebulon’s Economy
Both groups were asked to pick the top two ideas their group came up with. These top ideas were 
written down and placed at the front of the room. Participants were then each given two sticker dots to 
place next to their favorite two ideas. The following ideas in order of popularity were:

- Economic Development (5 dots)
o More businesses and higher paying jobs
o Supersite building
o More educated workforce

- Workforce: job opportunities for residents that reside here (3 dots)

- Infrastructure & Utilities (2 dots)

- Grocery Store Options/locations (2 dots)

- Transportation (2 dots)

- Infrastructure (1 dot)
o Water and Sewer
o Access to infrastructure

Wrap Up
Ms. Brenman told the room that meeting the community’s needs 
is the most important part of the economic development 
process. She explained that is why these community engagement 
meetings are one of the first steps. Mr. Clark then explained that the Town and economic development 
team does not enter the process with preconceived notions, because this process is citizen driven. He 
emphasized the importance of the community’s vision and reminded the room of the multiple upcoming 
community engagement meetings, including one on land use.

The room was thanked for their time and participation and reminded that the last Community Café will 
be held in the same location on November 9.

196



Town of Zebulon | Economic Development Strategic Plan | April 2024        142 

Community Café #3 Summary
Thursday, November 9, 2023      
Zebulon United Methodist Church 
5:30 pm – 7:30 pm             
121 W. Gannon Avenue 
 
Executive Summary 
This report summarizes the Town of Zebulon Economic Development Strategy Plan Community Café 
meeting on November 9, 2023. It was the third and final community engagement event for this stage of 
the planning process. Approximately 35 people attended and participated in the discussion, including 
several repeat participants from the first and second Community Cafés.  

Evening Welcome and Overview
Joe Moore, Zebulon Town Manager, welcomed and thanked the crowd for attending. While guests ate 
the dinner provided by the Town, Mr. Clark explained the basic concepts of economic development and 
community engagement. He then gave a brief overview of the economic history of Zebulon. Shannon 
Johnson, Zebulon’s Economic Development Specialist, then spoke to the evening’s participants and 
thanked them for joining. She said economic development is often done by speaking directly to business 
and industry, but that this approach does not fit Zebulon’s high-growth pattern nor the Town’s desire to 
provide community stability. Ms. Johnson assured the crowd that this process would not create a plan 
without action. She explained the next steps in the strategic planning process after this round of 
community engagement cafés focused on creating an industry working group and creating a draft 
economic development plan. After the draft plan is written, the community will be reconvened for 
another round of feedback. She emphasized that this process, with its iterative community engagement 
built in, has been developed to truly include and engage residents. 
 
Warren Miller then introduced the team from Fountainworks including himself, Maddie Shea, and Laura 
Gomez-Nichols. Mr. Warren explained that Fountainworks is working with the Town of Zebulon to assist 
in forming an economic development strategic plan and tonight is specifically working to get community 
input for and help to develop the Town’s economic development plan. 
 
Evening’s Agenda
Mr. Miller went over the agenda for the evening: 

7. Welcome and Overview of Café Purpose 
8. A Tour of Zebulon 
9. Your Thoughts on Zebulon’s Economy, Business, Jobs, Amenities, and Downtown 
10. Fostering an Inclusive Zebulon Economy 
11. Top 2 Ideas – Improving Zebulon’s Economy 
12. Wrap Up 

 
Mr. Miller explained it is okay if not everyone agrees with every idea presented. He said what is 
important is that everyone share their ideas.  
 
Participants were in four groups of roughly six people in each group, with some participants leaving early 
and some arriving late. 

197



Town of Zebulon | Economic Development Strategic Plan | April 2024       143

Attendees
Participants were asked to use sticker dots to answer demographic questions.

55% of participants have lived in Zebulon 
for one to four years.

How long have you lived in Zebulon?
Less than 1 Year 3
1-4 Years 23
More than 5 years -
More than 10 years 7
Total 22

61% of participants were 45 or older.
What is your age?
17 or younger -
18-34 4
35-44 5
45-64 7
65 or older 7
Total 23

68% of participants live but do not 
work in Zebulon.

Do you live and/or work in Zebulon?
Live, but not work 15
Work, but not live 3
Live and work 4

198



Town of Zebulon | Economic Development Strategic Plan | April 2024       144

A Tour of Zebulon
To begin the evening, the room was asked to imagine giving visitors a tour of Zebulon. 
Attendees provided the following responses to these questions:

Where would you take your visitors?
- Town Hall
- Distillery
- Downtown
- Little River Park
- Creative Cup
- Mudcats
- Mariachi Mexican Restaurant
- The Feathered Farm
- Southland Steakhouse

What would you do?
- Go out to eat
- Go to an athletic event
- Live Music
- Farmers’ Markets
- Something for the kids
- For a walk
- To the park
- Tennis and/or Pickleball
- Ice cream place: Sunset Slush

Where do you wish you could take them?
- The beach
- Lodging
- Safe bicycling
- Science Center
- Cultural Center
- Arts Museum
- History Museum
- Arcade
- Movie Theatre
- Bowling
- Event Center
- Greenway for walks
- High school football game
- Little League Football
- Like the Factory in Wake Forest, recreational and restaurant – entertainment venue
- Dog park

Group Brainstorms

199



Town of Zebulon | Economic Development Strategic Plan | April 2024        145 

Each group had a poster with questions in five different topic areas. Mr. Miller asked the questions from 
one topic area at a time and gave attendees 10 minutes to brainstorm ideas and record them on the 
poster. Ms. Shea and Ms. Gomez-Nichols helped transcribe their responses. 
 
The topic areas and questions were as follows: 
 
Business

7. If you were going to start a business in Zebulon, what are some of the factors you would 
consider? 

8. What can the Town do to make Zebulon more attractive for entrepreneurship? 
9. What businesses are not in Town that you would like to see in town? What do you have to leave 

Zebulon for? 
 
Jobs 

7. Does Zebulon have the right kinds of jobs for the people who live here? Why or why not?  
8. Are these jobs located where people can easily get to them? 
9. Do these jobs meet the community’s needs? 

 
Amenities 

Thinking about qualities that make Zebulon a good place to work and run a business, are there 
amenities that should be improved such as public transportation, roads, housing, healthcare, 
education, entertainment etc.?  

 
Downtown

5. What do you like about Zebulon’s downtown? 
6. What would make downtown better than it is today? 

 
Inclusion

5. Think about the ideas you have generated. If implemented, how might these ideas affect 
vulnerable and historically underserved communities? 

6. How might we take steps to ensure this plan is inclusive and takes into account the perspectives, 
hopes, and concerns of vulnerable and historically underserved communities? 

 
One word to describe the ideal Zebulon economy, what would it be? 

Attendee responses to questions are transcribed on the following pages. 
 

200



Town of Zebulon | Economic Development Strategic Plan | April 2024        146 

- Demographics 
- Process 
- Who to ask for help 
- Zoning 
- Infrastructure 
- Ease of Access 
- Grants Loans for start ups 
- Marketing 
- How well are businesses doing 
- What people want (service) 
- Skilled labor 
- Need for my business 
- Demographics competitions age 
- Overhead cost 
- Interest 
- Need 
- A need in community 
- Growth plan for downtown Zebulon 
- Understanding market demand 
- A business that the whole family can enjoy 
- Places to eat 
- Median income 
- Traffic 
- Quality of housing 
- Quality of schools 
- Local high school 
- Start requiring larger house lots 
- Access from roads/infrastructure 
- For business: water, internet, electricity 
- Household incomes 
- Labor market for employees 
- Lack of avail bus 
- Income demos 
- Access by highway 
- Support from town 
- Existing infrastructure (able to move-in_ 
- Good schools: high schools, community college, etc. 
- Whole family kid friendly spaces within the business 
- Demographics 
- What need is not met 
- Location 
- Access to healthcare 
- Staffing 
- Kids 
- Staff 

201



Town of Zebulon | Economic Development Strategic Plan | April 2024        147 

- Locations 
- Entertainment 
- Value to community 

 

- Infrastructure
- Liaison through process 
- Mentor 
- Ease of Access 
- Grants 
- Improve street congestion 
- Offer grants through SBA 
- Meet ups and activities for feedback 
- Make building rentals easier to find 
- Better parking 
- Update shopping centers (attractive) 
- Community involvement 
- A water park 
- Offer grants or subsidies: promote better 
- Shared small vendor marketplace for small businesses (share overhead together) 
- Marketing available business incentives, buildings, and vendor opportunities 
- Entrepreneurship ecosystem development 
- Programs for teens: mentoring programs 
- Hospital or ER 
- Tech options 
- Product design 
- Stem opportunities 
- Tax breaker 
- Larger residential host 
- Provide tax credits/incentives that are competitive 
- Easy and safe walkability between businesses 
- Better road infrastructure 
- Establish relationship with local business owners 
- Strategically placed dog park 
- Support in permits 
- Advertise 
- Communication 
- Program like Raleigh’s NC-score targeted to Zebulon 
- Mentorship programs for entrepreneurs 
- Marketing/promotions of new businesses 

 

- Dentist 

202



Town of Zebulon | Economic Development Strategic Plan | April 2024        148 

- Bakery 
- Restaurants 
- Hotels 
- Supermarkets 
- Fed Ex store 
- Roller Skating for kids 
- Hotels 
- Entertainment for families 
- Youth/teen centers 
- Sit down restaurants 
- Thai restaurant 
- Better sit-down restaurants 
- Gym 
- Movies 
- Lidl or Aldi 
- Moe 
- Hibachi 
- Bowling 
- Better daycares 
- Plant based options 
- Healthy options 
- Vegan/Plant based restaurants 
- Sit down restaurants 
- Swimming school 
- More retail in downtown 
- Venue/event room 
- YMCA 
- Teen center 
- Hotel(s) 
- Diverse restaurant options and sit-down restaurants 
- Wellness center and gym 
- Craft cocktail lounge with live music (diverse) and nightlife 
- Closer EMS system 
- Retail stores 
- A visitor’s destination: museum, art space science center 
- Civic center 
- Hotel 
- Local EMS 
- Grocery stores: specialty 
- More retail shopping 

203



Town of Zebulon | Economic Development Strategic Plan | April 2024        149 

- Gyms 
- Restaurants with specialized menu 
- Craft shoe center 
- Airport 
- Indoor/outdoor swimming facility 
- Youth activities: bowling 
- High tech business 
- Concert area inside  
- Roller skating 
- Movies 
- Retail shopping 
- Starbucks 
- Target 
- Food Halls 
- More craft beer and distilleries 
- Businesses that offer youth/young adult employment 
- More/expanded gym 
- YMCA 
- Event/co-work space 
- Department stores 
- Large food chain 

 

- No 
- We are just houses 
- Not for the income 
- Highways 
- Not jobs for teens 
- No – not higher paying jobs 
- No. not enough full-time opportunities 
- No, we need HR jobs 
- With more business growth, more jobs will come. The need seems to be more options, not the 

type of… 
- Tech options 
- Product design 
- Stem careers 
- No med 
- More service industries 
- More attractive neighborhoods 
- Not enough business to support large growth 
- Assessment of job needs 
- Diverse jobs 
- Why are people traveling to other towns 

204



Town of Zebulon | Economic Development Strategic Plan | April 2024        150 

- Need more businesses provide more jobs 
- It depends: don’t expect some to be here 
- Jobs may not meet qualifications 
- Lots of entry-level but not middle management/ability to grow 
- Internship/apprenticeship 
- Tech manufacturing 
- Product design 

 

- Most drive out of Zebulon
- Traffic is bad 
- Layout of town needs connected 
- Transportation for those who need it 
- No, I think that you need more advertising 
- No, traffic a mess 
- Marketing, finance, business type jobs 
- Jobs are located in the same area… spread it out 
- Job board 
- Diverse jobs (different working environments) 
- Not enough high paying 
- Can’t make it on $9/hr 
- Entry-level 

 

- No 
- We want people to work and stay here 
- Curriculum of Wake Tech connected to our needs 
- Community needs: meat & potatoes (like restaurants) 
- No, more professional jobs 
- No, pay is too low for many jobs 
- High tech 
- Medical 
- No! They leave to work in other places! 
- More opportunities for young adults: the groc, target 
- Not quite 
- Internship program/opportunity for growth 
- Need more higher income jobs 

 
At the end of the 10 minutes, Mr. Miller asked the room if there were any ideas or key take aways from 
the discussion they would like to share. The following answers were given: 

- Tech manufacturing 
- Medical 
- Product design 
- Cultural events 
- Instead of big industry, community needs 

205



Town of Zebulon | Economic Development Strategic Plan | April 2024        151 

- Mental health care 
- Mark areas of town 
- Orthodontics and dentists 
- High speed internet 
- Transportation buses 
- More healthcare with longer open hours
- Family activities 
- Swimming pool 
- Places to shop 
- Senior housing 
- Bus service 
- Round about instead of 4 way stops 
- Hospital 
- Bike lanes 
- Nice grocery store 
- Handicap accessibility 
- Wake med 
- Historical center 
- Gym 
- Home health care agency 
- Sidewalks to connect to each other for bikes/walker 
- High school 
- Greenway trails to connect to downtown 
- Childcare 
- Need entertainment, movie 
- Town internships for next generation 
- Improve roads 
- Hotels 
- Movies 
- Sidewalks 
- Skate park 
- Ice cream 
- Public transportation 
- Entertainment 
- High schools 
- Autism services and parks (1 in 35) 
- Street lights 
- Improve public transportation 
- Better roads 
- Parking downtown 
- Swimming pool 
- Pickleball courts 
- High school 
- Better roads 

206



Town of Zebulon | Economic Development Strategic Plan | April 2024        152 

- Better lights 
- Better walking paths 
- Hotels 
- Available parking in downtown 
- Entertainment: skating (ice and roller), bowling, arcade, movies, putt putt, or top golf 
- Advice for entrepreneurs 
- Best customer service 
- Youth programs 
- More guarded and clean parks 
- Education: high school 
- Access to Wake Tech/transportation 
- A place for kids to go that is not “by the bars” 
- Transit / transportation 
- Transportation of elderly 
- Better roads for less traffic 
- Local EMS 
- Better roads and parking 
- Better parks and youth activities 
- Transportation for teens to rec center 
- Newspaper 
- Better communication 
- Inside concert auditorium venue 
- Doctors 
- Physical therapy 
- Health care, medicine 
- EV charging stations 
- Water + sewer capacity 
- Bird scooters 
- Entertainment for adults not centered around alcohol 
- Greenway trails 
- Co-working spaces 
- More sidewalks: future could add scooters/bike rentals 
- Recreation/Entertainment  
- Access to (better) 64 from outside  
- Zebulon City Park with sports 
- Basketball courts 
- Public transportation: bus, train, sidewalks, bikes 
- Round-a-bouts 
- Improvement in roads

207



Town of Zebulon | Economic Development Strategic Plan | April 2024        153 

- Creative Cup 
- Charming 
- Activities and events downtown 
- Walkability 
- Small business 
- Centralized 
- Small town feel 
- Decorations 
- History and growth 
- Historical homes and building 
- Quaint 
- Historic 
- Skate park 
- Creative cup 
- Plant store 
- History of building 
- Historic houses 
- Creative cup 
- Olde Raleigh distillery’s event space 
- Historic architecture 
- Charming 
- History 
- Small, local businesses 
- Creative cup 
- Good restaurants: high quality, farm to table 
- Keep free parking 

 

- Face lift 
- Plumbing 
- More businesses that stay open 
- Bike lanes and parking 
- Mixed zoning: business and residential 
- Focused development (not sprawl) 
- Infrastructure 
- Safe walkability 
- Slower traffic downtown 
- Accessibility for seniors and disabilities 
- Community garden 
- Skate park 
- Parking 
- More restaurants 
- No more bars 

208



Town of Zebulon | Economic Development Strategic Plan | April 2024        154 

- Better parking 
- Pocket park 
- Community garden vegetable 
- Children’s area 
- Better community center 
- Plant based dining options 
- Healthy dining options 
- Shopping options 
- Diverse and inclusive 
- Art galleries 
- History museum 
- Cultural center 
- Science center 
- American restaurant/sports bar: wings, burgers, fries, fish 
- Sit-down diverse dining: Indian, sushi 
- Size, gender, age inclusive clothing options 
- More/better parking 
- Bike lane and transportation to Zeb P +R 
- More restaurants 
- Old buildings that could be restored 
- Noise ordinance/control: “live music” that is too loud 
- More retail shops 
- More noise regulation and well-designed ordinances 
- More effective social districting not just allowances 
- Coordination of food trucks (rodeo) 
- More sit-down restaurants 
- More options: sushi, Thai, healthy 
- More food healthy options 
- Options not centered on alcohols 
- Laurels, flowers, murals 
- Boxcar/arcade 
- Event space (like graduation party, family reunion) 
- More local, but still bring in franchises people leave for 
- Bike shop (good if we get more paths) 
- Easier to get to by bike/walking: paths 

 

- Positive impact, these are beneficial 
- Bad traffic 
- Zoning, annexing historic district 
- Internships help underserved teens 
- Offer jobs 
- Give voice 
- Better transportation will help people get around 
- Easier access to transportation from …. 
- This plan may lift up vulnerable and underserved population 

209



Town of Zebulon | Economic Development Strategic Plan | April 2024        155 

- More action and less words! 
- More opportunities for vulnerable and underserved population 
- Easier access to more things to do 
- Town takes ideas in the future plan 
- Continual input from Zebulon citizens 
- Daycare options 

 

- Accessibility: sidewalks, handicap parking, bathrooms
- Low-income housing 
- Public transportation especially for underserved 
- Shuttle system for elderly to get downtown 
- Nice and safe subsidized housing 
- Make sure we provide transportation to activities from lower income activities in Zebulon 
- Do these sessions in lower income areas 
- Public transportation and walkability throughout Zebulon 
- Low cost/free events 
- Cost effective, not wasteful 
- Whole family events for kids/museum 
- Center small, local businesses 

 

- Progressive 
- Sustainable 
- Robust 
- Thriving
- Growing 
- “wow” 
- Flexible 
- Inclusive 
- Affordable 
- Diverse 
- Multi-generational 
- Diversity 
- Thriving
- Booming 
- Accessible 
- Thriving
- Growing 
- Intentional planning 
- improvable 

 
Top Two Ideas For Improving Zebulon’s Economy 
Both groups were asked to pick the top ideas their group came up with. These top ideas were written 
down and placed at the front of the room. Participants were then each given two sticker dots to place 
next to their favorite two ideas. The following ideas in order of popularity were: 

210



Town of Zebulon | Economic Development Strategic Plan | April 2024        156 

- Family entertainment centers/businesses (12 dots) 
 

- Medical facilities: mental clinics/24 hours care (7 dots)
 

- Communicate and incentivize growth that aligns with a sense of community that ALL (minority 
and women-owned businesses) can be proud of. Zebulon should be proactive about defining an
identity that can steer future investment instead of investment deciding our identity. (6 dots)

- Youth activities and opportunities (4 dots)
 

- Jobs with an opportunity for growth (3 dots) 
 

- Public Transportation (3 dots)
 

- Food service and entertainment options (2 dots)
 

- More diversified and charming business: Retail, High tech, hiring employees with wide variety of 
education (2 dots)
 

- Transportation management (2 dots) 
 

- Infrastructure (1 dot)
 

- Child/teen centered; family oriented

Wrap Up 
Shannon Johnson then thanked participants for their time and energy. A local businesswoman 
conducted a raffle for a gift basket. Warren Miller then emphasized Shannon’s comments and concluded 
the meeting. 

 

211



Town of Zebulon | Economic Development Strategic Plan | April 2024        157 

Community Survey Summary

Introduction
The Town of Zebulon engaged Fountainworks to create an online survey to gather information about the 
public’s opinions, concerns, and preferences on issues related to economic development. This 
document summarizes the information gathered in the online survey. 

The survey was offered in English and Spanish. A total of 151 survey responses were collected between 
October 31 and December 4, 2023. 

The Town of Zebulon is dedicated to gathering community opinions and using them to inform the 
economic development strategic plan. The qualitative methodology employed promotes engagement 
and enables us to understand community preferences and concerns. 

Methodology 
For the purposes of this summary, the English and Spanish results have been summarized together. 

All responses were checked for differences by the demographic information provided in Question 7. Any 
differences discovered have been noted where appropriate.  

All written comments and responses have been included in the appendix. 

212



Town of Zebulon | Economic Development Strategic Plan | April 2024        158 

Overall Survey Themes
Overall themes from the survey have been summarized in the table below. 

People live in Zebulon for 
 Housing affordability 
 Family ties 

Quality of life
 Local character/charm 
 Ability to commute to jobs outside of Zebulon

People want more
 Full-service restaurants  
 Grocery stores
 Entertainment  

Priorities for future growth and development 
 Attainable/Affordable housing options
 More entertainment options
 Developing downtown 

Priorities for Jobs 
 Tech/IT
 Service Industry
 Higher Pay/Living Wage
 Healthcare

How the Town can Help 
 Limiting over-development
 Affordable housing
 Affordability and funding 

Avoid gentrification

Question 1 
Would you like to take this survey in English or Spanish? 
¿Te gustaría tomar la enusta en inglés o español? 

148 respondents took the survey in English 
+  3 respondents took the survey in Spanish 
151 total survey responses 

213



Town of Zebulon | Economic Development Strategic Plan | April 2024        159 

Question 2
What are the top 3 reasons you choose to live in the Zebulon area? Please 
rank in order of importance (with 1 being the most important). (123 
responses)

Housing affordability and family ties were the two most popular first choices for reasons to stay in 
Zebulon (highlighted below in burgundy). When looking at the combined first, second, and third choices, 
housing affordability and quality of life tied as the most popular answer (highlighted below in lighter red). 
Local character/charm was the third most picked option for a top-three choice, followed very closely by 
family ties and the ability to commute to jobs outside of Zebulon.  

Response rates for each category are shown in the graph below, with burgundy representing the 
number of times a category was selected as the top priority. Light red represents the total number of 
times the category was voted first, second, or third choice. The “other” comments can be found in the 
appendix. 

 

1

1

4

6

8

10

10

14

29

33

8

4

6

10

34

13

17

44

55

42

43

55

Other

Access to childcare

Recreational opportunities

Access to healthcare

Safe community

Schools

Jobs/employment opportuniites within Zebulon

Local character/charm

Quality of life

Can commute to jobs outside Zebulon

Family ties

Housing affordability
1st Choice Top-3 Choice

214



Town of Zebulon | Economic Development Strategic Plan | April 2024        160 

Question 3
What types of businesses or amenities would you like to see (or see more of) 
in Zebulon? Check all that apply. (125 responses) 

Full-service restaurants were the most popular type of business respondents wanted to see in Zebulon. 
Grocery stores and entertainment were the next most popular categories. 24 responses were originally 
marked as “other.” These responses have been categorized and are shown in the chart below. The 
original responses can be found in the appendix. 

 

Question 4 
What are your top priorities for future growth and development? Please 
rank your top 5 choices (with 1 being most preferred). (123 responses) 

Attainable/Affordable housing options was the most picked 1st choice answer, followed by more 
entertainment options and developing downtown at the same rate. Applying a weighted score to include 

6

10

16

17

37

38

39

49

51

54

72

73

94

Construction/Trade/Electric/Plumbing

Banks/Real Estate Firms

Convenience Stores/Pharmacies

Co-working/Office

Health Services

Other services (Dry cleaner, hair salon, childcare, etc.)

Big Box or Department Stores

Specialty Stores (hardware, appliance, furniture, etc.)

Coffee Shops/Bakeries

Clothing/Gifts

Grocery Stores

Entertainment

Full-Service Restaurants

215



Town of Zebulon | Economic Development Strategic Plan | April 2024        161 

all top-5 answers, the ranking shifted but the same answers remained in the top-three. More 
entertainment options had the highest weighted score, followed by developing downtown and 
attainable/affordable housing options, in that order. 

Response rates for each category are shown in the graph above, with burgundy representing the 
number of times a category was selected as the top priority. Light red represents weighted scores. 
Additional respondent comments have been added to the appendix. 

Question 5
What kind of jobs does Zebulon need? (81 responses) 

This question required people write in a response. Responses were categorized according to themes 
they expressed, with some responses categorized into more than one theme. The most common 
themes are listed below. 
 
Tech/IT78 was the most popular response theme:

- Software development 
- Broadband 

 
78 Themes are hyperlinked to the appendix section with a detailed list of the corresponding responses. 

4

4

6

7

10

12

15

17

17

26

22

21

22

26

38

26

35

54

46

44

Increasing the number of job opportunities

Enhancing walkability

Increasing public transportation options

Increasing quality of jobs

Enhancing small town beautification

More affluent housing options

Keeping the Mudcats

More entertainment options (for all ages)

Developing downtown

Attainable/Affordable housing options

1st choice Weighted
Score

216



Town of Zebulon | Economic Development Strategic Plan | April 2024        162 

 
Service industry, Higher pay/Living Wage, and Healthcare appeared at the same rate as the next most 
popular themes. 

 
Service Industry

- More entertainment 
- Restaurants, cafes, specialty food shop servers 
- Nail techs 

 
Higher Pay / Living Wage

- “Careers that provide a living wage, rather than low wage customer service positions.” 
- “Jobs that offer livable wages and substantial growth and development opportunities for 

employees. Jobs with flexible work options that offer employees work life balance so that they 
cannot only be great corporate citizen, but great citizens in the community.” 

- Quality, stable, high-paying jobs 
 
Healthcare 

- Mental health professionals 
- Doctors, nurses, and EMTs 
- General health services 

 
A detailed list of all responses can be found in the appendix, as well as a table of all themes and their 
frequency. 

Question 6 
What can the Town do to protect vulnerable residents and businesses from 
being displaced due to growth and development? (86 responses) 

This question also required write-in responses. Responses were categorized according to themes 
expressed, with some responses categorized into multiple themes. A list of the top four response 
themes is below, beginning with the most common. 
 
Limiting over-development  

- “Stop building.” 
- “Keep big box stores out.” 
- “Stop building huge housing developments. Keep small-town life.” 
- “None of the infrastructure is handling the growth…including emergency services!” 

 
Affordable housing  

- Rent control for residential and commercial 
- Improve quality, access, and quantity 
- Senior homes with other resources and support 

 
Affordability and funding

217



Town of Zebulon | Economic Development Strategic Plan | April 2024        163 

- Grants for small businesses 
- Make it affordable to open businesses 
- Home repair grants 
- Make sure stores that come are affordable 

 
Avoid Gentrification

- Support local businesses in order to keep them here
- Offer community preservation services 
- “Encourage growth/development in areas that will not displace current residents/businesses.” 

 
A detailed list of all responses to this question can be found in the appendix, as well as a table of all 
themes and their frequency. 

Question 7
How long have you lived in Zebulon? (122 responses) 

43% of survey respondents have lived in Zebulon for more than 10 years. 

Question 8 
If you work, where is your job primarily located? (121 response)

Even though 96% of survey respondents live in Zebulon, only 22% currently work in Zebulon and 12% 
work from home in Zebulon. 

29%

15%

10%

43%

4%

3 years or less

4-7 years

8-10 years

More than 10 years

I do not live in Zebulon.

218



Town of Zebulon | Economic Development Strategic Plan | April 2024        164 

Notably, 49% of respondents who have lived in Zebulon for 3 years or less work in Wake County but not 
Zebulon, whereas only 19% of those who have lived in Zebulon for over 10 years do. Additionally, 9% of 
respondents who have live in Zebulon for 3 years or less chose N/A (I am retired or not currently 
employed) compared to 33% of those who have lived in Zebulon for over 10 years. 
 
Comments left on this question include: 

- “I’m not working here at Zebulon because they don’t have many options.” 
- “Retired, but always worked in Zebulon.”

Question 9 
Would you like to receive occasional email updates about Zebulon’s 
economic development? 

58 respondents answered yes. Their emails have been shared with economic planning department. 

Survey Appendix: Open-Ended 
Responses 
“Other” answers to Question 2: Top 3 reasons you chose to live in Zebulon: 

 When I moved here 10 years ago  
 student at Zebulon middle and live in Rolesville  
 student at Zebulon middle but does not live in Zebulon 
 Get outside of Wake County but be close 

0%

1%

2%

2%

2%

12%

22%

29%

31%

In Nash County

In Johnston County

In Franklin County

In Durham County

Other area of NC

I primarily work from home in Zebulon

In Zebulon

N/A (I am retired or not currently employed)

In Wake County, but not Zebulon

219



Town of Zebulon | Economic Development Strategic Plan | April 2024        165 

Most everyone in town used to be much friendlier when I was a child. But with so many people coming 
from up North and Out West and other places, the majority of the residents are no longer as friendly as 
they used to be because of many of the new people. Many of them have no respect for the people who 
grew up here or their property and the crime rate has greatly increased. So, it is becoming less friendly 
and a less desirable place to live by the day. 

 Zebulon Magnet middle is not a safe school   
 Lived here all my life  
 Not everyone drinks alcohol! 

 

“Other” answers to Question 3: What types of businesses or amenities would 
you like to see in Zebulon? 

Entertainment
 Senior Center 
 Museum 
 Movie theater 
 Aldi 
 No more big-box or chain restaurants!!!!!! 
 Zebulon is already called a bedroom community for Raleigh:-( 
 Yoga Studio 
 A Harris Teeter or Publix would be great 
 nonprofit, community spaces 
 Hotel 
 A community skill center where people can learn trades like carpentry, mechanics, etc. also then can get 

free counseling for people dealing with depression, alcohol, and Drugs. 
 Parks 
 Clothing Alteration Business, Jersey Mike's 
 Fast Food Variety 
 A hobby store or like a U.S. military shop or Plen store like a model shop 
 School 
 Activity Center (ax throwing, bowling) 
 consignment store like Suzanna's in Rolesville... a thrift "mall" where a large space has smaller vendor 

spaces (like Suzanna's but less pricey antiques like they have) ... a store full of Made in NC products! 
...homemade bread bakery.... 

 More Fast-food options 
 Unique shops and activities, museums, 
 Historic museum 
 working food bank 
 better education, bookstore 

 

Additional comments from Question 4: What are your top priorities for 
future growth and development? 

 Keeping small downtown charm intact 
 Restaurants!!!!! 
 #1 Traffic & Parking downtown area 
 More health care options 
 Add more sidewalk 
 Fix the pothole 
 Not allowing housing growth to overpower roadways! 

220



Town of Zebulon | Economic Development Strategic Plan | April 2024        166 

 Plen store 
 Help improve curb/appeal/façade of downtown residential housing 
 Quality job opportunities 
 Keeping small town charm. 

Response Themes and Frequency from Question 5: What kind of jobs does 
Zebulon need?  

Tech/IT 14

Service Industry (Restaurant, Entertainment, Beauty) 12

Higher Pay/Living wage 12

Healthcare 12

Trades 9

Professional 7

Comment/Complaint 6

Emergency Responder 5

Local/Small business 5

Jobs with advancement potential 5

Office 5

Care Industry 4

Student and Youth Jobs 4

Entry-level 4

More Jobs 4

Manufacturing 4

Research and Development 3

Community-based 3

Corporate 3

Retail 3

Remote / Flexible 2

Transportation 2

I don't know 2

Commute Out for Work 1

Non-manufacturing 1

Skilled labor 1

Government 1

Education 1

221



Town of Zebulon | Economic Development Strategic Plan | April 2024        167 

Unclear Response 1

Responses to Question 5: What kind of jobs does Zebulon need? 
Not sure 

 Biotech jobs (laboratory and data analysis), jobs that can become a career, accountants (tax preps), 
middle management jobs 

 Office 
 More entertainment, restaurants and other activities for families. 
 Service industry and local businesses  
 Trade 
 Tech/IT 
 Careers that provide a living wage, rather than low wage customer service positions. 
 Healthcare 
 Mental health professionals  
 MORE POLICE, FIRE AND EMS 
 People can commute to Raleigh for career opportunities.  
 Professional 
 Bigger retailers, restaurants 
 Tech, restaurants, childcare  
 Non-manufacturing jobs 
 Small business  
 Skilled 
 Is this honestly a question? For crying out loud. Do better. 
 I don’t know 
 IT, research and development, life sciences 
 1. Employment for College & advanced degree candidates  
 Full-time jobs with good benefits.  
 Emergency services, paramedics, nurses, general health services jobs, Office jobs, retail, servers.  
 More local farm jobs 
 Higher paying jobs-Healthcare for example; Entry level jobs with growth opportunities  
 Biomedical, transportation services, more small businesses 
 Remote in shared spaces, community based and/or higher than minimum wage. 
 Technical  
 Electrical, tech related and entertainment related. 
 Health care, Labor skills trades  
 Healthcare - need a hospital.  Office jobs. 
 Police stations, fire dept, hospitals. 
 Pothole fixer jobs  
 Nail techs and Boba Tea shops. 
 pothole fixer jobs  
 Jobs for younger people 
 more trash pickups so we don't throw it in the grass. 
 More manufacturing jobs that pay more than $13-$15 an hour. 
 Community Service Jobs and Transportation 
 Doctors, Nurses, and EMTs  
 Jobs that offer livable wages and substantial growth and development opportunities for employees. Jobs 

with flexible work options that offer employees work life balance so that they cannot only be great 
corporate citizen, but great citizens in the community.  

 Just more as the population is increasing  

222



Town of Zebulon | Economic Development Strategic Plan | April 2024        168 

appropriate job opportunities for youth, jobs providing living wage
 Jobs that enhance individuals’ ability to become entrepreneurs/ self-employed. 
 Health care, Industry, technology  
 Companies that are large enough to need separate Accounts Payable or Accounts Receivable or Payroll 

positions. Possibly in Computer Industry, Telecommunications Industry, Healthcare Industry. 
 Zebulon should have more restaurants and bars, as well as activities where parents and children can 

spend time together. The Parks & Recreation programs should be more developed. Zebulon also needs 
more real estate firms and more in-town attorneys.  

 Jobs in every category to fit with the diverse public we have here in Zebulon. 
 Any types that can fit  
 PLEN PILOTS 
 for teens and fun jobs  
 construction  
 bakeries  
 healthcare 
 More care dealers. 
 Manufacturing, technology 
 Zebulon needs office jobs so that folks will not have to commute to Raleigh or Durham or Wilson. 
 Zebulon needs more jobs for middle class citizens. There are not enough restaurants in the area to offer 

decent serving jobs. It would also be nice to have some corporate companies nearby for those who want 
that kind of job as well. 

 Corporate Jobs   
 Small Business and entry level 
 Tech and manufacturing 
 Long term higher paying. 
 More Police officers; Firemen; Home Care workers;  
 More professional jobs that offer higher pay and benefits.  
 we need jobs that require a high school diploma or 2-year degree  
 stable decent paying jobs 
 Ones whose pay would allow the person to live in Zebulon 
 Manufacturing 
 Tech / software development 
 Diversity is good. I think looking at what the needs and abilities of the population would be a good start.  
 Professional  
 Warehouse jobs more office jobs too! 
 High Tech and Broadband opportunities.  
 Tech, electronics, electricity and other trades. 
 Medical, tech, entertainment, major chain retail, tailor and shoe repair, government branch-fed, state and 

local 
 Mid-managerial, Home health, IT jobs 
 Trades 
 Quality, stable, high-paying jobs. White Collar 
 start building more fast-food places 
 Mas escuelas (More schools) 

 

Popular themes to Question 5: What kind of jobs does Zebulon need? 

Tech/IT 
 Tech/IT 
 Tech, restaurants, childcare  

223



Town of Zebulon | Economic Development Strategic Plan | April 2024        169 

IT, research and development, life sciences
 Technical  
 Electrical, tech related and entertainment related. 
 Health care, Industry, technology  
 Companies that are large enough to need separate Accounts Payable or Accounts Receivable or Payroll 

positions. Possibly in Computer Industry, Telecommunications Industry, Healthcare Industry. 
 Manufacturing, technology 
 Tech and manufacturing 
 Tech / software development 
 High Tech and Broadband opportunities.  
 Tech, electronics, electricity and other trades. 
 Medical, tech, entertainment, major chain retail, tailor and shoe repair, government branch-fed, state and 

local 
 Mid-managerial, Home health, IT jobs 

 
Service Industry 

 More entertainment, restaurants and other activities for families. 
 Service industry and local businesses  
 Bigger retailers, restaurants 
 Tech, restaurants, childcare  
 Emergency services, paramedics, nurses, general health services jobs, Office jobs, retail, servers.  
 Electrical, tech related and entertainment related. 
 Nail techs and Boba Tea shops. 
 Zebulon should have more restaurants and bars, as well as activities where parents and children can 

spend time together. The Parks & Recreation programs should be more developed. Zebulon also needs 
more real estate firms and more in-town attorneys.  

 bakeries  
 Zebulon needs more jobs for middle class citizens. There are not enough restaurants in the area to offer 

decent serving jobs. It would also be nice to have some corporate companies nearby for those who want 
that kind of job as well. 

 Medical, tech, entertainment, major chain retail, tailor and shoe repair, government branch-fed, state and 
local 

 start building more fast-food places 
 
Higher Pay / Living Wage 

Careers that provide a living wage, rather than low wage customer service positions.
 Full-time jobs with good benefits.  
 Higher paying jobs-Healthcare for example; Entry level jobs with growth opportunities  
 Remote in shared spaces, community based and/or higher than minimum wage. 
 More manufacturing jobs that pay more than $13-$15 an hour. 
 Jobs that offer livable wages and substantial growth and development opportunities for employees. Jobs 

with flexible work options that offer employees work life balance so that they cannot only be great 
corporate citizen, but great citizens in the community.  

 appropriate job opportunities for youth, jobs providing living wage 
 Long term higher paying. 
 More professional jobs that offer higher pay and benefits.  
 stable decent paying jobs 
 Ones whose pay would allow the person to live in Zebulon 
 Quality, stable, high-paying jobs. White Collar 

 
Healthcare 

224



Town of Zebulon | Economic Development Strategic Plan | April 2024        170 

Healthcare
 Mental health professionals  
 Emergency services, paramedics, nurses, general health services jobs, Office jobs, retail, servers.  
 Higher paying jobs-Healthcare for example; Entry level jobs with growth opportunities  
 Health care, Labor skills trades  
 Healthcare - need a hospital.  Office jobs. 
 Police stations, fire dept, hospitals. 
 Doctors, Nurses, and EMTs  
 Health care, Industry, technology  
 Companies that are large enough to need separate Accounts Payable or Accounts Receivable or Payroll 

positions. Possibly in Computer Industry, Telecommunications Industry, Healthcare Industry. 
 healthcare 
 Medical, tech, entertainment, major chain retail, tailor and shoe repair, government branch-fed, state and 

local 
 

Responses to Question 6: What can the town do to protect vulnerable 
residents and businesses from being displaced due to growth and 
development? 

 Not sure  
 Directory of local businesses with website info. Making sure stores that come are affordable. 

Prioritizing local small businesses. Making sure to preserve the history of the town. 
 Stop building 
 Better infrastructure. 
 Get rid of the boozer venues or at least put the road blocks back in place to get the drunk 

drivers out. How about a special camera that takes the photos of plates like in Raleigh and wake 
forest to keep our streets safer and those that would do it harm out 

 Grandfather laws 
 Be more involved  
 Reduce vacant landlords who do not live nearby 
 I think that the town should research this question and discuss with experts in this field. It's an 

important issue that should be handled with knowledge and care, rather than a group vote.  
 Help them financially  
 It’s time to limit affordable housing options & being the place Raleigh sends their vulnerable 

residents. Zebulon is a bedroom community of Raleigh that needs development because 
Zebulon is the last stop before Wilson or Nashville/Rocky Mount. It needs to be a destination not 
a dumping ground.  

 Keep big box stores out.  
 Plan long-term growth instead of as it happens 
 Provide more parking 
 N/a 
 Rent control residential and commercial, affordable housing, grants for small businesses  
 Stop building huge housing developments. Keep small town life. 
 Stop housing growth. Too many to close together. None of the infrastructure is handling this 

growth… including emergency services! 
 Not issue so many permits.  Zebulon is already called a bedroom community for Raleigh:-( 
 What can this firm do to develop a better questionnaire? 

225



Town of Zebulon | Economic Development Strategic Plan | April 2024        171 

 Include the citizens in conversations. Make sure they are aware of the growth and have the 
opportunity to weigh in on it. Social media is an easy way to do this but you must remember that 
many of them don’t use social media in that way.  For instance, many of them will not be aware 
of this survey.  

 STOP raising taxes! Stop raising the pay for commissioners (when you chose to run for office, 
you knew the pay). Your job is to serve, not earn a living off the taxpayers' back (ie, the Zebulon 
residents). If you need more income, seek a better paying job or become an entrepreneur.  

 annex contingent areas and set higher standards consistent with the towns long range planning 
for project approval 

 Make sure affordable housing stays in place. Also working to bring a couple big name companies 
to the area. GSK is good, but a few more would be great. Market it as the RTP of the East.  

 Focus on fully staffing emergency services and building more roads to relieve the increasing 
traffic thanks to all the new home construction and population growth. This should be 
considered when allowing more home constructions.  

 Ask for their input and ideas like this survey does. Provide more than one option to them when 
it comes time for development. 

 Continuing engaging residents in these surveys; Really consider the wants/needs from the 
residents; Limit the same type of businesses to reduce competition (For example with have 3 
pizza restaurants in 1 shopping center.)  

 limit rezoning for high dollar development 
 Limit chains/big box to outskirts. 
 Do a step program to slowly bring up the business.  Work an affordable plan.  For residence look 

for grant monies to help for improvements. 
 Keep taxes low. Encourage growth/development in areas that will not displace current 

residents/businesses. Use incentives if necessary. 
 Patrol the city, safety prevention programs. 
 Fix the traffic situation. It’s horrible! Have any of you Zebulon downtown residences have to be in 

Raleigh by 8 am to work? 264 is nothing but a death trap from Zebulon to Knightdale. Also, 
Arendell Avenue from Pippin Road to Gannon is outrageous. 

 get someone to buy the businesses and open them up to save them from closing or being 
displaced. 

 Fix potholes   
 Stop Building so many Bars. 
 spend more time making those laces sustainable  
 Avoid building in residential areas 
 put more time and effort to sustain those places then we can focus on other things. 
 To be honest I don't know 
 no se (I don't know) 
 Zebulon needs to have MORE affordable housing due to the economy being as bad as it is. 

Many people getting on social media asking about houses to rent. They cannot afford to live in 
Raleigh. Their jobs are here in Zebulon. 

 Have better mayors 
 having stricter laws and more police officers  
 Create opportunities for outreach and charity for those who migrated to the area from places 

like Raleigh and Durham looking for affordable housing. Create a way that those who are new to 
the community can support individuals who are the foundation of the community that they’ve 

226



Town of Zebulon | Economic Development Strategic Plan | April 2024        172 

been able to move to. Zebulon can be a place where people not only come to invest in 
themselves and their family, but they also invest in the community.  

 STOP the huge influx of people.  We are native and have contributed to the community for 
decades and now my own children can’t see themselves staying here.  That is sad.  They grew up 
in our schools, sports, Scouts and dance but hate what the area is becoming. 

 Have resources inflamed to help the small business owners.  Affordable housing for the 
vulnerable education financial prep and outreach, funding for home preservation and business 
assistance, jobs opportunities for those underemployed 

 Provide development for businesses that want to take part in personal and business 
development courses/training. 

 More support for existing local businesses to keep them here. 
 Offer low income &/or currently unemployed residents home repair grants (that don't have to 

be repaid - possibly from the federal government) for immediate needs that they can't afford to 
pay for themselves so that they will not be forced to leave their home due to not being able to 
afford proper upkeep. The way the town used to be, people would get together to help their 
family, friends, neighbors and fellow church members. Now that kind of thing is mainly through 
churches or government programs. 

 The town should not have as a priority to protect vulnerable residents and businesses from 
being displaced due to growth and development. Barbee Street should be a priority in 
downtown development. Large and small developers should be encouraged and assisted by the 
Planning Department, instead of being discouraged, perhaps in exchange for commitment to 
some affordable housing.  

 Provide for more access and improve low-income safe housing. 
 I don’t really know how  
 Maybe volunteer security for parts of town. 
 making a job 
 more economy  
 have better security  
 I don't know 
 Hire more people that can't find one. 
 Ask them what they need. 
 Make it affordable for folks to open businesses downtown. Give independent business owners 

an incentive to keep their businesses in Zebulon. Keep the city residential tax low. People are 
taxed enough by the State and Federal Governments.  

 already happened... everywhere, not just Zebulon. I think we're past correct planning for growth 
and development! missed that boat. Affordable housing is extinct  

 Plan. That's the only way to make sure everyone knows what is happening and why.  
 Stop building so many homes when our town does not have the infrastructure to support that 

many people. 
 Showcase small business section in website and newsletters 
 Affordable rent and housing 
 Be respectful. Other business need to be respectful of each other. 
 Survey areas to identify at risk communities, such as number of evictions for foreclosures in an 

area; landlords who don't keep up their property but increase rents; home prices increasing 
 Stop growing the town uncontrollably.  

227



Town of Zebulon | Economic Development Strategic Plan | April 2024        173 

 Ensure that traffic congestion is minimized, that more higher priced homes are built (rather than 
the cheaper ones that are being built now) and that more entertainment opportunities are 
provided in a safer environment.  

 not sure 
 offer community preservation services, like helping develop a land trust or similar program 
 Stop growing at this rate, stop developers from out-pricing people,  
 Decent Senior Homes, with convenience to Medical and groceries. Support Shop local Event. 
 Continue to work with the chamber of commerce to highlight small business owners and their 

products and services.  Support local religious organizations and their outreach to older 
residents and or residents that may be struggling financially.  Maybe the town could create a 
web presence that pulls together government services with church food banks and non-profits 
that help battered women etc. to help people searching for help find available resources in the 
area. 

 Offer grants to improve and stabilize existing housing inventory. Support owner occupied 
housing and reduce absent landlord ownerships 

 Look for grants or other resources to provide support and ways to help make improvements to 
be successful. I like what the Detective is doing to help with our youth who need a counselor. I 
think finding support that has a face for the vulnerable in our community. Helping to navigate 
resources.  

 Encourage small local businesses. Doing frequent events to get their name out and heard. 
 Stop the growth  
 Please no more cookie cutter high density developments like we are seeing now.  This will 

destroy the character and charm of the area if it continues.  More developments like Betty Ray 
use to development.  Saddens me to see the kind of development going on here. We have seen 
what this has done to other towns. 

 Be more mindful of overdevelopment in areas that has been an intricate part of establishing this 
town. Property tax stabilization for already established residents on fixed incomes  

 Disallow utilizing eminent domain. Stop trying to be Cary or Apex. Stop unbridled growth until 
infrastructure improvements are started. Two lane roads, be it country ones or Gannon Avenue 
or Shepard School road MUST be widened before the entire town becomes one big, massive 
traffic snarl. Despite a much denser, heavily populated area than Zebulon, it's easier to get 
around many places in Raleigh, especially North Raleigh, because the roads were widened in 
conjunction with the growth, not years (or decades) afterwards.   

 Leave us alone ~ quit spending money like the Federal government.   
 I don’t know, but this needs to be a priority! 
 Provide public transit, and access to higher paying jobs. Increase access to equitable housing 

options. Work with local business to adapt business models to changing client demographics.  
 

Response themes and frequency from Question 6: What can the town do to 
protect vulnerable residents and businesses from being displaced due to 
growth and development? 

Limit over-development 17 
Affordable housing 14 
Affordability & Funding 10 

228



Town of Zebulon | Economic Development Strategic Plan | April 2024        174 

Gentrification 8
Comment/Complaint 8
Communication 7
I don't know 7
Traffic Safety 6
Planning and Research 5 
Infrastructure 5 
Serve the vulnerable. 4 
Taxes 4 
Town support 4 
Laws and Statutes 4 
Emergency Responders 4 
Preserve small-town 3
Prioritize community needs 3 
Create jobs 3 
Don't prioritize the vulnerable. 3 
Limit alcohol 2 
Education and Training 2 
Safety and Security 2 
Preserve history 2 
Better communication 1 
Public transportation 1 
Non-answer 1 
Effort 1 
Inclusion 1 

Popular themes and responses to Question 6: What can the town do to 
protect vulnerable residents and businesses from being displaced due to 
growth and development? 

Limit Over-Development 
 Stop building 
 Keep big box stores out.  
 Stop building huge housing developments. Keep small town life. 
 Stop housing growth. Too many to close together. None of the infrastructure is handling this growth… 

including emergency services! 
 Not issue so many permits.  Zebulon is already called a bedroom community for Raleigh :-( 
 Continuing engaging residents in these surveys; Really consider the wants/needs from the residents; Limit 

the same type of businesses to reduce competition (For example with have 3 pizza restaurants in 1 
shopping center.)  

 limit rezoning for high dollar development 
 Limit chains/big box to outskirts. 

229



Town of Zebulon | Economic Development Strategic Plan | April 2024        175 

Avoid building in residential areas
 STOP the huge influx of people.  We are native and have contributed to the community for decades and 

now my own children can’t see themselves staying here.  That is sad.  They grew up in our schools, sports, 
Scouts and dance but hate what the area is becoming. 

 Stop building so many homes when our town does not have the infrastructure to support that many 
people. 

 Stop growing the town uncontrollably.  
 Stop growing at this rate, stop developers from out-pricing people,  
 Stop the growth  
 Please no more cookie cutter high density developments like we are seeing now.  This will destroy the 

character and charm of the area if it continues.  More developments like Betty Ray use to development.  
Saddens me to see the kind of development going on here. We have seen what this has done to other 
towns. 

 Be more mindful of overdevelopment in areas that has been an intricate part of establishing this town. 
Property tax stabilization for already established residents on fixed incomes  

 Disallow utilizing eminent domain. Stop trying to be Cary or Apex. Stop unbridled growth until 
infrastructure improvements are started. Two lane roads, be it country ones or Gannon Avenue or 
Shepard School road MUST be widened before the entire town becomes one big, massive traffic snarl. 
Despite a much denser, heavily populated area than Zebulon, it's easier to get around many places in 
Raleigh, especially North Raleigh, because the roads were widened in conjunction with the growth, not 
years (or decades) afterwards.   

 
 
Affordable Housing 

 Rent control residential and commercial, affordable housing, grants for small businesses  
 Make sure affordable housing stays in place. Also working to bring a couple big name companies to the 

area. GSK is good, but a few more would be great. Market it as the RTP of the East.  
 Zebulon needs to have MORE affordable housing due to the economy being as bad as it is. Many people 

getting on social media asking about houses to rent. They cannot afford to live in Raleigh. Their jobs are 
here in Zebulon. 

 Create opportunities for outreach and charity for those who migrated to the area from places like Raleigh 
and Durham looking for affordable housing. Create a way that those who are new to the community can 
support individuals who are the foundation of the community that they’ve been able to move to. Zebulon 
can be a place where people not only come to invest in themselves and their family, but they also invest 
in the community.  

 Have resources inflamed to help the small business owners.  Affordable housing for the vulnerable  
 Offer low income &/or currently unemployed residents home repair grants (that don't have to be repaid - 

possibly from the federal government) for immediate needs that they can't afford to pay for themselves 
so that they will not be forced to leave their home due to not being able to afford proper upkeep. The 
way the town used to be, people would get together to help their family, friends, neighbors and fellow 
church members. Now that kind of thing is mainly through churches or government programs. 

 The town should not have as a priority to protect vulnerable residents and businesses from being 
displaced due to growth and development. Barbee Street should be a priority in downtown development. 
Large and small developers should be encouraged and assisted by the Planning Department, instead of 
being discouraged, perhaps in exchange for commitment to some affordable housing.  

 Provide for more access and improve low-income safe housing. 
 already happened... everywhere, not just Zebulon. I think we're past correct planning for growth and 

development! missed that boat. Affordable housing is extinct  
 Affordable rent and housing 
 Survey areas to identify at risk communities, such as number of evictions for foreclosures in an area; 

landlords who don't keep up their property but increase rents; home prices increasing 

230



Town of Zebulon | Economic Development Strategic Plan | April 2024        176 

Decent Senior Homes, with convenience to Medical and groceries. Support Shop local Event.
 Offer grants to improve and stabilize existing housing inventory. Support owner occupied housing and 

reduce absent landlord ownerships 
 Provide public transit, and access to higher paying jobs. Increase access to equitable housing options. 

Work with local business to adapt business models to changing client demographics.  

Affordability and Funding 
Directory of local businesses with website info. Making sure stores that come are affordable. Prioritizing 
local small businesses. Making sure to preserve the history of the town. 

 Rent control residential and commercial, affordable housing, grants for small businesses  
 Do a step program to slowly bring up the business.  Work an affordable plan.  For residence look for grant 

monies to help for improvements. 
 Keep taxes low. Encourage growth/development in areas that will not displace current 

residents/businesses. Use incentives if necessary. 
 education financial prep and outreach, funding for home preservation and business assistance, jobs 

opportunities for those underemployed 
 Offer low income &/or currently unemployed residents home repair grants (that don't have to be repaid - 

possibly from the federal government) for immediate needs that they can't afford to pay for themselves 
so that they will not be forced to leave their home due to not being able to afford proper upkeep. The 
way the town used to be, people would get together to help their family, friends, neighbors and fellow 
church members. Now that kind of thing is mainly through churches or government programs. 

 Make it affordable for folks to open businesses downtown. Give independent business owners an 
incentive to keep their businesses in Zebulon. Keep the city residential tax low. People are taxed enough 
by the State and Federal Governments.  

 Offer grants to improve and stabilize existing housing inventory. Support owner occupied housing and 
reduce absent landlord ownerships 

 Look for grants or other resources to provide support and ways to help make improvements to be 
successful. I like what the Detective is doing to help with our youth who need a counselor. I think finding 
support that has a face for the vulnerable in our community. Helping to navigate resources.  

Gentrification 
 Keep taxes low. Encourage growth/development in areas that will not displace current 

residents/businesses. Use incentives if necessary. 
 get someone to buy the businesses and open them up to save them from closing or being 

displaced. 
 spend more time making those laces sustainable  
 put more time and effort to sustain those places then we can focus on other things. 
 More support for existing local businesses to keep them here. 
 Offer low income &/or currently unemployed residents home repair grants (that don't have to 

be repaid - possibly from the federal government) for immediate needs that they can't afford to 
pay for themselves so that they will not be forced to leave their home due to not being able to 
afford proper upkeep. The way the town used to be, people would get together to help their 
family, friends, neighbors and fellow church members. Now that kind of thing is mainly through 
churches or government programs. 

 offer community preservation services, like helping develop a land trust or similar program 
 I don’t know, but this needs to be a priority! 

  

231



Town of Zebulon | Economic Development Strategic Plan | April 2024       177

Staff Design Thinking Retreat Summary

Meeting Purpose
The Town of Zebulon convened a retreat with staff and key community stakeholders 
to review and discuss Phase One of stakeholder engagement efforts and use design-
thinking to understand how community members and businesses interact with the 
Town on economic development issues. The meeting was professionally facilitated by 
Fountainworks. Comments were captured as the conversation flowed and do not 
reflect any priority unless otherwise noted. 

Objectives:
- Review, recap, and discuss the environmental assessment report
- Present findings from the first phase of stakeholder engagement, including insights from the three 

community cafés and the community survey
- Envision the next round of stakeholder engagement using journey mapping and design thinking

Meeting Participants:
- Shannon Johnson, Town of Zebulon Economic Development Specialist
- Teresa Piner, Downtown Main Street Director
- John Saffold, Zebulon Chamber of Commerce Executive Director
- Brandon McCraney, Olde Raleigh Distillery Owner
- Sam Rauf, Wake County Economic Development Senior Economic Development Manager
- Michael Clark, Town of Zebulon Planning Director
- Julie Brenman, Maddie Shea, and Laura Gomez-Nichols of Fountainworks

Agenda
Julie walked the group through the meeting’s agenda:

- Welcome and Orientation
- Review Phase One of Stakeholder Engagement
- Journey Mapping: Human Centered Design for Economic Development
- Next Steps & Adjourn

232



Town of Zebulon | Economic Development Strategic Plan | April 2024       178

Next, a brief overview of the Economic Development Strategic Planning process was given (displayed 
below). Please note, this timeline has shifted slightly, but is still on target for completion by July 2024.

Document Review and 
Discussion
Maddie gave a brief overview of the Environmental Assessment. A summary of this assessment can be 
found in the appendix. Laura then gave a brief overview of the findings from the Community 
Engagement Summary and the Community Survey Summary. The handout for this discussion can be 
found in the appendix.

Next, participants were split into three groups to discuss each of these three documents. After these 
small group discussions, each group reported out their key takeaways. Their responses are captured 
below.

233



Town of Zebulon | Economic Development Strategic Plan | April 2024       179

Responses to Environmental 
Assessment

- This robust document pulls together Town as 
well as other resources. 

o “I love this document on its own.”
o “I want to keep this document at my 

desk. And so would elected officials 
and the management team.”

- It is a good reference/tool moving forward, 
but the data will need to be kept up-to-date.

- The best practices examples can support 
community education.

o For example, the Town may not take 
the lead in establishing land trusts, 
but other entities can.

Responses to Community Survey 
Summary

- Concern that people live here but don’t work 
here and workers might be priced out

o Vibrant small towns eat, live, and work 
in town.

- Opportunity to create vibrant community 
through partnerships and programs

o Example: Wake Tech
- Can we avoid having to play catch-up with 

transportation?
o Regional Transportation Alliance 

meetings seem focused everywhere 
but east County.

o It would make sense to focus on 
connectivity with new Wake Tech as a 
hub and then creating spokes out to 
the surrounding communities.

“If you want a strong workforce, you want access to educational institutions.”
- The Chambers of Commerce are starting to work more regionally.

o It makes sense for us to think regionally as far as major investments are concerned (i.e. 
healthcare and education), but balance this with our need to keep Zebulon identity.

- The survey highlights communication gaps. Resources exist, but people don’t know about them.

234



Town of Zebulon | Economic Development Strategic Plan | April 2024       180

Responses to Community 
Engagement Summary

- No major surprises good!
- Communication gap in regard to existing efforts
- It also highlights that many do not know what the 

Town can vs. cannot do
o The Town is limited to what they can 

actually do except through coding and 
zoning.

- Data can support prioritization
- People younger than 45 are under-represented 

at the cafés.
o These people tend to be newer residents and residents with younger families. So, we 

are missing information on their needs, like with youth activities.
- Staff is stretched on how to address a growing community’s needs with limited resources.
- Can see how navigating the various government entities can be confusing

o Example: Confusion about signage ordinances and who to ask
o There does seem to be a general sense of improvement on these issues, but could be 

useful to have an individual to help navigate.
o If you’re starting a business, you don’t know what you don’t know.

- How do we preserve affordable housing while bringing in higher income?
o A higher median income would support many of the desires mentioned, such as 

bringing in larger grocers.

Consistent Themes Across Documents
- Affordable housing, but not just a “cheap place to live”
- Communication education gaps on:

o What’s in Town’s power
o What is already going on and available

- Wake Tech as a resource
- Entertainment and restaurants
- Desire to stay here and not have to 

leave Town for services

235



Town of Zebulon | Economic Development Strategic Plan | April 2024       181

Journey Mapping: Human-
Centered Design for Economic 
Development
After a short break, Julie walked the group through an introduction to journey mapping and human-
centered design thinking. The slide deck and handout used can be found in the appendix.

Design Thinking Steps

- As part of the empathize stage of design thinking, journey mapping is a useful tool for 
understanding all of the steps that different stakeholders take throughout a process.

- Journey mapping presents the opportunity for participants to step outside of their usual role 
and see the process through different perspectives.

- The idea is to put the user at the center of attention in order to reach solutions that reflect the 
user’s needs.

To better understand what people need in regards to economic development, the remainder of the 
retreat focused on empathizing. Participants were split into three groups and each group was assigned 
one of three personas:

236



Town of Zebulon | Economic Development Strategic Plan | April 2024       182

1. Entrepreneur with a new business idea
2. Existing businessowner
3. Large corporation

The groups were instructed to assume the role of their persona and walk through the process of an 
envisioned scenario they may face in Zebulon. Journey maps were then reported back to the group as a 
whole and a short discussion followed each report. Comments have been captured below.

Entrepreneur with a New 
Business Idea

- Scenario: Hoping to open an antique store 
downtown in the old Whitley building

- Journey:
o People see a for sale or for rent sign 

when they come to town
o This might trigger them to call a real 

estate agent.
o Real estate agent might give them 

bad information, such as saying a 
certain use is allowed when it is not.

o Client gets very mad when they find out.
o Client might have to contact a bank depending on lease or mortgage.
o Banks says they need zoning verification letter to make sure something is permitted.
o Client goes to planning department for verification.

Planning department informs the client of the upgrades they would have to do 
and all the new forms and processes required.
Planning department puts client in touch with downtown coordinator.

- Emotions: Started with excitement, afterward feeling frustration, sadness, anger
- Insights and Opportunities

o A central location or individual to help a new business navigate through the process 
would be a huge value-add.

“A new-business GPS”
Not providing all the answers, but providing guidance
Some people are inexperienced, so having the resource is very helpful.

o Brandon discussed how difficult and frustrating his experience opening his business 
downtown was. After reaching a breaking point, he reached out to Michael. He said he 
should have gone to Michael much sooner.

o The Town is often an afterthought as a resource, but it shouldn’t be. The group 
discussed that the Town should be sharing the message “We want you to be successful,” 
with business owners.

o The Town has changed the focus and gotten rid of planners who only said no, but we 
still have to fix perspective.

o Because of the low rents, people with different levels of sophistication and 
preparedness have ideas for businesses. The Town often has to provide more 
personalized guidance, compared to other municipalities.

o There is an opportunity for the Town to work with realtors about allowed uses.

237



Town of Zebulon | Economic Development Strategic Plan | April 2024       183

Existing Businessowner
- Scenario: Brandon, who operates a 

distillery downtown, is trying to connect 
with residents.

- Brandon is trying to figure out how to 
get folks to come downtown.

o Most of his business and the 
other successful downtown 
business does not come from 
town residents.

o Money comes from out-of-town 
visitors or global/online

- Has to inform partners that this is an 
issue

- Form a cohort of businesses
o How to communicate with the public about downtown?

- Persona goals: an increase in customers that brings an increase in profit
- Insights and opportunities:

o Our downtown is experiencing a transition.
o A "small business growth series” can bring information about the Town, its 

demographics, and resources to business owners.
o Helping existing businesses to stay and grow is a community priority. 
o The Chamber has been redeveloping some programs and has introduced a more 

affordable membership tier. The relationship between the Chamber and the Town 
supports connections with the business community.

The environmental assessment can also be shared as a resource.

Large Corporation
- Scenario: GlaxoSmithKline (GSK) Human 

Resources (HR) leader wants to work on the 
talent pipeline to get better talent

- Journey:
o Meet internally with HR team to 

review current efforts and identify 
unfilled needs

o After internal review, perform a 
market analysis on those positions.

What is the average wage?
Is occupation growing or 
declining?

o Explore external partnership 
opportunities

It may be confusing to 
navigate all the institutions in the area

o Implement new programs

238



Town of Zebulon | Economic Development Strategic Plan | April 2024        184 

- Insights and Opportunities:
o Having a liaison to the institutions in the area would be very helpful. 

 This also promotes the Town as a partner. 
 

Thoughts and Reactions to Empathizing and Journey Mapping
- We should prioritize clients’ perspectives as we develop the plan. 
- We can implement some ideas quickly, such as a “one-stop-shop” resource or a small business 

series. These are low-cost entry items that have immediate value.
- Recognize the personal investment and frustration of entrepreneurs.
- Consider a liaison for housing challenges, promoting proactive measures over reactive 

responses.
- We do not have the staffing to be all things to all people. 

o How do you build on partnerships and connections to be the navigator but not the 
service provider?

o Our community is asset-rich.
- Highlight collaborations such as last year’s NCSU/IBM design thinking course focused on the 

principles of Zebulon’s Vision 2030 Strategic Plan. 
- Address concerns about lack of cohesion among separate entities, such as Zebulon Downtown 

Arts Council, the business community, and the Chamber of Commerce.
- Discuss the need for change to facilitate connections; explore Main Street Program as a catalyst 

for downtown. 
- Propose ideas like micro-commercial integration in residential areas and mixed-use zoning to 

reduce traffic 

Next Steps and Wrap Up 
The next steps for the second phase of stakeholder engagement include: 

- The Economic Development Workgroup will hold three 60-minute virtual sessions to develop 
and propose vision themes for economic development in the Town of Zebulon. 

- Draft focus areas and key priorities within each focus area 
 
Fountainworks thanked participants for their time and energy and Shannon adjourned the meeting. 

 

239



Town of Zebulon | Economic Development Strategic Plan | April 2024        185 

Community Workgroup Meeting Summaries
Meeting 1
Welcome & Ideal Zebulon Economy in One Word
The Zebulon Economic Development Community Workgroup held its first meeting on Wednesday, 
February 7, 2024 from 9:00 AM to 10:00 AM via Zoom. The meeting was professionally facilitated by 
Julie Brenman and Drew Finley of Fountainworks, a public sector- focused consulting firm. The 
Workgroup agreed to the following ground rules for its future meetings: 
 

 Everyone participates. 
 Share the air – allow everyone the opportunity to speak and share their input. 
 Own the charts – Fountainworks will be recording notes on Mural (a virtual whiteboard tool). 

Let Fountainworks know if the notes do not accurately reflect the content of the conversation.  
 Come prepared and ready to engage.  

 
The meeting began with a round of introductions where Workgroup members were asked to articulate 
one word that describes what they want the ideal Zebulon economy to look like:  
 

 John Saffold – Executive Director, Zebulon Chamber of Commerce  
o One Word: Potential 

 Saffold added that Zebulon will not be underdeveloped.  
 Hunter Rascoe – Vice President, Design Dimensions 

o One Word: Strategic 
 Rascoe added that growth is inevitable and the Town needs to be strategic 

about how it develops.  
 Anthony Pirrello – Executive Director, East Wake Academy 

o One Word: Well-developed 
 Pirrello added that the economy must meet the needs of the people who live 

there and promote positive change in the community.  
 Shannon Johnson – Economic Development Specialist, Town of Zebulon  

o One Word: Robust 
 
Two Workgroup members were unable to attend, but the meeting was recorded and sent to those 
unable to attend this meeting.  
 

Workgroup members reviewed the work that has been completed so far on the Town’s Economic 
Development Strategy Plan since the project’s inception last summer: 

 An Environmental Assessment was completed in the late Summer/early Fall of 2023.  
 In the Fall of 2023, the Town conducted a community survey that received over 100 responses. 

The Town also held three community cafes, which were attended by 87 people. Fountainworks 
reviewed, analyzed, and presented the findings from these data sources to Town staff.  

240



Town of Zebulon | Economic Development Strategic Plan | April 2024       186

In December 2023, a design thinking retreat was held with Town staff and economic 
development partners. 
Now, the Town has convened this Workgroup, which will meet three times over the next six 
weeks.

The graphic below displays the overall project timeline: 

Next, the Workgroup reviewed their gameplan for the three meetings:
February 7 Meeting: 

o The Workgroup will develop a shared understanding of the feedback and input 
received so far.

o The Workgroup will set expectations for its meetings moving forward.
o The Workgroup will begin developing themes based on the work completed so far.

February 21 Meeting: 
o Between meetings, Fountainworks will synthesize the conversation. 
o Fountainworks will come to this meeting with proposed focus areas.
o The Workgroup will conduct visioning for Zebulon’s economy.

March 6 Meeting: 
o The Workgroup will draft priorities under each focus area.

241



Town of Zebulon | Economic Development Strategic Plan | April 2024        187 

Community Voices: Shaping 
Next, the Workgroup reviewed findings from the Environmental Assessment, Community Survey, and 
Community Cafes and responded to the questions below.  

 Were there surprises, or did these findings align with your expectations? 
o The findings aligned with what we have heard and seen. 
o We need to ensure that there is follow-up.  

 Of the information shared, what do you see as the most pressing economic 
development needs in our community? 

Infrastructure 
o The design of infrastructure is where it all starts. The most common feedback that we 

receive is that traffic is a problem and will only become worse.  
o A train to Raleigh and back would be ideal to provide mass transit.  
o A bypass for Arendell would be ideal as well. 
Downtown 
o The design of downtown for living and walking is important. We need to preserve the 

quality of life and reasons to be in downtown.  
Growth Management  
o We need to manage expectations for development of amenities such as  restaurants 

and entertainment with the concerns about overdevelopment and gentrification.  
o There needs to be a balance – we cannot be all things to all people. 
o There is land now, but it is a limited resource.  
o We need to think regionally.  
o We do not want to be a bedroom community. 
o A place where people live, play, are educated, and work is a vibrant community 
Business Recruitment & Retention 
o We need to expand the tax base beyond the primary tax contributors (U.S. Foods, 

 
o We need to have purpose and intentionality around locating businesses. 
o  
o Community leaders need to start working together and stop jockeying for positions. 

 
 What do you perceive as Zebulon’s strengths in terms of economic development? 

Partnership Opportunities 
o Wake Technical Community College (Wake Tech) is an asset for job force training. 
o We can leverage the complementary businesses to what we already have here. 
o The stronger working relationship between the Chamber of Commerce and the Town 

is an asset. 
o We should tap into the strengths of existing organizations. 
o We need to leverage the Chamber of Commerce as a resource. 
Five County Stadium  
o The Five County Stadium is an asset that can be redeveloped with the departure of the 

Mudcats. Redevelopment could take the form of an entertainment district. The 
stadium has great highway access and serves as a central convergence point.  

o The Five County Stadium is a gateway that serves eastern North Carolina and connects 
directly with the Triangle. 

Town Size & Location 
o Zebulon's size is an asset. We are not too big, but we are not too small. 

242



Town of Zebulon | Economic Development Strategic Plan | April 2024        188 

o Zebulon’s unique location is an asset. 
o We need to recruit industry and consider the suppliers needed to support those 

industries.  
 How can we leverage your expertise to add depth to the existing information? Were 

there any themes you saw that you would like to expand upon? 
o We can educate community members on the types of jobs that are here. Some people 

are not aware of the various jobs that are available to them.  
o We can leverage various organizations to work together.  

 
The Workgroup then offered their thoughts on what the identity of Zebulon’s economy might look 
like. They reiterated that Zebulon cannot be all things to all people and needs to commit to being one 
type of community. They noted that the regional approach seems promising and there is a potential 
for marketing efforts to support that approach. The Workgroup reaffirmed that they do not want 
Zebulon to just be a bedroom community. They also stated that they want Zebulon to be an affordable 
(but not cheap) place to live. The desire to be all things to all people has contributed to traffic 
problems, and a task force could potentially be formed to analyze this issue.  
 
Next Steps
Fountainworks reminded the Workgroup that their ideas will be synthesized and proposed focus 
areas will be shared in preparation for the next meeting. Workgroup members were also tasked with 
a short assignment. Fountainworks encouraged them to ask the following question when they are out 
in the community: What is the identity you want to see for Zebulon's economy? 

The meeting then adjourned. The next meeting will be held on February 21.   

Meeting 2
Welcome, Recap, & the Road Ahead 
The Zebulon Economic Development Community Workgroup held its second meeting on Wednesday, 
February 21, 2024 from 9:00 AM to 10:00 AM via Zoom. The meeting was professionally facilitated by 
Julie Brenman and Drew Finley of Fountainworks, a public sector-focused consulting firm. The 
Workgroup is comprised of five members, one of whom was unable to attend. Shannon Johnson is 
the Town’s representative on the Workgroup.  
The meeting began with a brief review of the one word that Workgroup members articulated that 
describes what they want the ideal Zebulon economy to look like.  

 John Saffold – Executive Director, Zebulon Chamber of Commerce  
o One Word: Potential 

 Saffold added that Zebulon will not be underdeveloped.  
 Anthony Pirrello – Executive Director, East Wake Academy 

o One Word: Well-developed 
 Pirrello added that the economy must meet the needs of the people who live 

there and promote positive change in the community. 
 Jennifer Williams – Board Chair, Zebulon Chamber of Commerce 

o One Word: Boastful 
 Brian Bullock – Local Developer 

o One Word: Deliberate/Intentional 

243



Town of Zebulon | Economic Development Strategic Plan | April 2024       189

Bullock noted that follow-up and follow-through are key. 
Hunter Rascoe – Vice President, Design Dimensions

o One Word: Strategic
Rascoe added that growth is inevitable and the Town needs to be strategic 
about how it develops. 

Shannon Johnson – Economic Development Specialist, Town of Zebulon
o One Word: Robust

The Workgroup then reviewed the work they have accomplished so far and looked ahead to the 
work that will be completed over the next several weeks:

Workgroup members also briefly acknowledged how their work fits into the bigger picture of the 
ongoing work that has taken place to develop Zebulon’s Economic Development Strategy Plan:

244



Town of Zebulon | Economic Development Strategic Plan | April 2024       190

Review of Proposed Focus Areas 
The Workgroup’s major agenda item was a review and discussion of the proposed focus areas that 
Fountainworks prepared for the Economic Development Strategy Plan. Fountainworks synthesized 
the insights from the Workgroup’s first meeting and developed five proposed focus areas for the plan 
based on the Workgroup's direction. These five proposed focus areas, along with a brief description 
for each, are included below: 

Economic Readiness – This focus area affirms that the Town’s infrastructure will be well-
suited to accommodate the anticipated growth that is expected to occur in and around 
Zebulon and establishes that this growth will be smart and focused on prudent land use and 
avoiding overdevelopment.

Infrastructure
o Continue efforts to address and alleviate traffic congestion 
o Advocate for transportation improvements such as highway bypasses and mass 

transit options like passenger rail service 
o Maintain a viable water and sewer utility system and extend utility service to growth 

areas 
Smart Growth
o Develop the Town’s land in a prudent manner that acknowledges land as a limited 

resource
o Avoid overdevelopment and the temptation for Zebulon to be all things to all people 

Support for Businesses – This focus area is about Zebulon’s commitment to supporting 
businesses of all types and sizes (new and existing businesses, large industries, and small 
businesses) through fostering entrepreneurship, streamlining processes, and enhancing 
business recruitment and retention efforts. 

245



Town of Zebulon | Economic Development Strategic Plan | April 2024        191 

Foster Entrepreneurship  
o Support entrepreneurial initiatives through partnerships with community 

stakeholders such as the Innovation and Entrepreneurship Program at North Carolina 
State University 

       Streamline Processes 
o Create a business-friendly environment by streamlining processes such as 

development plan review  
Business Recruitment & Retention 
o Adopt a regional approach to business recruitment and retention by tapping into the 

strengths of existing organizations 
o Expand the Town’s tax base beyond the Town’s primary tax contributors 
o Bring community leaders together to develop a purposeful and intentional strategy 

for locating businesses 
 

 Key Economic Growth Districts – This focus area highlights two specific districts in Zebulon 
that are ripe for economic investment: Downtown and the Five County Stadium. 

Downtown Zebulon 
o Preserve and enhance the quality of life and reasons to be in Zebulon’s downtown 
Five County Stadium 
o Pursue redevelopment efforts for the Five County Stadium such as an entertainment 

district 
o Leverage the Five County Stadium’s location as a central convergence point that serves 

Eastern North Carolina and connects directly to the Triangle region 
 Inclusive Economy – This focus area is about cultivating an inclusive economy that provides 

access to high-quality jobs and amenities while mitigating risks of displacement and 
gentrification. 

         Access to High-Quality Jobs & Amenities  
o Support workforce development in and around Zebulon by ensuring access to well-

paying and high-quality jobs with expanded career opportunities  
o Provide access to high-quality amenities such as shopping and entertainment 
o Recognize that Zebulon cannot be all things to all people and that some community 

assets may not need to be located within the Town itself  
        Mitigating Displacement & Gentrification 

o Adopt strategies that actively work to ensure that longtime residents are not displaced 
or priced out of Zebulon 

 
 Leverage Regional Assets – This focus area puts forth a commitment to leveraging regional 

assets that exist in Zebulon’s economy and acknowledges that the Town cannot be all things 
to all people.  
Wake Technical Community College (Wake Tech) 

o Maintain and strengthen partnerships with Wake Tech  
Neighboring Communities  

o Collaborate with Wake County and neighboring communities to attract amenities and 
ensure regional access   

246



Town of Zebulon | Economic Development Strategic Plan | April 2024       192

State Economic Development Support 
o Utilize economic development support from the State of North Carolina to promote 

regional economic growth 
The image below depicts the graphic recording of the Workgroup’s conversation:

The Workgroup discussed each focus area one by one and added more detail to further shape the 
focus areas. Below are the details the Workgroup added to the proposed focus areas, which is the 
same content shown in the image above:
Economic Readiness

The roads are congested, so the Town needs to ensure that it continues to work on alleviating 
traffic congestion to accommodate anticipated future growth.

Support for Businesses
One Workgroup member noted that Zebulon is one of the few municipalities in the area that 
has not performed a Launch program. Other programs in the region such as 
and can serve as potential exemplars for Zebulon to consider. 

Key Economic Growth Districts
The question that needs to be considered is as follows: what assets in the region do we not 
have that would make Zebulon more successful?

247



Town of Zebulon | Economic Development Strategic Plan | April 2024        193 

 There are a lot of opportunities for the industrial park where Nomaco and East Wake Academy 
are located. 

 The Town should continue to mitigate traffic to make downtown more walkable. 
o A small community built around downtown could help to alleviate traffic.  
o Zebulon should work to create “pods of walkability” similar to those that exist in Wake 

Forest. 
 A partnership of some kind may be an effective growth strategy. 

Inclusive Economy  
  

o There needs to be sufficient affordable housing and workforce housing in Zebulon. 
o There are not as many executive homes for folks to move into once they are able to 

afford them. People are staying in middle-tier and lower-tier homes.  
o variety is important. The Town needs to a better job of recruiting balanced 

residential development. 
o accessibility is important as well. Zebulon needs to have a sufficient number 

of apartments and starter homes. 

Leverage Regional Assets 
 Zebulon residents may need to venture into neighboring communities for certain amenities 

such as big box stores and large retailers. 
 We cannot make everyone happy. We want growth, but we also want to retain our small-town 

atmosphere. 
 We need to assess what is around us and make sure that what we offer is attractive and 

sustainable.  

Visioning: The Identity of Zebulon’s Economy   
The workgroup then conducted a short visioning exercise. This exercise focused on the following 
question: 

What is the identity you want to see for Zebulon’s economy? 
 

248



Town of Zebulon | Economic Development Strategic Plan | April 2024       194

The image below displays the highlights from this segment:

The content from the image above is displayed below. Fountainworks grouped this content into 
three themes:
Future Zebulon Economy

Zebulon is part of a regional economy. 
Zebulon has a small town feel with a big town economy.
Zebulon should use its location as a central convergence point to its advantage.

Developing the Identity of Zebulon’s Economy
Zebulon should leverage its history and agrarian roots. 
Zebulon needs a commitment from developers to help drive what the Town will become. 
Community leaders need to think about the following question: when developers ask who 
we are, what do we say?

The Identity of Zebulon’s Economy in Practice
Zebulon needs more restaurant options and more events in downtown.
Zebulon needs affordable housing, but not just affordable housing. Zebulon also needs 
executive housing and a balanced mix of high-quality housing options. 

Workgroup members noted that stratifying existing data may help them better understand the 
viewpoints of various demographic groups. New data that builds on the findings gathered from the 
community cafés would also be beneficial. 

249



Town of Zebulon | Economic Development Strategic Plan | April 2024        195 

Next Steps & Wrap Up 
To conclude the meeting, the Workgroup reviewed next steps: 

 The Workgroup’s final meeting will be held on March 6. 
 Fountainworks will send a summary of this meeting – Done 
 Fountainworks will create an initial draft of the vision for Zebulon’s economy, which the 

Workgroup will review at its final meeting. 
 Fountainworks will draft priorities under each focus areas for the Workgroup to review at its 

final meeting.  

The meeting then adjourned.  
 
 

Meeting 3
Welcome & Recap
The Zebulon Economic Development Community Workgroup held its third and final meeting on 
Wednesday, March 6, 2024 from 9:00 AM to 10:00 AM via Zoom. The meeting was professionally 
facilitated by Julie Brenman and Drew Finley of Fountainworks, a public sector-focused consulting 
firm. The Workgroup is comprised of five members, one of whom was unable to attend. Shannon 
Johnson is the Town’s representative on the Workgroup.  

The meeting began with a recap of the Workgroup’s focus question: 

What is the identity you want to see for Zebulon’s economy? 

Visioning for Zebulon’s Economy 
The Workgroup then reviewed two proposed vision statements. After discussion, Workgroup 
members settled on their preferred vision statement, which is shown below: 

Zebulon will foster an inclusive, vibrant, diverse, and sustainable economy. Zebulon will be a 
regional player that prioritizes intentional and responsible growth while retaining the Town's unique 

charm and character. 

One version of the vision statement included the word “smart” when referring to growth. The 
Workgroup decided to replace “smart” with “intentional” in an effort to make the vision clearer to the 
public. The term “smart growth” has a specific meaning in the city planning profession that members 
of the general public may not necessarily recognize. 
Workgroup members offered two additional thoughts when discussing the vision: 

 One Workgroup member noted that now is the time for Zebulon to grow in a way that works 
for the next thirty years, and not just the next thirty days. 

 The same Workgroup member noted that including affordable housing within the 
components of the vision makes sense, but that Zebulon already has a good amount of 
affordable housing stock right now.  

Another Workgroup member asked about how the vision statement fits into the overall plan 
development process. Fountainworks noted that the vision statement is aspirational and describes a 
desired future state of affairs. The vision statement is part of the Economic Development Strategy 

250



Town of Zebulon | Economic Development Strategic Plan | April 2024       196

Plan itself, which will ultimately be presented to the Town Board of Commissioners and available on 
the Town’s website. Town staff will hold a retreat in April and work with Fountainworks to refine the 
plan. A community storyboard will also be created as an outreach tool that will inform the public about 
the plan and its purpose. The plan will include an implementation component that will outline an 
annual reporting process to keep the public informed of the plan’s progress. 
Shannon Johnson then added some additional detail from the Town’s perspective. She stated that the 
vision statement guides the activities in the plan and helps staff prioritize. If an activity does not align 
with the vision statement, then it will not be prioritized. This approach allows Town staff to 
appropriately allocate time and resources towards economic development efforts. 

Review Proposed Priorities for Each Focus Area
The Workgroup then reviewed proposed priorities for each of the five focus areas of the plan: 

Priorities are included for each focus area. The descriptions below outline each priority for each focus 
area along with the Workgroup’s reflections on these priorities:
Leverage Regional Assets

Collaborate with neighboring communities
o One Workgroup member noted that political elements factor into this effort.

Maintain and strengthen partnerships with Wake Tech

Inclusive Economy
Ensure a balanced mix of residential development across all price points

251



Town of Zebulon | Economic Development Strategic Plan | April 2024        197 

 Pursue strategies to mitigate displacement and gentrification  
o One Workgroup member asked for clarity on what this priority aims to achieve. 

Fountainworks noted that mitigating displacement and gentrification is about making 
sure that everyone benefits from economic growth and the changes that occur as a 
result of it. 

o Another Workgroup member added that this priority focuses on economic 

has created vibrant and rich communities that are diverse (not solely in the racial 
sense of the word). Looking back to look forward is sometimes necessary.  

o Shannon Johnson observed that mitigating displacement and gentrification is about 
ensuring that all residents remain part of the Town’s growth and are not pushed away 
from it. The best practices review that took place as part of developing the plan will 
help the Town learn from communities that have managed growth well and 
maintained an enduring focus on equity.  
 

Key Economic Growth Districts  
 Pursue efforts to redevelop the Five County Stadium 

o A Workgroup member noted that Shannon and the Town’s economic development 
staff need to be able to actively recruit and pursue industries and not simply wait for 
those industries to come to them. 

o Another member echoed this point and said that more industries in Zebulon would 
definitely be ideal. 

o One Workgroup member noted that this process requires a delicate and intentional 
approach.  

 Enhance walkability and connectivity, particularly in Downtown Zebulon 
 The workgroup asked staff to consider addressing and growing industrial areas as another activity. 

 
Support for Businesses 

 Establish a Zebulon Launch program. 
o One Workgroup member noted that Launch programs are about supporting local 

entrepreneurs and informed the Workgroup that he has a meeting with Shannon 
Johnson this afternoon to discuss this effort.  

o The same Workgroup member noted that it is important for local businesses to 
engage with and respond to surveys they receive. 

 Expand the Town’s tax base beyond the primary tax contributors 
 Simplify and streamline interactions with Town staff 

Economic Readiness 
 Alleviate traffic congestion 

o 

the Executive Board of the Capital Area Metropolitan Planning Organization (CAMPO). 
-transit survey that is focusing on seniors, 

low-i

252



Town of Zebulon | Economic Development Strategic Plan | April 2024        198 

that provides door-to-door shared ride transportation services, received 13,000 points 
of contact and that 7,000 of those were from Zebulon residents. 

o 

as a type of transportation service that supplements fixed-route mass transit by 

partnerships can often come into play with paratransit initiatives and that it is 
important to make sure that the vulnerable voices in the community are heard.  

 Maintain and extend water and sewer systems to ensure sites are ready to receive businesses 
o One Workgroup member emphasized that identifying key parcels is an important 

element of this process. The Town should ensure that its planning and zoning 
processes coincide with efforts to extend utilities.  

Next Steps  

The meeting concluded with a brief review of next steps: 
 Fountainworks will send a summary of this meeting – Done 
 Fountainworks will use the insights gleaned from the three Workgroup sessions to help shape 

the Economic Development Strategy Plan.  
 Fountainworks will work with Town staff to refine and finalize the plan over the next several 

months. 

The meeting then adjourned.  
 

253



254



255



256



257



258



259



260



261



262



263



264



265



266



267



268



269



270



271



272



273



274



275



276



277



278



279



280



281



282



283



284



285



286



287



288



289



290



291



292



293



294



295



296



297



298



299



300



301



302



303



304



305



306



307



308



309



310



311



312



313



314



315



316



317



318



319



320



321



322



323



324



325



326



327



328



329



330



331



332



333



334



335



336



337



338



339



340



341



342



343



344



345



346



347



348



349



350



351



352



353



354



355



356



357



358



359



360



361



362



363



364



365



366



367



368



369



370



371



372



373



374



375



376



377



378



379



380



381



382



383



384



385



386



387



388



389



390



391



392



393



394



395



396



397



398



399



400



401



402



403



404



405



406



407



408



409



410



411



412



413



414



415



416



417



418



419



420



421



422



423



424



425



426



427



428



429



430



431



432



433



434



435



436



437



438



439



440



441



442








